

TUM School of Life Sciences

Phytohormone Crosstalk via Legume Lectin like-Proteins Regulates Systemic Acquired Resistance and Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Jennifer Horatia Sales

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Life Sciences der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades einer

Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Corinna Dawid

Prüfender der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Jörg Durner
- 2. Prof. Dr. Brigitte Poppenberger-Sieberer

Die Dissertation wurde am 10.03.2021 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Life Sciences am 11.09.2021 angenommen.

Publications related to this thesis

Vlot, A.C., Sales, J.H., Lenk, M., Bauer, K., Brambilla, A., Sommer, A., Chen, Y., Wenig, M. and Nayem, S. (2020), Systemic propagation of immunity in plants. New Phytol. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16953

Wenig, M., Ghirardo, A., Sales, J.H., Pabst, E., Breitenbach, H.H., Antritter, F., Weber, B., Lange, B., Lenk, M., Cameron, R.K., Schnitzler, J.P., Vlot, A.C. Systemic acquired resistance networks amplify airborne defense cues. *Nat Commun* 10, 3813 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11798-2

Sales, J.H., Pabst, E., Wenig, M., Breitenbach, H.H., Perez, G., Knappe, C., Hammerl, R., Liu, J., Rozhon, W., Poppenberger, B., Grill, E., Dawid, C., Vlot, A.C. Local jasmonic acid cues drive systemic acquired resistance signal generation. Manuscript in preparation.

Contents

Publications related to this thesis II
SummaryVI
ZusammenfassungVII
AbbreviationsIX
List of Tables and FiguresXII
TablesXII
FiguresXII
1. Introduction 1 -
1.1 Biotrophic vs necrotrophic defence 1 -
1.1.1 PTI and ETI 5 -
1.1.2 Salicylic Acid in defence 7 -
1.1.3 EDS1 10 -
1.1.4 Jasmonic acid in defence 11 -
1.2 Systemic Acquired Resistance 13 -
1.2.1 SA-dependent SAR 14 -
1.2.2 SA-independent SAR 15 -
1.2.3 Interactions between SA and Pip pathways
1.2.4 What is the mobile SAR signal? 19 -
1.3 Lectins in Plant Defence 20 -
1.3.1 Legume Lectin-Like Proteins 23 -
1.4 Phytohormone crosstalk 25 -
1.4.1 ABA defence signalling 26 -
1.4.2 ABA-SA crosstalk 26 -
1.4.3 SA-JA crosstalk 28 -
1.4.4 SA-JA crosstalk in SAR 30 -
1.5 Aims of this work 31 -
2. Materials and Methods 34 -
2.1 Materials 34 -
2.1.1 Plant materials 34 -
2.1.2 Microorganisms and culture conditions
2.1.3 Chemicals, Solutions and Media 35 -

Phytohormone crosstalk via legume lectin like-proteins regulates systemic acquired resistance and abiotic stress tolerance

	2.1.4 Molecular Biology materials 37 -
	2.1.5 Other materials 38 -
	2.2 Methods 40 -
	2.2.1 Plant growth conditions 40 ·
	2.2.2 Seed sterilisation 40 ·
	2.2.3 Microbial culture conditions 40 ·
	2.2.4 Local bacterial growth assay 41 ·
	2.2.5 SAR assay 41 ·
	2.2.6 Bacterial quantification from leaf tissue
	2.2.9 Phytohormone treatments 44 ·
	2.2.10 Phytohormone content measurement
	2.2.11 Root growth assay 45
	2.2.11 Salt pouring assay 46
	2.2.12 Gene expression analysis 46
	2.2.13 Complementation line generation 47
	2.2.14 Statistics 49 ·
3	3. Results 50 ·
	3.1 The role of EDS1 and LLP1-3 in SA-mediated immunity and local defence- 50
	3.2 Generation of <i>LLP3:LLP3</i> complementation lines in the <i>llp3</i> mutant background
	- 52 ·
	3.3 The role of LLP1-3 in systemic immunity 55
	3.4 Involvement of LLP1-3 in the SA-independent SAR pathway 56
	3.5 LLP1-3 influence responses to abiotic stress
	3.5.1 Transcript response to ABA 57
	3.5.2 LLP1-3 response to salt stress 59 ·
	3.5.3 LLP3 during abiotic stress 61 ·
	3.5.4 Salt-associated growth inhibition was not due to either osmotic stress, ior toxicity, or auxin signalling 62
	3.5.5 LLP1-3 under salt stress in mature plants
	3.5.6 LLP1-3 response to exogenous ABA treatment
	3.6 LLP3 responds to MeJA, and may be involved in JA-mediated abiotic defence responses
	3.6.1 Root growth in response to exogenous JA

Phytohormone crosstalk via legume lectin like-proteins regulates systemic acquired resistance and abiotic stress tolerance

3.6.2 Proteins associated with LLP1 in other pathways are not required for NaC tolerance
3.6.3 Phytohormone content of transgenic lines under abiotic stress 73 -
3.7 Crosstalk between JA and SA signalling pathways is misregulated in RNAi:LLP1- 3 plants
3.7.1 MeJA can induce systemic resistance in the absence of LLP1 76 -
4. Discussion 77 -
4.1 The role of <i>LLP1-3</i> in biotrophic defence
4.2 LLPs and abiotic stress 81 -
4.3 Jasmonates in SAR 87 -
4.4 The possible involvement of LLP3 and WRKY33
4.5 Conclusion 94 -
5. Outlook 96 -
References 100 -
Acknowledgements 120 -
Anhang I 120 -
Eidesstattliche Erklärung 120 -

Summary

In order to maximise resource management in the face of abiotic stresses and emerging diseases, we must consider the interplay between different stress responses, and thus different phytohormone signalling pathways. The phytohormones salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA) promote two, mutually antagonistic immune pathways respectively protecting plants from biotrophic pathogens and necrotrophic pathogens or insects. This trade-off largely precludes the exploitation of SA and JA immune components for crop protection, raising the interest in immune signalling components that disrupt SA-JA antagonism. A local pathogen infection primes SA-dependent immunity in systemic tissues. This so-called systemic acquired resistance (SAR) ensures a long-lasting, broad-spectrum disease resistance that is not subject to SA-JA antagonism.

Legume Lectin-like Proteins (LLP1) 1, 2 and 3 are membrane-localised proteins with a predicted carbohydrate-binding domain found in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Here, the knockout mutants *llp1-1* and *llp3*, and the triple silencing line *RNAi:LLP1-3* were used to investigate the role of LLPs in different stress responses. *LLP1* is responsive to SA, whereas *LLP3* is responsive to methyl jasmonate (MeJA). Although neither affect local defence, both are required individually for normal SAR signalling. Additionally, when all three LLPs are lost then systemic susceptibility is observed. The LLPs are also required for normal responses to high salinity in both seedlings and mature plants. All the transgenic lines show reduced primary root growth in seedlings after salt treatment or MeJA treatment. *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants showed gene expression changes only in the branch of JA associated with the transcription factor ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR 1 (ERF1), and not MYC2. *llp3* phenotypes could be complemented by the expression of transgenic *LLP3* under its native promoter.

Here, I show that two sequence-related LLPs promote SAR through spatially separated functions with JA promoting local SAR signal generation through LLP3. In concert with LLP1, which is important for systemic recognition and propagation of SAR signals, LLP3 promotes both SA-dependent SAR and JA-mediated immunity. Thus, exploitation of LLP-associated signalling cues might allow application of plant innate immune signals to promote plant health.

Zusammenfassung

Angesichts des abiotischen Stresses und neu auftretender Pflanzenkrankheiten müssen wir für vollumfängliche Pflanzenschutzstrategien das Zusammenspiel zwischen verschiedenen Stressreaktionen und damit verschiedene Phytohormon-Signalwege berücksichtigen. Die Phytohormone Salicylsäure (SA) und Jasmonsäure (JA) aktivieren zwei zueinander antagonistische Immunstoffwechselwege, die Pflanzen jeweils vor biotrophen Pathogenen auf der einen Seite oder nekrotrophen Pathogenen und Insekten auf der anderen Seite schützen. Dieser Konflikt schließt die Nutzung von SA- und JA-abhängigen Immunsystem-Bestandteilen für den Pflanzenschutz weitgehend aus, was das Interesse an Verbindungen im Immunstoffwechsel erhöht, die den SA-JA-Antagonismus aufheben. Eine lokale Infektion mit einem Krankheitserreger führt zu einer SA-abhängigen Immunität in systemischen Geweben. Diese so genannte systemisch erworbene Resistenz (Systemic Acquired Resistance, SAR) gewährleistet eine lang anhaltende, breit gefächerte Krankheitsresistenz, die nicht dem SA-JA-Antagonismus unterliegt.

Die Legume Lectin-like Proteins (LLP) 1, 2 und 3 sind membranständige Proteine mit einer vorhergesagten Kohlenhydrat-bindenden Domäne, die in *Arabidopsis thaliana* vorkommen. Hier wurden die Knockout-Mutanten *llp1-1* und *llp3* sowie die Dreifach-Silencing-Linie *RNAi:LLP1-3* verwendet, um die Rolle der LLPs bei verschiedenen Stressreaktionen zu untersuchen. *LLP1* spricht auf SA an, während *LLP3* auf Methyljasmonat (MeJA) reagiert. Obwohl weder LLP1 noch LLP3 die lokale Abwehr beeinflussen, sind beide einzeln betrachtet für die normale SAR-Signalübertragung erforderlich. Zusätzlich wird bei Verlust aller drei LLPs eine systemische Empfindlichkeit beobachtet. Darüber hinaus werden die LLPs für eine normale Reaktion auf hohe Salzkonzentrationen sowohl in Keimlingen als auch in erwachsenen Pflanzen benötigt. *llp1-1-*, *llp3-* und *RNAi:LLP1-3-*Keimlinge zeigen nach Salz- oder MeJA-Behandlung ein reduziertes Hauptwurzelwachstum. *RNAi:LLP1-3-*Pflanzen zeigen weiterhin eine Fehlregulation des ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR1 (*ERF1*), nicht aber des MYC2, was darauf hindeutet, dass die Reaktion von nur einem Zweig der JA-Signalübertragung abhängig ist. Durch die Expression von transgenem *LLP3*

VII

unter seinem nativen Promotor konnten die phänotypischen Defekte der *llp3*-Mutante komplementiert werden.

In dieser Arbeit wird gezeigt, dass zwei sequenzverwandte LLPs SAR durch räumlich getrennte Funktionen fördern, wobei JA die lokale SAR-Signalerzeugung durch LLP3 fördert. Zusammen mit LLP1, das für die systemische Erkennung und Übertragung von SAR-Signalen wichtig ist, fördert LLP3 sowohl SA-abhängiges SAR als auch eine JA-vermittelte Immunität. Daher könnte die Nutzung von LLP-assoziierten Signalen die Anwendung von pflanzeneigenen Immunsignalen zur Förderung der Pflanzengesundheit ermöglichen.

Abbreviations

As well as SI units, metric prefixes, and the abbreviations for nucleotides, the following abbreviations were used in this work:

Pst	Pseudomonas syringae pathovar Tomato		
ABA	Abscisic Acid		
ABF	ABA Response Factor		
ALD1	AGD2-like Defence Response protein 1		
AzA	Azelaic Acid		
AZI1	Azelaic acid induced 1		
bHLH	Basic Helix-loop-helix		
ВТН	Benzothiadiazole		
САМТА	Calmodulin-Binding Transcription Activator		
CBP60g	Calmodulin-Binding Protein 60g		
COI1	Coronatine Insensitive 1		
СРК5	Calcium-dependent Protein Kinase		
DIR1	R1 Defective in Induced Resistance 1		
EARLI1	Early Arabidopsis Aluminium Induced 1		
EDS1	Enhanced Disease Susceptibility		
EIN3	Ethylene Induced 3		
ERF1	Ethylene Response Factor 1		
ETI	Effector-Triggered Immunity		
ETS	Effector-Triggered Susceptibility		
FMO1	Flavin-dependent Monooxygenase 1		
G3P	Glycerol 3 Phosphate		
GGPPS12	GPPS12 Geranyl Geranyl Diphosphate Synthase 1		
HR	R Hypersensitive response		
ΙΑΑ	Indole-3-Acetic Acid		
ICS1	Isochorismate Synthase 1		
ISR	Induced Systemic Resistance		
JA	Jasmonic Acid		

JA-Isoleucine			
Jasmonate Zim Domain			
Legume Lectin-like Protein			
Mediator 25			
Methyl Jasmonate			
Methyl Salicylate			
Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase			
N-Hydroxypipecolic acid			
Nucleotide Binding Leucine-rich Repeat			
Nitric Oxide			
O-glycosylated N-Hydroxypipecolic acid			
Non-expressor of Pathogenesis Related genes 1			
Nudix Hydrolase 7			
Octadecanoid-Responsive Arabidopsis 59			
Pathogen/Microbe/Damage Asscoiated Molecular Pattern			
Protein Arginine Deiminase 4			
Plant Defensin 1.2			
Plamodesmata-Localising Protein			
Pipecolic Acid			
Protein Phosphatase 2C			
Pathogenesis-Related			
Pattern Recognition Recpetor			
PAMP-Triggered Immunity			
Respiratory Burst Oxidase Homologue protein D			
Receptor-like Kinase			
Receptor-Like Protein			
RNA interference			
Reactive Oxygen Species			
Salicylic Acid			
SA 2-O-β-d-glucose			
SA Methyl Transferase			

Phytohormone crosstalk via legume lectin like-proteins regulates systemic acquired resistance and abiotic stress tolerance

SAR Deficient 4	
SA Glucose Ester	
SNF-Related Kinase	
TIR-Like NLR	
Terpene Synthase 24	
C Volatile Organic Compound	
Vegetative Storage Protein 2	

List of Tables and Figures

Tables

Table 1: Overview of the differences between biotrophic, hemibiotrophic and
necrotrophic pathogens 2 -
Table 2: Bacteria used in experiments
Table 3: Antibiotics used in this work 34 -
Table 4: Chemicals used in this work 35 -
Table 5: Solutions and their compositions used in this work
Table 6: Media composition used in this work - 36 -
Table 7: Kits used for transcript accumulation quantification
Table 8:Primers for genotyping 37 -
Table 9: Primers for qPCR 38 -
Table 10: Devices and Instruments - 38 -
Table 11: Software and web applications used in this work

Figures

Figure 1: The lifecycle of <i>Pst</i> 4 -
Figure 2: The zig-zag model of plant immune defence 6 -
Figure 3: An overview of signalling pathways and feedback loops involved in SAR
16 -
Figure 4: Airborne transmission of a defence signal between plants 21 -
Figure 5: The role of lectins in plant immune signalling 22 -

Phytohormone crosstalk via legume lectin like-proteins regulates systemic acquired resistance and abiotic stress tolerance

Figure 6: LLP1 is involved in a signalling feedback loop 24 -
Figure 7: Phytohormone interactions are complex and control different stress
responses 29 -
Figure 8: An Arabidopsis plant with indication towards the leaves infiltrated in a SAR
assay 42 -
Figure 9: Quantification of bacterial titres in leaves 43 -
Figure 10: The transcriptional response of LLP1-3 to exogenous SA 50 -
Figure 11: LLP1-3 do not affect bacterial growth titres in infected leaves 51 -
Figure 12: LLP3 transcript accumulation in LLP3:LLP3 complementation lines
generated in the IIp3 mutant background 54 -
Figure 13: Systemic defence responses are compromised in the absence of <i>LLP3</i>
56 -
Figure 14: AzA-induced systemic resistance is not dependent on LLP1 57 -
Figure 15: <i>LLP1-3</i> transcript accumulation after ABA treatment is <i>EDS1</i> -independent.
- 59 -
Figure 16: LLP1-3 affect root growth in response to salt stress
Figure 17: LLP3 is required for normal root growth under salt stress 62 -
Figure 18: LLP1-3 do not affect root growth in response to exogenous IAA, LiCl or
mannitol 64 -
Figure 19: Mature Arabidopsis biomass is reduced after salt pouring, but is not
affected by LLP1-3 65 -
Figure 20: ABA-associated root shortening is only affected by LLP3, not LLP1 or 2,
and does not affect ABA marker genes 67 -
Figure 21: LLP3 transcript accumulation is induced by MeJA

Figure 22: LLP1-3 are involved in root shortening in response to MeJA 69 -
Figure 23: JA-marker genes show different responses to exogenous MeJA in the
absence of LLP1-3 71 -
Figure 24: The interaction of the LLPs and root growth under salt stress or MeJA
treatment is not associated with any other components of the LLP1-dependent
monoterpene feedback loop 72 -
Figure 25: Transgenic lines show no significant difference in key phytohormone
content after treatment by salt pouring 74 -
Figure 26: SA-signalling is misregulated in the absence of LLP1-3
Figure 27: Local MeJA infiltration can induce systemic resistance in llp1-1, but not
RNAi:LLP1-3 (C3 13-1) 77 -
Figure 28: JA signalling is mediated through two key transcription factors, MYC2 and
ERF1 84 -
Figure 29: JA signalling can occur via two pathways mediated by different
transcription factors 85 -
Figure 30: An overview of previously identified points of interaction between SA and
JA pathways after induction of systemic defences by microbes 88 -
Figure 31: An overview of the function of LLPs within systemic signalling and salinity
tolerance 90 -

Introduction

1. Introduction

Food security is still one of the major challenges faced by humanity in the modern age, especially in the face of changing climates. Climate change brings in its wake changes to water supplies, soil salinity and extreme temperatures, as well as changing the geographical distribution of plant pathogens. All of these can have devastating effects on harvests, particularly amongst the poorest regions of the world. Food insecurity can bring about the tipping point for violence and instability in societies, and exacerbate the risk of political unrest and conflicts (Holleman *et al.*, 2017). Factors such as pathogens, weeds, and abiotic stress accounted for preharvest crop losses of 35% of possible biological output in 2018, which is an increase of around 3-fold from 50 years ago (Mesterházy *et al.*, 2020). This therefore presents an urgent need for understanding of crop stresses and development of novel methods for improving crop health and yields.

In order to protect themselves from stress encountered on a daily basis, plants have evolved a repertoire of defence responses. As they lack the dedicated immune cells and complex homeostatic systems that are found in animals, it has been necessary for plants to develop alternative strategies of dealing with these stressors. The exact nature of these different stress responses, and the complexity of the interaction network between them, has yet to be fully resolved. An important aspect of this is the action of phytohormones and their associated signalling pathways.

1.1 Biotrophic vs necrotrophic defence

Among the stresses faced by plants, a significant portion can be associated with disease caused by microbial pathogens. Pathogens can be differentiated from other forms of microbes that are associated with plants because they have an overall detrimental impact on the fitness and eventual reproductive success of the host, rather than a positive or neutral effect, and are further categorised based on their mode of nutrition (*Table 1*)(de Souza *et al.*, 2016). Biotrophic pathogens can be defined as organisms, primarily bacteria or fungi, that rely on access to living host tissues to acquire their nutrition (Spanu and Panstruga, 2017). This can be contrasted with necrotrophic pathogens, which induce the death of the host tissue before they

are able to utilise it for food (Lewis, 1973). In general, biotrophic pathogens initially infect cells of the epidermis, and then infiltrate deeper into the tissue via structures known as haustoria (although this is not always the case) and use these to infiltrate the living cells. Consequently, biotrophic pathogens tend to have a relatively specific host range. Necrotrophic pathogens such as *Alternaria brassicicola* and *Botrytis cinerea*, on the other hand, use various toxins to induce cells' death, and normally have a much wider host range (Mengiste, 2012). It appears that these modes of nutrition have evolved from progenitors that utilised saprotrophy, in which the microbe is able to derive its nutrition from dead plant cells without having had a causal role in their death (Martin *et al.*, 2016).

Table 1: Overview of the differences between biotrophic, hemibiotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens (Lemarié et al., 2015; Moore et al., 2020).

Feature	Biotrophs	Necrotrophs	Hemibiotrophs
Culture	Can't be grown in axenic culture	Easy to grow in axenic culture	Can be grown in axenic culture
Host Range	Narrow host range	Wide host range	Normally narrow host range
Effect on host cells	Does not normally kill host cells. Cell death occurs if host recognises pathogen and induces HR.	Kills host cells as quickly as possible.	In first stage of life cycle keeps cells alive, then switches to induction of cell death.
Mechanism of pathogenesis	Uses secretion systems to inject effectors into cells	Degrades cell wall with lytic enzymes and toxins	Uses secretion systems to inject effectors into cells, secretes limited amounts of lytic enzymes
Area of replication	Intercellular	Inter- or intracellular	Inter- then possibly intracellular, depending on the species
Associated defence signalling pathways	SA-dependent pathways via NPR1	JA- and ET- dependent pathways via ERF1	SA-dependent pathways via NPR1 or JA- and ET- dependent pathways via ERF1, depending on the pathogen species

This evolutionary path did not only stop at biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens but has also led to a range of intermediate possibilities. These are known as

hemibiotrophic pathogens, which utilise both these strategies of nutrient acquisition at different stages of their lifecycles. During the first stage, the pathogen invades and colonises the plant tissue using biotrophy to keep its nutritional source alive. Once it has reached a critical level, it switches to a necrotrophic strategy, and intentionally induces cell death. It is still debated whether in the earlier stages of colonisation hemibiotrophs can be considered to use similar virulence mechanisms to biotrophs, or if the pathogen is simply using stored energy reserves before switching to the initiation of host cell death. This problem arises initially from the original designations of "plant parasites", and how they were associated with obligate or facultative lifestyles (i.e. whether or not they could be maintained in axenic culture) (Thrower, 1966), where the delineation between the two lifestyles is relatively clear cut. However, with modern methods and when attempting to apply this to bacterial or oomycete pathogens, the designation becomes somewhat more complex. This had led to the attempt to classify pathogens by other means, such as by carbohydrateactive enzyme gene content (Hane et al., 2020). Nevertheless, for the rest of the introduction an assumption shall be made that the hemibiotrophic pathogens do indeed make a concrete switch between lifestyles in order to include previous literature around the topic, and that early-stage hemibiotrophs and biotrophs can be considered as the same.

The key pathogen studied in the following work is *Pseudomonas syringae* pathovar *tomato (Pst* or DC3000), a hemibiotroph (Cuppels, 1986). As a species, *P. syringae* causes disease in a range of economically important crops. However, each strain shows relatively high host specificity (Cardan *et al.*, 1999). *Pst* is especially useful as a model pathogen as it is able to infect and cause disease in both tomato and *Arabidopsis* (Whalen *et al.*, 1991). It infects aerial portions of the plant, such as the leaves, and favours environmental conditions including high humidity and moderate temperatures. *Pst* generally enters the plant through wounds or open stomata, and is able to spread apoplastically during the biotrophic phase of its life cycle, before switching to necrotrophy, which instigates cell death and results in necrotic lesions (Figure 1). Approximately 5% of the *Pst* genome is comprised of virulence genes (Buell *et al.*, 2003), including different secretion systems and toxins. These allow it to disrupt both PAMP-Triggered Immunity (PTI) and Effector-Triggered Immunity

Introduction



Figure 1: The lifecycle of *Pst. Pst* infects only the aboveground tissue, but as the pathogen does not survive easily on the leaf surface, it must find open stomata in order to enter the plant (a,b,c). Once in the apoplast, *Pst* reproduces while deriving nutrition from living cells (d). During that time, it may activate PTI or ETI, depending on whether the interaction with the plant is compatible. At a critical concentration, it switches to necrotrophy and causes cell death and the formation of necrotic lesions (e). Adapted from Xin and He 2013.

(ETI) (see below), although it is still unknown how this disruption is related to nutrient acquisition by the bacteria (Xin and He, 2013).

As already alluded to, both the mechanism of infection and thus the host defence responses against *Pst* may not be so well defined as was originally hoped, as new research breaks down the boundaries between the clearly defined signalling pathways and defence mechanisms against biotrophs and necrotrophs.

The traditional view of biotrophic vs necrotrophic defence is that the former relies on programmed cell death induced by SA signalling pathways while the latter encourages cell survival via Jasmonic Acid (JA) signalling in an effort to deny nutritional sources to the pathogens (see below) (Glazebrook, 2005).

Introduction

1.1.1 PTI and ETI

Plants rely on different layers of signalling during biotrophic immunity. The initial step in prompting a specific type of defence response depends upon whether the pathogen is "compatible" with the host or not. If after the host-pathogen interaction the pathogen is successful in inducing disease, then the interaction was "compatible". If the plant is able to successfully defend itself against the pathogen and ward off any deleterious effects, then the interaction was incompatible. The balance between these outcomes starts to be decided when the host recognises either a Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern (PAMP) or Microbe-Associated Molecular Pattern (MAMP), which often take the form of oligosaccharides or glycoproteins, such as the flagellin molecule found on the surface of many bacterial species (Boller and Felix, 2009). These are recognised by PAMP Recognition Receptors (PRRs) on the surface of the plant cells. PRRs tend to be either receptor-like kinases (RLKs) or receptor-like proteins (RLPs), and both are transmembrane proteins with a ligand-binding ectodomain (Boutrot and Zipfel, 2017). These receptors can be further categorised, for example by whether they have lectin domains (Singh and Zimmerli, 2013). Sometimes they also require accessory or adaptor proteins that are also found in the cell membrane (Zipfel, 2009). Activation of these receptors will generally initiate socall PAMP-Triggered Immunity, or PTI (Jones and Dangl, 2006; Zipfel, 2009; Zipfel and Robatzek, 2010). Because PAMPs are often conserved between bacterial strains, being able to recognise them provides the plant with an efficient way of protecting itself against multiple possible diseases. PTI can also be induced if the plant recognises molecules from its own cells which have been released after damage or pathogen-induced necrosis, which are known as Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns, or DAMPS (Choi and Klessig, 2016). These can take a variety of forms, including peptides, polysaccharides, and extracellular ATP. Whether the initiation of PTI comes from PAMPs, MAMPs, or DAMPs, the downstream signalling pathways are very similar, and involve processes such as defence gene upregulation, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, callose deposition, Ca²⁺influx and Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MPK)3/6 activation (Choi and Klessig, 2016). If pathogens are not able to suppress this layer of host defence, then they will not be able to cause disease.

As plant pathogens still exist, they must have found a mechanism by which to overcome the base layer of PTI. This is primarily orchestrated by the injection of effector proteins into the plant cells via type three secretion systems (Alfano and Collmer, 2004; Xin and He, 2013; Galán *et al.*, 2014). These effector proteins are then able to suppress the basal PTI response and allow the pathogens to spread within the host unnoticed, in a state known as Effector Triggered Susceptibility (ETS) (Jones and Dangl, 2006).

However, through the evolutionary arms race, plants have evolved to recognise these effector proteins even once they have made it to within the cytosol. They do this via disease resistance (R) proteins, typically intracellular nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-rich repeat proteins (NLRs), which detect the effector molecules and then induce Effector-Triggered Immunity, or ETI (Jones and Dangl, 2006). The two main types of NLRs found in plants are categorised depending on their N-terminal domain





architecture, either as coiled-coil (CC)-NLRs or as Toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain (TIR) NLRs, also known as TNLs (Zhang *et al.*, 2017*a*). TNLs induce immune responses through the regulator Enhanced Disease Susceptibility 1 (Heidrich *et al.*, 2011). The cycle of pathogen and host evolving resistance to one another continues, and results in the zig-zag model of plant innate defence (Figure 2: Jones and Dangl, 2006).

ETI is a relatively stronger immune response than PTI, and often results in a rapid, localised pattern of programmed cell death known as the hypersensitive response (HR). Because (hemi)biotrophic pathogens rely on living tissues in order to obtain their nutrition, theoretically if they are surrounded by dead cells they will no longer be able to reproduce and spread to uninfected parts of the plant, thus containing the disease (Goodman *et al.*, 1994; Van Loon, 1997).

Although they respond to different stimuli, the extent of the overlap between the cascades induced by PTI and ETI is becoming more apparent (Kadota *et al.*, 2019). Signalling components such as Ca^{2+} and MPK cascades are initiated in both responses, and both ultimately utilise outcomes such as the generation of ROS and antimicrobial compounds (Tsuda *et al.*, 2013; Yu *et al.*, 2017). The phosphorylation of RESPIRATORY BURST OXIDASE HOMOLOGUE D (RBOHD), which is required for ROS synthesis, was also identified as a point of convergence between the pathways (Kadota *et al.*, 2019). The strength and temporal output from each system is different, with ETI showing a more robust and long-lasting response, indicating that the mechanism of activation still has an important role in the final outcome (Kadota *et al.*, 2019).

1.1.2 Salicylic Acid in defence

The other key commonality between the PTI and ETI pathways is that they both strongly rely on signalling through the salicylic acid (SA) cascade (Vlot *et al.*, 2009). This pathway is also important in SAR (see below). SA is a beta hydroxy phenolic acid that is synthesised in relatively low amounts by either the isochorismate or phenylalanine ammonia-lyase pathways (Ding and Ding, 2020). Early research associating SA with biotic defence showed endogenous increases in the hormone after viral infections in tobacco and cucumber (Malamy *et al.*, 1990; Métraux *et al.*, 1990).

It was also associated with the HR lesions typically seen after ETI, indicating an important role for SA in this system (Radojičić *et al.*, 2018). However, SA levels are still heightened in mutants that do not form lesions, such as *suppressor of npr1-1*, indicating that cell death is not required to initiate SA biosynthesis, and higher SA levels alone do not initiate an HR response (Li *et al.*, 2001).

For the initiation of SA signalling, the phytohormone must not only be biosynthesised, but also recognised. The main receptor that activates SA-mediated signalling is NONEXPRESSOR OF PATHOGENESIS-RELATED GENES1 (NPR1) (Wu et al., 2012; Manohar et al., 2015). Along with TGA transcription factors it initiates defence gene expression and resistance against pathogens (Fan and Dong, 2002) and its absence leads to increased susceptibility (Delaney et al., 1995). In plants where NPR1 is overexpressed, cell death after bacterial infection is attenuated, and in the npr1-1 mutant it is enhanced (Rate and Greenberg, 2001), indicating that SA regulates cell death during the HR response through NPR1. There is also an overall increased susceptibility to pathogens in *npr1*, and a decrease in the accumulation of certain pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins, most notably PR1 and PR5 (Glazebrook et al., 1996; Cao et al., 1997). The effect on gene expression comes from the nuclear localisation of NPR1 after an increase in cellular SA levels (Kinkema et al., 2000; Maier *et al.*, 2011). Once in the nucleus, NPR1 is thought to act as a cofactor along with members of the TGA transcription factor family, forming a transcriptional complex that can bind to activation sequence-1 (as-1)-like motifs found in the promoters of PR genes (Strompen et al., 1998; Zhou et al., 2000; Després et al., 2003). However, although it orchestrates SA signalling, NPR1 also helps to finetune the output of these signals by having an additional role in negatively regulating SA biosynthesis, specifically through ISOCHORISMATE SYNTHASE1 (ICS1, also known as SID2) (Zhang et al., 2010). NPR1 can also respond to signals from jasmonate pathways so has been touted as a key signalling regulator in a broad range of biotic defence responses (Spoel et al., 2003; Dong, 2004). MeJA-induced defence in Induced Systemic Resistance (ISR) was blocked in *npr1* plants, indicating both that a jasmonate signal is required for ISR, but also NPR1 is capable of responding to more than one phytohormone, although this response may result in the initiation of more than one downstream process (Pieterse et al., 1998). However, NPR1's important functions have also made it a target for some pathogens. Necrotrophic *B. cinerea*, for example, uses an SA-mimicking exopolysaccharide to induce signalling through NPR1, and potentiate its own pathogenesis in tomato (El-Oirdi *et al.*, 2011).

The two other SA receptors, NPR3/4, although analogues of NPR1, conversely function as redundant transcriptional corepressors of SA-induced gene expression (Zhang et al., 2006; Shi et al., 2013; Ding et al., 2018). They too are able to form complexes with TGA transcription factors, but this time to repress defence gene expression (Ding et al., 2018). Gain-of-function npr4 mutants showed constitutive SA pathway repression, indicating that NPR4 acts as a bona fide SA receptor, rather than an E3 ligase that regulates the degradation of NPR1 as had previously been suggested (Fu et al., 2012). This may also account for the genetic redundancies between NPR3 and NPR4, with one being able to function in the place of the other (Kuai et al., 2015). SA can also positively support its own regulation by inhibiting transcriptional repression by NPR3/4 when it is present at high levels (Ding et al., 2018). NPR3/4 are also able to bolster downstream signalling in jasmonate cascades, both via upregulation of JA-dependent genes, as well as JA biosynthesis. This possibly occurs by NPR3/4 promoting the degradation of JASMONATE ZIM DOMAIN (JAZ) proteins (Liu et al., 2016). This may function as a mechanism to prevent the spread of necrotrophic pathogens in the dead cells left in the HR lesion.

Although NPR1 and its homologues have an undeniable role in defence, it appears that they may be dependent on temporal and spatial factors. SA levels and susceptibility to pathogens are known to fluctuate during the circadian cycle. It appears that NPR1 may have a direct influence on the regulation of clock genes including *TIMING OF CAB2 EXPRESSION 1 (TOC1)* and *LATE ELONGATED HYPOCOTYL (LHY)* (Zhou *et al.*, 2015*a*). This suggests that not only is plant immunity dependent on circadian rhythms, but *vice versa* the circadian clock is also under the influence of the plant immune status. The spatial aspect must also be taken into account, with *npr3* mutants showing increased resistance to *P. syringae* in flowers and not leaves (Shi *et al.*, 2013). These intricacies begin to hint at the complex levels of regulation that are needed for normal defence responses.

Introduction

1.1.3 EDS1

EDS1 is a nucleocytoplasmic, lipase-like protein that serves as a key regulator in SAdependent signalling (Bhandari et al., 2019). It is necessary for both normal basal resistance and TNL-mediated ETI, with most TNLs and at least one CC-NLR requiring EDS1 to propagate their signals (Parker et al., 1996; Aarts et al., 1998; Feys et al., 2001; Wiermer et al., 2005). In Arabidopsis, EDS1 functions by forming either homodimers or heterodimers with other proteins, namely phytoalexin deficient4 (PAD4) and senescence-associated gene101 (SAG101) (Feys et al., 2001, 2005; Rietz et al., 2011). These complexes are molecularly and spatially distinct, with EDS1 homodimers localised to the cytoplasm, EDS1-SAG101 heterodimers localised to the nucleus, and EDS1-PAD4 heterodimers being found in both of these compartments (García et al., 2010). The complexes also have non-redundant functions in innate immunity (Zhou et al., 1998; Rietz et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2013). The functions of EDS1 and PAD4 differ depending on whether they are dimerised or not. Both proteins are required but not in a complex for TNL-induced cell death, but direct interaction is required for basal immunity, which was also associated with induction of SA-mediated immunity (Rietz et al., 2011). The heightened SA levels then signal back into EDS1-PAD4 regulation, forming a positive feedback loop (Cui et al., 2017). The role of EDS1 in innate immunity is so strong that overexpression causes autoimmunity resulting in HR-like lesions and cell death (Cui et al., 2017). However, the EDS1-dependent signalling alone has some different downstream outputs from normal pathogen induced immunity, such as not being required for MPK3/MPK6 activation that is important in PTI and ETI.

EDS1 also has a role in SA- and NPR1-independent innate immunity, as there are greater levels of susceptibility in *eds1-2 sid2-1* double mutants compared to the individual single mutant lines (*sid2* being defective in SA biosynthesis) (Li *et al.*, 2001; Bartsch *et al.*, 2006; Cui *et al.*, 2017). Also, ETI mediated by the CC-NLRs RPM1 and RPS2, which respectively recognise the effector proteins AvrRpm1 and AvrRpt2 (Yu *et al.*, 1993; Grant *et al.*, 1995), can be induced in the absence of either EDS1 or SA (Venugopal *et al.*, 2009). This allows EDS1 to compensate for defects in SA-signalling, and involves FLAVIN DEPENDENT MONOOXYGENASE1 (FMO1) and a member of the Nudix hydrolase family NUDT7 (Bartsch *et al.*, 2006). On the other

hand, high SA accumulation can compensate for increased susceptibility in *eds1* (Clarke *et al.*, 2001). This may have occurred because of a high evolutionary pressure by pathogens on the SA-mediated response, and so allows each defence sector to protect the other (Venugopal *et al.*, 2009; Cui *et al.*, 2017). It may also be to allow SA and EDS1 to coordinate the responses within and around the HR lesion to control cell death around the infection foci, depending on which EDS1 complexes are present (Straus *et al.*, 2010).

EDS1-PAD4 complexes may present a junction not only at which biotrophic immunity is initiated, but also one at which JA pathways can inhibit them. MPK4 is able to simultaneously repress the SA sector through EDS1-PAD4 while promoting JA signalling (Petersen *et al.*, 2000). This allows increased defence against *A. brassicicola* at the expense of biotrophic immunity. Conversely, EDS1 can repress the JA-activating function of MPK4, and so presents a potentially important node in SA-JA crosstalk (see below) (Wiermer *et al.*, 2005).

1.1.4 Jasmonic acid in defence

JA is critical for defence against necrotrophic pathogens, herbivory, and some types of abiotic stress, as well as Induced Systemic Resistance (ISR). In plant defence, jasmonate signalling refers to pathways involving JA, its methyl ester (MeJA), or its isoleucine conjugate JA-Ile, which are all derivatives of a class of fatty acids (Ruan et al., 2019). Their biosynthesis can occur via three different pathways, including from a-linolenic acid and hexadecatrienoic acid (Chini et al., 2018), all of which occur in the chloroplast, peroxisome and cytoplasm. ABC transporters control the subcellular distribution of JA and JA-Ile which, as the bioactive form, requires transport into the nucleus. JA is also transported into the apoplast for intercellular signalling (Ruan et al., 2019). Under control conditions, JA signalling is held in a base state by jasmonate Zinc finger Influorescence Meristem (ZIM)-domain (JAZ) proteins, which constitutively repress the expression of JA-sensitive genes (Pauwels and Goossens, 2011). When JA-Ile binds to its receptor, CORONATINE INSENITIVE 1 (COI1), it is able to associate with the SKP1 protein and the Cullin protein to form an active SCF-type E3 ubiquitin ligase (SCF^{COI1}). This complex then promotes the degradation of the JAZ proteins, allowing the JA-induced genes to be expressed, and thus initiating the signalling cascade (Yan *et al.*, 2007; Chini *et al.*, 2007; Thines *et al.*, 2007). More recently a study suggested that actually COI1 forms a complex directly with the JAZ proteins, and transports them to the 26S proteasome for degradation (Sheard *et al.*, 2010). After the JAZ proteins have been degraded, gene expression is controlled by a number of different transcription factors, from classes including MYB, NAC and WRKY. For the purpose of this thesis, we will concentrate on two key transcription factors: MYC2 and ERF1.

MYC2 is a basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor encoded by the *JIN1* gene (Kazan and Manners, 2013). It initiates transcription by recruitment of the mediator complex via the MED25 subunit (Chen *et al.*, 2012). As well as activating downstream JA signalling, it also upregulates transcription of *JAZ* genes, and thus negatively feedbacks upon MYC2 signalling, allowing for a greater level of finetuning under stress (Chini *et al.*, 2007; Liu *et al.*, 2019). Downstream MYC2 signalling acts to promote defence against herbivory while repressing necrotrophic immunity (Zhai *et al.*, 2013). This response is characterised by upregulation of VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 2 (VSP2) and down regulation of PLANT DEFENSIN 1.2 (PDF1.2) (Lorenzo *et al.*, 2004). MYC2 may also be positively involved in ISR, as it is required for systemic responses against *Pst* after a root treatment with *P. fluorescens* (Pozo *et al.*, 2008). These multiple outcomes highlight the sensitivity needed in decoding MYC2 downstream responses, depending on its interaction partners.

ERF1 (ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR 1) is induced by JA signalling via ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE 3 (EIN3), and is associated with another ERF protein, OCTADECANOID -RESPONSIVE ARABIDOPSIS 59 (ORA59) (He *et al.*, 2017). Overexpression is associated with increased necrotrophic defence against pathogens such as *B. cinerea* and upregulation of the marker gene *PDF1.2* (Berrocal-Lobo *et al.*, 2002). JA biosynthesis is increased after infection with *A. brassicicola*, but this has not yet been explicitly linked to ERF1 signalling (Van Wees *et al.*, 2003; Antico *et al.*, 2012). The ERF1 and MYC2 signalling pathways are mutually antagonistic, with stronger necrotrophic defence against *A. brassicicola* in the *myc2* mutant (Song *et al.*, 2014; Howe *et al.*, 2018).

JA is involved in tolerance against a wide range of abiotic stresses, including high salinity (Golldack et al., 2014; Qiu et al., 2014; Kazan, 2015; Riemann et al., 2015). Treatment with NaCl induces both JA biosynthetic genes and the activation of JA signalling in a MYC2-dependent, abscisic acid (ABA)-independent manner (Jiang and Deyholos, 2006; Valenzuela et al., 2016). Depending on the plant species and circumstances, JA can have either a positive or negative effect on salt tolerance. It was recently shown that the MYC2 branch of JA signalling negatively affects salt tolerance via a repressive role in proline biosynthesis. In that instance MYC2 is activated by the MPK3/MPK6 cascade, and can then feedback upon itself (Verma et al., 2020). Salt stress also causes an upregulation of JAZ genes in Arabidopsis roots in a COI1-dependent manner. This leads to changes in differentiation of meristematic cells and results in an inhibition of root cell elongation (Valenzuela et al., 2016). Thus, the MYC2 branch of JA signalling positively regulates root shortening in response to high salinity. When considering drought tolerance, JA/MYC2 have a lesser role, being primarily required for stomatal closing and root hydraulic conductivity in this context, both of which are ABA-dependent (Creelman and Mullet, 1995; Munemasa et al., 2007; Sánchez-Romera *et al.*, 2014).

On the other hand, ERF1 is also strongly upregulated by both high salinity and drought stress (Cheng *et al.*, 2013). When ERF1 was overexpressed, plants showed a higher tolerance for both stresses. ERF1 is therefore thought to act as an integration point between JA and ABA signals during abiotic stress.

The presence of these different JA-controlled pathways means that when considering the role of JA signalling in relationship to other defence pathways, different types of interaction must be accounted for.

1.2 Systemic Acquired Resistance

As well as inducing local immune reactions, PTI and ETI also trigger a distal immune response in parts of the plant that have not previously come into direct contact with the pathogen. This phenomenon is known as Systemic Acquired Resistance, or SAR (Vlot *et al.*, 2008, 2020; Spoel and Dong, 2012; Conrath *et al.*, 2015). It comprises three key stages:

- I. pathogen perception and signal generation in the local tissue,
- II. the movement of a mobile signal, and

III. the recognition of this signal and upregulation of defence in the distal tissues.

SAR shows distinct signalling pathways from the other form of biotic induced resistance, known as Induced Systemic Resistance (ISR), which occurs after contact with beneficial microbes in the rhizosphere (Vlot et al., 2020). It also differs from "priming", which represents a transcriptional potential for faster immune responses rather than a direct upregulation of defence proteins in systemic tissues (Conrath et al., 2015). SAR provides protection against a broad range of pathogens (Fu and Dong, 2013; Vlot et al., 2017). It has been experimentally shown to last between three to ten days, and can be inherited by a plant's progeny that has had no direct exposure to the initial causal agent (Luna et al., 2012). One of the critical differences between SAR and ISR is that SAR occurs after contact with pathogens in the phyllosphere, and so the systemic signal must be both generated and recognised in leaves, while ISR signals originate in the roots. The other difference that has been generally accepted is that while ISR relies on JA signalling, SAR pathways is mediated via two main pathways; one based on SA, the other relying on the non-protein amino acid pipecolic acid (Pip) and its bioactive derivative N-hydroxypipecolic acid (NHP) (Figure 3, Vlot et al., 2020).

1.2.1 SA-dependent SAR

SA is a critical signal in SAR induction, with levels increasing in both local and systemic tissues (Vlot *et al.*, 2009). In mutants where SA accumulation is compromised (*SA induction-deficient2 (sid2)* and *enhanced disease susceptibility 5 (eds5)*) and where SA degradation is enhanced (*nahG*), SAR is not induced (Wildermuth *et al.*, 2001; Nawrath *et al.*, 2002; Van Wees and Glazebrook, 2003).

Because SA can move systemically in plants via the apoplast, it was initially considered as a potential SAR signal. However, as plants in which cuticle formation and thus apoplastic trafficking was disrupted were still able to produce SAR signals, the mobility of SA was deemed to be unnecessary for SAR establishment (Vernooij *et al.*, 1994; Lim *et al.*, 2020). Another possibility was for MeSA, the volatile SA derivative, to act as a mobile SAR signal (Park *et al.*, 2007). The transcript

accumulation of *SA-Methyltransferase* (*SAMT*) in the local tissue and activity of the methyl esterase SA-Binding Protein 2 (SABP2) in the systemic tissue are both needed for SAR (Kumar and Klessig, 2003; Park *et al.*, 2007). This leads to the theory that the balance between SA and MeSA regulates SAR establishment, and has been seen in tobacco and potato as well as *Arabidopsis* (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). However, the importance of MeSA depends on the time of day at which infection occurs, possibly due to phytochrome-mediated sensing of the red:far-red light ratio, and in *phyAphyB* mutant plants SAR is abolished (Griebel and Zeier, 2008; Liu *et al.*, 2011). It has been also been hypothesised that the conversion of SA to MeSA is actually a mechanism co-opted by pathogens in order to reduce the amount of SA available in the immune pathways, as the MeSA is volatile and may be lost by the leaves (Attaran *et al.*, 2009).

The establishment of both SAR and ISR is dependent on NPR1 functioning correctly and recognising increased SA levels (Pieterse *et al.*, 1998). EDS1 is another SAassociated regulator that is required for SAR. It is required in both the local and systemic tissues for a full SAR response (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014), and is critical for systemic defence after a local ETI induction by the CC-NLRs RPM1 and RPS2, possibly due to a role in ROS homeostasis (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014).

1.2.2 SA-independent SAR

Although SA is required for SAR induction, other signals are also involved that are required solely for systemic defence, and not involved in local immunity. As mentioned above, the SAR pathway is dependent on Pip. Pip biosynthesis occurs in the chloroplasts, and comprises a dual-step process in which L-lysine is converted to cyclic dehydropipecolic acid (DP) by AGD2-LIKE DEFENCE RESPONSE PROTEIN 1 (ALD1), and DP is then converted to Pip by SYSTEMIC ACQUIRED RESISTANCE DEFICIENT 4 (SARD4) (Ding *et al.*, 2016*b*; Hartmann *et al.*, 2017). Once it is transported outside of the chloroplasts, Pip can be hydroxylated by FMO1 to NHP, which is assumed to be the bioactive variant of the molecule (Hartmann *et al.*, 2018; Chen *et al.*, 2018). The expression of *ALD1* and *FMO1* and the accumulation of Pip and NHP are both reliant on EDS1/PAD4 signalling independently of SA (Bartsch *et al.*, 2006). If any stage of this process is compromised, then the SAR response is lost

Introduction



Figure 3: An overview of signalling pathways and feedback loops involved in SAR. Different signalling pathways are required in systemic tissue compared to local tissues during SAR. (1). An SA-independent pathway requires Pip, NHP, NO and ROS, AzA and G3P. In local tissues, AZI1/EARLI1 and DIR1 are also required to bolster the G3P signal. In the systemic tissue, propagation of this loop requires the presence of LLP1. A contribution of G3P is also required for SA level regulation in the systemic tissues (2). Another Pip feedback loop involving MPK3/MPK6 is required in the local tissues (3). Both SA and Pip pathways are regulated by feedback between NPR1 and SARD1/CBP60g locally as well as systemically (4). SAR signals move from local to systemic tissues via the phloem, cell-to-cell messengers, and via airborne compounds. Adapted from Vlot et al. 2020. (Mishina and Zeier, 2006; Návarová *et al.*, 2012; Ding *et al.*, 2016*b*), with NHP especially being a key molecule (Bernsdorff *et al.*, 2016; Hartmann *et al.*, 2017, 2018).

Pip signalling in SAR involves three different feedback loops (Wang *et al.*, 2018*a*,*b*; Wenig *et al.*, 2019). One of these directly feedbacks into Pip biosynthesis, and is dependent on MPK3/MPK6 (discussed in relation to PTI and ETI above) to enhance *ALD1* expression via the transcription factor WRKY33 (Wang *et al.*, 2018*b*). However, it appears that the biosynthesis of Pip is only required in systemic tissues in order to recognise the SAR signal, and not in the local tissues (Wang *et al.*, 2018*a*).

The other Pip feedback loops are specific to SAR signalling. Pip induces signalling via ROS and NO, which then simultaneously bolsters the Pip signal (Wang et al., 2018a). It is thought that the signal from ROS promotes the degradation of C18 lipids to produce the C9 di-carboxylic acid azelaic acid (AzA) (Wang et al., 2014; Wittek et al., 2014). AzA was initially associated with SAR after being found at heightened level in the petiole exudates of plants undergoing a systemic defence response (Jung et al., 2009). If AzA is applied exogenously to local leaves it is able to induce resistance in systemic tissues in a process that is dependent upon both Pip and SA signalling. This exogenous AzA also becomes systemically mobile, suggesting AzA as a possible candidate for the mobile SAR signal. The activity of another key protein in the Pip cascade, AZELAIC ACID INDUCED 1 (AZI1) is, as the name would suggest, induced by AzA, and is critical for SAR establishment. It sometimes acts with its functionally redundant homologue, EARLY ARABIDOPSIS ALUMINIUM INDUCED 1 (EARLI1). In fact, just the overexpression of AZI1 in local tissues is sufficient to induce systemic defence (Cecchini et al., 2015). Additionally, AZI1 has been shown to interact with PLASMODESMATA LOCALISING PROTEIN 1 (PDLP1). This means that AZI1 could promote a SAR signal that is relayed via the plasmodesmata, rather than the apoplast or phloem (Cecchini et al., 2015).

Whether AzA is necessary in the local or systemic tissues during SAR is still under debate (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). The AzA-mediated signalling pathway is dependent on the membrane metabolism intermediate glycerol-3-phosphate (G3P) (Chanda *et al.*, 2011; Yu *et al.*, 2013). It is thought that G3P alone is insufficient to induce SAR, but

may need to act in concert with other signals such as Pip or DEFECTIVE IN INDUCED RESISTANCE 1 (DIR1) (Chanda *et al.*, 2011; Wenig *et al.*, 2019). DIR1 is a predicted lipid transfer protein that is only required in local tissues (therefore in either signal generation or transmission), and is associated with a similar plasmodesmata transfer mechanism as AZI1 (Yu *et al.*, 2013; Carella *et al.*, 2015). As G3P is also only required in the local tissue (Gao *et al.*, 2014), and AzA may also function as a systemic signal, DIR1 may be playing a role in the mobilisation of these molecules (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). G3P is also able to stabilise AZI1 and DIR1 transcripts, which feedback to promote G3P accumulation (Yu *et al.*, 2013). Pip signalling after SAR signal recognition in the systemic tissues depends on a pathway involving AzA and G3P, so these along with AZI1 and DIR1 may fortify and stabilise the Pip induced upregulation of systemic defence responses (Lim *et al.*, 2016; Wang *et al.*, 2018a).

1.2.3 Interactions between SA and Pip pathways

Although they may have some totally independent functions, it has recently come to light that there may be shared mechanisms of regulation between the SA and Pip pathways. A set of Calmodulin-binding Transcription Activator (CAMTA) transcription factors negatively influences the expression of both ICS1 and ALD1, via the transcription factors SARD1 and CALMODULIN BINDING PROTEIN 60g (CBP60g), and so are involved in both Pip and SA biosynthesis (Fig ..., Kim et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2020). When the CAMTA proteins are mutated, then there is constitutive activation of defence responses (Sun et al., 2020). SARD1-related defence is also activated by CALCIUM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE 5 (CPK5), which in turn is regulated by ROS signalling (Guerra et al., 2020). Increased CPK5 results in accumulation of ALD1, FMO1 and SARD1 transcripts in the distal leaves and an overall enhanced SAR phenotype. However, the presence of both Pip and SA is required for this to take place, indicating another regulatory loop (Guerra et al., 2020). The activity of CPK5 is calcium-dependent, so this may provide a link between calcium signalling and the systemic immune system, and present a cell-to-cell method for SAR signal transmission as opposed to long-distance transport via the vasculature or the apoplast (Vlot et al., 2020).

As well as shared regulation, SA and Pip are able to positively feedback into not only their own, but also each other's biosynthesis and accumulation. SA-induced SAR is fully dependent on the presence of Pip, while Pip is able to partially induce SAR in SA-biosynthesis mutants (Bernsdorff *et al.*, 2016; Hartmann *et al.*, 2018). It has also been associated with the stabilisation of NPR1 (see above), which in turn regulates expression of both SA and Pip biosynthesis genes (Kim *et al.*, 2020). The reciprocal fortification between these cascades could thus be a critical factor in establishing a complete SAR response (Vlot *et al.*, 2020).

1.2.4 What is the mobile SAR signal?

In order for a successful SAR response to take place, there must be some method of relaying the signal from a local infection site to distal parts of the plant. As alluded to above, there are many possible candidate signal molecules which could play this role (Vlot *et al.*, 2008). With so many potential signalling molecules in the different SAR pathways, there is an ongoing discussion about which compound(s) is/are the long-distance signal(s) for SAR.

Although both Pip and SA have been shown to be systemically mobile, this mobility is not necessary for a normal SAR response. However, their derivative molecules give further possibilities. MeSA is required only in local tissues, and accumulation in the systemic tissues is not required for SAR (Park *et al.*, 2007). A similar situation exists for DIR1 and G3P (Maldonado *et al.*, 2002). These molecules could therefore act as phloem mobile signals, being released from the local tissue and moving systemically within the plant until they are recognised systemically by a yet unknown receptor (see Legume Lectin-like Proteins). DIR1 and G3P were also previously shown to support each other's translocation (Chanda *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it may be that multiple signals are released which are also able to support the transmission of others.

Another possibility is the Pip derivative NHP or its *O*-glycosylated form, *N*-OGlc-Pip, which is also formed by FMO1. Whether NHP is phloem mobile has been debated. A local treatment with NHP can induce SAR, but free NHP was not detected in these samples (Hartmann *et al.*, 2018), while in another case NHP was found in systemic leaves of *fmo1* after a local treatment (Chen *et al.*, 2018). During SAR NHP

accumulation is detected in systemic leaves at higher levels than would be expected from concentrations in petiole exudates, indicating that it is likely that NHP is biosynthesised anew after recognition of the SAR signal, rather than being the sole mobile signal itself (Hartmann and Zeier, 2019). As glycosylation may stabilise NHP, then it is possible that *N*-OGlc-Pip is actually the phloem mobile signal (Chen *et al.*, 2018).

Volatile signals are emitted from the plant and can act as airborne signals relaying the SAR signal both between plants and potentially between leaves on the same plant (Figure 4, Riedlmeier et al., 2017; Wenig et al., 2019). It has been known for a long time that volatile signals can induce defences against herbivory and abiotic stressors in neighbouring plants, and this has now also been demonstrated for defence against biotrophs (Scala et al., 2013; Riedlmeier et al., 2017). The key signal molecules in these processes are called Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs). The composition of the VOC profile detected by the plant determines which type of defence response will be induced (Brilli et al., 2019). The main VOCs that induce SAR in particular are the monoterpenes a-pinene, β -pinene, and camphene; the emission of all three compounds is induced during ETI, in a pathway dependent on EDS1. These VOCs may act alongside MeSA, the volatile SA derivative. The chemical properties of monoterpenes mean they could potentially be absorbed through the cuticle as well as through the stomata of neighbouring leaves (Schmid *et al.*, 1992). This may also explain why in mutants with disrupted cuticles there is no SAR signalling (Xia et al., 2009; Lim et al., 2020). Plants that detect these signals will respond with increased defence through initiation of ROS signalling and defence gene upregulation, including AZI1 and CBP60g (Riedlmeier et al., 2017), as well as initiating de novo VOC synthesis in a pathway requiring Pip and G3P (Wenig et al., 2019). Biosynthesis of these VOCs, and thus the entire plant-to-plant (PTP) SAR response, is dependent upon proteins including GERANYLGERANYL DIPHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 12 (GGPPS12) and TERPENE SYNTHASE 24 (TPS24) (Chen et al., 2003, 2015; Wenig et al., 2019).

1.3 Lectins in Plant Defence

Lectins were identified in plants as early as 1888 and represent a broad class of proteins found widely across phylogenetic kingdoms. Even when considered only



Figure 4: Airborne transmission of a defence signal between plants. After a local infection, plants can synthesise and emit VOCs such as monoterpenes from their leaves. These compounds are then recognised by neighbouring plants in a feedback loop dependent on LLP1 and Pip/G3P, which trigger downstream cascades leading to upregulation of defence genes in non-infected tissues. This renders the plant more resistant to later pathogen attack. Adapted from Vlot et al. 2020.

within plants, lectins still constitute a superfamily of proteins. Their structure can be either single-domain or multi-domain, with the latter often containing other protein domains such as kinase (Lectin receptor like kinases, or LecRLKs), F-box, or glycosyl hydrolase domains (Van Holle *et al.*, 2017). They are principally characterised by the presence of a carbohydrate recognition domain with no enzymatic activity that can reversibly bind to specific mono- or oligosaccharide residues (glycoconjugates) present in other molecules (Van Damme, 2007; Van Holle and Van Damme, 2018). These residues can either be from pathogens or from the host, which gives lectins a potentially important role in plant defence. This can occur by different routes. Some lectins bind directly to structures on the surface of bacterial cells and prevent direct access into the host cell. Others can function directly as PRRs, detecting both bacterial structures (PAMPs) or plant-derived components released into the apoplast after changes to cell wall integrity or cell death (DAMPs), and initiate the defence signalling cascades towards PTI (Figure 5, Wirthmueller *et al.*, 2013). LecRLKs and LecRLPs (lectin receptor-like proteins) encompass some of the best known PRRs, such as CERK1, LORE and DORN1 (Miya *et al.*, 2007; Choi *et al.*, 2014; Ranf *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, effector proteins often require *N*-glycosylation in order to function, which can then be detected by intracellular lectins, giving them a role specifically in ETI (Chen *et al.*, 2014, 2017).

Although there are multiple methods of categorising lectins, one way is based on their evolutionary and structural relatedness (Mishra *et al.*, 2019). One of the largest groups that results from this classification is the Legume-Lectin family. Over 100 different proteins have been isolated from 70 species (Eggermont *et al.*, 2017). This breadth also leads to legume-lectins showing the widest range of saccharide



Figure 5: The role of lectins in plant immune signalling. In the plasma membrane, different forms of lectin receptors, including lectin-like proteins, can recognise DAMPS or P/MAMPs that are present in the extracellular space either directly from pathogens or from cell damage and death induced by them, and trigger PTI. Another set of lectins within the cell can recognise effector proteins, and then induce ETI. Both these processes result in intracellular signalling and upregulation of defence genes. (Adapted from Lannoo and Van Damme, 2014).
specificities when compared to other lectins studied so far (Buts *et al.*, 2007). Consequently, not every legume-lectin is involved in SA-mediated immunity, but can also initiate pathways including salt-stress tolerance and JA signalling, and be associated with both biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogen defence (Singh *et al.*, 2013; Zhang *et al.*, 2017*b*; Balagué *et al.*, 2017).

1.3.1 Legume Lectin-Like Proteins

Legume Lectin-like Protein 1 (LLP1) was identified in a proteomic analysis of apoplast-enriched extracts during ETI, and is induced both locally and systemically during SAR signalling (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014). It is a glycoprotein with a predicted carbohydrate binding function, but no predicted enzymatic activity, and belongs to the lectin-legB family of legume lectin-like proteins (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). It is localised to the apoplastic side of the plasma membrane (Armijo *et al.*, 2013). Much of the research so far conducted on this protein has utilised the T-DNA insertion mutant, *llp1* (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014). It was also shown that the presence of LLP1 is not required for PTI, and either unnecessary or having a very mild role in ETI, so its role in defence appears to be specific to systemic defence (Armijo *et al.*, 2013; Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014).

The accumulation of LLP1 is dependent on the key SA-signalling regulator, *EDS1* (Vlot *et al.*, 2009; Breitenbach, 2012; Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014). Thus it would initially appear that LLP1 is required for an SA-dependent pathway within SAR. However, local treatment with SA could still induce a systemic defence response in *llp1-1* (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014), indicating that the presence of this protein is not necessary for SA-induced systemic defence. However, as described above, for biological SAR to occur two parallel signalling pathways are required (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). Pip is unable to induce SAR in *llp1-1* mutants, indicating that LLP1 is involved in the Pip rather than the SA branch of SAR (Wenig *et al.*, 2019).

Although *LLP1* transcript accumulation is elevated both locally and distally to an infection, LLP1 is required only in the systemic tissue, but not locally, for a functional SAR response to occur (Wenig *et al.*, 2019). Along with its apoplastic membrane localisation (Armijo *et al.*, 2013), LLP1 could be acting as the receptor for the mobile SAR signal in the systemic tissues. The predicted lectin domain introduces the



Figure 6: LLP1 is involved in a signalling feedback loop. A SARinducing local infection will initiate a signalling cascade involving Pip, G3P and defence monoterpenes. Downstream genes regulated via AZI1. are Monoterpenes can travel to neighbouring uninfected plants and upregulate defence in an LLP1-dependent manner. Adapted from Wenig et al. (2019).

possibility that LLP1 can recognise carbohydrate or free sugar molecules. However, as it lacks some of the features typically found in lectin binding domains, it is possible that the ligand of LLP1 is a different type of molecule, such as an amino acid or small lipid or peptide (Komath *et al.*, 2006; Vlot *et al.*, 2020). As many of the touted SAR signals, such as NHP, fall under this category, there are many different potential LLP1 binding partners.

Aside from its role in intra-plant SAR, LLP1 is also required for the emission and recognition of monoterpenes (see above) (Figure 6, Wenig *et al.*, 2019). After recognition of these molecules, LLP1 is crucial for initiating the pathway involving Pip and G3P needed to propagate further PTP signalling. This puts LLP1 as a key regulatory node between both phloem and airborne defence signals.

LLP1 has two homologues in the model plant *Arabidopsis*, *LLP2* and *LLP3*. LLP2 (At3g16530), which shares 66% similarity at the amino acid (AA) level with LLP1,

was identified as a possible SAR-associated protein along with LLP1 (Breitenbach et al., 2014). LLP1 and LLP2 respectively share 61% and 87% AA similarity with LLP3 (At3g15356; LECTIN in Lyou et al., 2009). Although some functions of LLP1 and LLP3 have been previously addressed (Lyou et al., 2009b; Armijo et al., 2013a), the combined effect of the proteins in different stresses is as yet unknown. The combined role began to be uncovered by previous work using a triple RNAi silencing line (RNAi:LLP1-3), in which the transcript levels of LLP1, LLP2, and LLP3 were significantly reduced (Breitenbach, 2012; Wenig et al., 2019). It has been shown that the *llp1-1* single mutant is unable to recognise mobile SAR signals. In *RNAi:LLP1-3*, it was shown that there is also a lack of signal generation as well as signal recognition (Wenig et al., 2019). This gives us the first insight that in SAR the different LLPs are not functionally redundant, and at least LLP2 or LLP3 has a role differing from that of LLP1. Pabst (2017) also showed that there is an increased susceptibility in RNAi:LLP1-3 to the necrotrophic pathogen Alternaria brassicicola compared to both wildtype and to the *llp1* single mutant. We therefore potentially see roles for these proteins in both biotrophic and necrotrophic defence. However, as discussed in Robert-Seilaniantz et al., (2011), it is generally thought that a decrease in SA- or biotrophic defence should result in an increased tolerance to necrotrophic pathogens. Therefore, we are presented with a potential irregularity, as it appears that the transgenic lines in which the *LLPs* are compromised is susceptible to both systemic biotrophic and necrotrophic infection (Pabst, 2018). With this in mind, is it also possible that these mutants do not conform to the accepted dogma that when biotic stress tolerance is decreased, then abiotic stress tolerance will generally be improved.

1.4 Phytohormone crosstalk

When considering defence responses in a natural setting, it is rare that plants are only exposed to a single stressor. It is therefore of great importance to understand the crosstalk between SAR and other signalling cascades activated by abiotic and necrotrophic stress. The three key phytohormones that are associated with environmental stress responses are SA, ABA, and JA (Figure 7). It is generally thought that the overall balance between biotrophic, necrotrophic and abiotic stress tolerance is dependent on these interactions, with an increase in one leading to susceptibility in the others (Robert-Seilaniantz *et al.*, 2011). This crosstalk would theoretically allow the plants to maximise their resource allocation, and ensure that fitness is compromised as little as possible while still activating sufficient defence (Mur *et al.*, 2005; Koornneef and Pieterse, 2008).

1.4.1 ABA defence signalling

ABA is a sesquiterpenoid hormone biosynthesised from zeaxanthin via a five-step process that takes place in plastids and then the cytoplasm (Xiong and Zhu, 2003; Hauser *et al.*, 2017). It is integral to signalling responses against a range of abiotic stresses including cold, drought, and high salinity (Christmann et al., 2006), as well as in plant growth (Fernando and Schroeder, 2016). In a similar way to JA signalling, the transcription of ABA-responsive genes is repressed under standard conditions via the 2C-type protein phosphatase (PP2C)-mediated suppression of Sucrose nonfermenting Kinase-1-Related protein kinase 2s (SnRK2s). When ABA binds to one of its receptors (RCAR/PYR/PYL receptors), then as a complex they can bind to and inhibit PP2Cs, allowing SnRK2s to activate ABA-responsive element Binding Factors (ABFs) which in turn initiate transcription of ABA-responsive genes (Busk and Pagès, 1998; Ma et al., 2009; Nishimura et al., 2009). Depending on the type of stress response, different combinations of ABFs can initiate the appropriate downstream pathways (Choi et al., 2000). As drought and salinity impart osmotic stress upon plant cells, ABA controls water balance via stomatal closure and cellular dehydration tolerance to enhance cell survival (Fernando and Schroeder, 2016). Downstream components that indicate an ABA-mediated abiotic stress response include the dehydrin family proteins RAB18 and RD29b (Pandey et al., 2005).

1.4.2 ABA-SA crosstalk

Due to its role in abiotic stress tolerance, and the frequency with which plants experience this concurrently with disease, the crosstalk between ABA and SAR can be expected to have significant impact on the effectiveness of systemic defence after experiencing simultaneous environmental pressures.

The closure of stomata and callose deposition to reduce pathogen spread during biotic stress are mediated by ABA signalling. Stomatal closure, especially, is a very early

response to pathogen interaction, and in this context ABA supports biotic defence (Melotto *et al.*, 2006; Hewage *et al.*, 2020). In fact, a key virulence mechanism of *Pst* is to overcome ABA by producing coronatine to target guard cell ROS production and so to reopen stomata (Toum *et al.*, 2016). However, ABA can also have a general antagonistic effect on biotic defence by reducing SA accumulation and the expression of SA-mediated defence genes, and by disrupting JA-mediated defence against necrotrophs (Figure 7) (Spoel and Dong, 2008; de Torres Zabala *et al.*, 2009; Sánchez-Vallet *et al.*, 2012). This is also used as a virulence mechanism by *Pst* to suppress PTI (de Torres-Zabala *et al.*, 2007).

ABA and SAR are mutually antagonistic. In their 2008 paper, Yasuda et al. demonstrated that the induction of SA-mediated SAR in *Arabidopsis* by the inducers BTH and BIT is directly inhibited both upstream and downstream of SA synthesis by the application of exogenous ABA, independently of JA or ethylene perception. Although the direct point of interaction is unknown, ABA has been shown to increase catalase activity in some cell types, and thereby increase the scavenging of free radicals (Jannat *et al.*, 2011). This could reduce the activation of SAR via ROS signalling (Wang *et al.*, 2014). However, the specific catalase enzymes affected, and in which way, also depends on whether ABA is applied exogenously or endogenously (Tan *et al.*, 2019), and so this mode of action when the plant is also being acted upon by pathogens is debatable. ABA also enhances the proteasome-mediated degradation of the SA-receptor NPR1, which is also required for a normal SAR response (Cao *et al.*, 1997; Mou *et al.*, 2003; Ding *et al.*, 2016a).

Pathways activated after salinity stress were also implicated in this ABA-SA/BTH antagonism. Plants with accelerated ABA degradation did not show repression of BTH and BIT-induced genes after NaCl treatment. Ergo the repression of SA/BTH signalling by NaCl is dependent on ABA. The converse effect was also observed, as a BIT pre-treatment reduced the expression of ABA-responsive and –biosynthetic genes after salt treatment, indicating that not only is ABA-mediated abiotic stress able to suppress SAR, but SAR is also able to suppress ABA-mediated stress responses (Yasuda *et al.*, 2008). It appears that this crosstalk is specific to BTH-induced systemic resistance rather than SA signalling in general, as BTH and BIT

showed different levels of ABA antagonism compared to a direct SA treatment in plants under high humidity (Moeder *et al.*, 2010). This crosstalk between SAR and ABA signalling is not limited to *Arabidopsis*. The SA-mediated SAR inducers BTH and BIT were able to reduce the susceptibility towards *Pst* and *Phytophthora capsici* incurred by ABA-mediated salt stress in tomato (Pye *et al.*, 2013, 2018), and ABA pre-treatment suppressed both SAR and SA accumulation induced by BIT treatment (Figure 7) (Kusajima *et al.*, 2017).

Components of the SA-independent SAR induction pathway have also been associated with ABA-mediated abiotic stress responses. The lipid transfer protein AZI1 is required for both SAR and priming (Jung *et al.*, 2009; Yu *et al.*, 2013), but when overexpressed confers drought susceptibility, and is upregulated in some ABA mutants (Atkinson *et al.*, 2013). Conversely, AZI1 appears to improve freezing tolerance and salt tolerance through an ABA-dependent mechanism (Xu *et al.*, 2011; Pitzschke *et al.*, 2014).

ROS signalling, which is critical in several SAR pathways, is also an important trigger in salt stress tolerance, as after extended periods of high salinity plant cells begin to undergo ionic stress as well as osmotic stress, and show disrupted ion fluxes and homeostasis (Miller *et al.*, 2010). The transcription factor WRKY33, which is linked to the Pip/ MPK3/6 feedback loop, has a positive role in salt tolerance, and its induction is dependent upon ABA signalling (Jiang and Deyholos, 2009), although this seems to be specific to *Arabidopsis* (Bao *et al.*, 2018). This could point to a difference of ABA interaction with each of the SAR pathways, showing antagonism towards SAsignalling while theoretically being able to support local Pip feedback loops.

1.4.3 SA-JA crosstalk

As a major phytohormone, JA is involved in a wide variety of stress responses in both positive and negative regulatory capacities (see section on JA in defence).

SA and JA generally show antagonism towards one another (Figure 7) (Glazebrook, 2005). For instance, if SA accumulation is compromised, then JA responsive genes will be expressed at higher levels, indicating that they are normally repressed by SA. SA-antagonism of JA occurs both through reduction in JA biosynthesis and directly at



Figure 7: Phytohormone interactions are complex and control different stress responses. A) There is generally thought to be antagonism between the three major stress hormones, SA, JA and ABA, although ROS signalling plays a role in all of these pathways. B) Although some mechanisms are conserved, key signalling pathways have different levels of impact when considering SAR in *Arabidopsis* compared to monocotyledonous species. In a similar way, some, but not all signalling pathways are required for both SAR and ISR in *Arabidopsis*. ABA negatively regulates the SA-dependent pathway but may contribute to the Pip pathway in *Arabidopsis* and SAR in barley. Adapted from Carvalho *et al.* 2015 and Vlot *et al.* 2020.

the downstream gene transcriptional level. This repression requires the SA receptor NPR1 and TGA transcription factors. As the same TGAs can target the promoter of *ORA59*, itself a key transcription factor in JA signalling, this may be the mechanism through which NPR1-dependent SA signalling can antagonise the ERF1-mediated JA pathway (Zander *et al.*, 2014). Alternatively, the presence of a GCC-box in the promoter of JA-responsive genes is sufficient for SA repression of JA signalling. As this motif is present in the promoters of several JA-regulated genes, and would otherwise be bound to by JA-mediated transcription factors, SA may repress JA through the repression of transcriptional activation (Zarei *et al.*, 2011; Van Der Does

et al., 2013). Interestingly, NPR1 is normally required in the nucleus to propagate the SA signal, but for JA-repression it is only required in the cytoplasm, suggesting that NPR1 can perform different roles depending on its subcellular localisation (Spoel *et al.*, 2003). The cytoplasmic function of NPR1 may be important in sensing the JA signal necessary for ISR, and could act as the integration point between JA and ET signals in that pathway (Leon-Reyes *et al.*, 2009). The ERF1 branch of JA-singalling may be affected by the positive regulation of EDS1 on ICS1 and thus SA levels. SA is involved in promoting the downstream degradation of ORA59, and thus reducing the transcription of ORA59/JA-responsive genes (Van Der Does *et al.*, 2013; Cui *et al.*, 2018). The inhibition of MYC2 by EDS1 blocks COR/JA signalling, and thus protects the SA defence sector.

Another point of crosstalk between SA and JA is the transcription factor WRKY33. This gene is required for necrotrophic defence against *B. cinerea*, and loss of function results in overactivation of the SA pathway (Birkenbihl *et al.*, 2012). WRKY33 also directly targets redox homeostasis, salt tolerance, and Pip signalling in local tissues during SAR. In Pip feedback regulation WRKY33 is directly targeted by MPK3/MPK6, which also have positive regulatory functions on MYC2 signalling (Wang *et al.*, 2018*b*). Thus, the functions of MPK3/MPK6 and WRKY33 could present a key node for integration of signals from different hormone pathways.

1.4.4 SA-JA crosstalk in SAR

It has generally been acknowledged that the basal SA signals that are needed for SAR initiation are mutually antagonistic with JA (Glazebrook, 2005), but this is not so clear cut regarding systemic defence. Potatoes show an accumulation of the JA precursor OPDA after a SAR inducing infection with *P. syringae* pv *maculicola* (Landgraf *et al.*, 2002), and both SA and JA are required for defence against Tobacco Mosaic Virus in *Nicotiana benthamiana* (Zhu *et al.*, 2014). In *Arabidopsis* there are contradicting reports on the necessity of JA for SAR (Truman *et al.*, 2007; Attaran *et al.*, 2009). It also seems to be the case that while a SAR-inducing *Pst* infection confers susceptibility to necrotrophic pathogens via JA signal suppression at the local level, systemically there is neither an increase nor a decrease in susceptibility. This is possibly because the systemic SA accumulation associated with SAR is not high

enough to overcome the threshold needed for SA-JA antagonism to occur (Spoel *et al.*, 2007).

Some pathogens, such as the necrotrophic fungus *Botrytis cinerea*, have the capacity to co-opt SAR pathways as a pathogenesis mechanism to repress and therefore evade JA defence in tomato and tobacco (El-Oirdi *et al.*, 2011; Frías *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, biotrophic pathogens are able to induce JA signalling as a virulence mechanism for suppressing PTI. A key example of this is seen in *Pst*, which is able to produce the JA-Ile mimic, COR (Zhao *et al.*, 2003; Uppalapati *et al.*, 2007). This binds to the COI1 receptor, and activates JA-mediated responses (Katsir *et al.*, 2008), in turn mitigating SA-mediated defence and allowing *Pst* to propagate more freely. *Pst* can also directly induce JA signalling independently of COI1 through effectors such as HOPX1 and HOPZ1 (Gimenez-Ibanez *et al.*, 2014).

It has long been a consideration in plant breeding that lines with higher defence capacities show a corresponding deficit in growth promotion, and vice versa (Huot *et al.*, 2014). Crosstalk between SAR and other defence pathways, and the differences between these pathways in dicotyledonous and monocotyledonous species adds further complexity to these considerations (Figure 7). These are factors that must therefore be taken into account when researching the potential applications of SAR elicitors in agriculture.

1.5 Aims of this work

The main aim of this work is to further investigate the roles of Legume Lectin-like Proteins 1, 2 and 3 in plant defence responses. Because data in a prior thesis (Pabst, 2017) showed that reduced transcript accumulation of *LLP1*, *LLP2*, and *LLP3* influences seedling responses to salt stress, I particularly aim to characterise the role of these genes in abiotic stress responses. This work also aims to put the *LLPs* in the context of phytohormone signalling crosstalk. The interactions of local biotrophic defence with other defence pathways has been widely studied. However, the interaction of SAR specific pathways with JA- and ABA-mediated defence is less clearly defined. The known role of *LLP1* in SAR signalling in systemic tissues and not

local defence may therefore help to situate systemic defence signalling in the wider landscape of phytohormones.

llp1-1 and *llp3* will be used to investigate the roles of the *LLPs* in biotrophic defence, both locally against avirulent *Pst* and during SAR. In order to study the joint roles of the *LLPs*, as well as potentially shed light on the function of *LLP2*, the triple silencing line *RNAi:LLP1-3*, in which the transcript accumulation of all three *LLPs* is significantly reduced, will also be used for all assays.

Specifically, I will look at how the *llp1-1*, *llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines respond to salt stress at different development stages, and how they are affected at both a phenotypic and transcriptional level. I will also investigate the association between the *LLP* accumulation and JA and ABA, as well as the requirements for JA in systemic defence signalling.

I will mainly investigate these questions by using local defence, SAR and root growth assays. A variety of different mutant lines will also be used to identify the importance of the *LLPs* to known phytohormone cascades. To delve further into the molecular aspect of these questions, I will use quantitative PCR, and LC-MS to see the effect of the *LLPs* on phytohormone accumulation during the defence responses. Because no secondary line existed for *llp3*, this project aimed to generate a complementation line in order to explore the individual contribution of *LLP3* to defence in depth.

By using these approaches, I aim to unravel the role of *LLP1*, 2 and 3 in phytohormone signalling and crosstalk. This will allow a better understanding of how plants respond to simultaneous stress, and will inform future possible application of systemic defence elicitors in plant protection.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Plant materials

A. thaliana ecotype Columbia-0 (Col-0) was used as the wildtype control throughout all experiments. Transgenic lines *llp1-1, eds1-2, ald1, ggpps12, tps24-1, tps24-2,* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* have been described previously (Mishina and Zeier, 2006; Bartsch *et al.*, 2006; Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014; Wenig *et al.*, 2019). The TDNA insertion line llp3 (SALK_030762, previously *lec1*) was obtained from the Nottingham *Arabidopsis* Stock Centre (NASC) and bred to homozygosity in a previous project (thesis of Elizabeth Pabst). All seeds were stored in dark, dry conditions at ambient room temperature.

2.1.2 Microorganisms and culture conditions

Species	Strain
Pseudomonas syringae pathovar Tomato (Pst)	DC 3000
	AvrRpt2
	AvrRpm1
Agrobacterium tumefaciens	GV3101::pMP90

Table 2: Bacteria used in experiments

Table 3: Antibiotics used in this work

Antibiotic	Working Solution	Manufacturer	Use
Carbenicillin	250 µg/ml	Sigma Aldrich, Germany	Sterile plant media
Cefotaxim	100 µg/ml	Applichem, Germany	Sterile plant media

Gentamycin	25 µg/ml	Roche, Germany	Selection of Agrobacterium tumefaciens GV3101::pMP90
Kanamycin	50 µg/ml	Roth, Germany	Selection of <i>Pseudomonas</i> <i>syringae pv tomato</i> (virulent and avirulent strains)
Rifampicin	100 µg/ml	Duchefa Bichemie, Germany	Selection of <i>Pseudomonas</i> <i>syringae pv tomato</i> (virulent and avirulent strains) and <i>Agrobacterium tumefaciens</i> GV3101::pMP90

All antibiotics were stored in powdered form at +4°C. To produce working concentration, all antibiotics (except Rifampicin) were dissolved in double distilled H₂O. Rifampicin was dissolved in 100% DMSO. Solutions were sterile filtered using a 0.22 μ M filter (Millipore, Billerica, United States) and either stored at +4°C and used within 24 hours or aliquoted and stored at -20°C.

2.1.3 Chemicals, Solutions and Media

Table 4:	Chemicals	used in	this work

Chemical	Manufacturer
Abscisic Acid	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA)
Azelaic Acid	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA)
BASTA® (Glufosinate)	Hoechst (Frankfurt, Germany)
Indole-3-Acetic Acid	Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany)
Lithium Chloride	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA)
Mannitol	Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany)
MES (2-(N- morpholino)ethanesulphonic-acid)	Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany)
Methyl Jasmonate	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA)
Murashige-Skoog + vitamins	Duchefa (Haarlem, Netherlands)
Phytoagar	Duchefa (Haarlem, Netherlands)
Salicylic Acid	Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany)

Silwet	Lehle Seeds (Texas, USA)
Sodium Chloride	Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany)
Tween-20	Calbiochem (San Diego, USA)

Table 5: Solutions and their compositions used in this work

Buffer/solution	Composition	Use
Floral dip solution	5% sucrose 0.03% silwet Sterile H ₂ 0	Suspending <i>Agrobacterium</i> <i>tumefaciens</i> for <i>Arabidopsis</i> floral dip
Bacterial isolation solution	10 mM MgCl ₂ 0.01% Silwet	Isolating bacteria from leaves post-harvest
Mock buffer	10 mM MgCl ₂	Mock control treatment for infiltration experiments
RNA-extraction buffer	 3.05 g ammonium thiocyanate, 9.44 g guanidinium thiocyanate, 5 ml glycerol, 3.33 ml 3 M sodium acetate pH 5.2, 40 ml H2O, adjust pH to 5.0, 38 ml Roti-Aqua-Phenol 	RNA extraction
RNA-extraction further solvents	Phenol Chloroform 2-Propanol Ethanol	RNA extraction

Table 6: Media composition used in this work

Media	Composition	Use
LB	10 g tryptone 5 g yeast extract 10 g NaCl add 1 L H ₂ O, adjust pH to 7 15 g agar-agar	<i>Agrobacterium tumefaciens</i> culture
Murashige-Skoog (MS)	4.302g Murashige & Skoog + vitamins 10g Sucrose 0.5g MES add 1 L H ₂ O, adjust pH to 5.8	Sterile plant culture

	12 g Phytoagar	
	5 g proteose peptone	
	3 g yeast extract	Pseudomonas
NYGA	20 ml glycerol	syringae pv tomato
	add 1 L H ₂ O, adjust pH to 7	culture
	18 g agar-agar	

2.1.4 Molecular Biology materials

Table 7: Kits used for transcript accumulation quantification

Kit	Manufacturer	Use
SensiMix SYBR Low-Rox Kit	Bioline Reagents, London, UK	qPCR
SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase	Invitrogen/ Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA	cDNA synthesis

Table 8: Primers for genotyping

Name	Sequence 5' \rightarrow 3'	Description	T _m (°C)
LLP1F	TGAGTAAACAGCAGTTACGA	LLP1 expression	60
LLP1R	TGACGCCATCAGAAGCAGGA	LLP1 expression	60
LEC1F	TTTGGAGCTGGTCGTTTGAA	LLP3 expression	60
LEC1R	ATTCACTCTACAACAATTAC	LLP3 expression	60
LEC2F	TTTGGAGCTGGTCGTTTGAA	LLP2 expression	60
LEC2R	AGTTACCACTGAGTAGTATG	LLP2 expression	60
LLP3-check2F	ACCGAAGAGGCCTTTGATCC	LLP3 expression (without 3'UTR)	60
LLP3-check2R	ACCAGCAAAACCAGCGTACA	LLP3 expression (without 3'UTR)	60

Name	Sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	Description	T _m (°C)
UbiqF	AGATCCAGGACAAGGTATTC		60
UbiqR	CGCAGGACCAAGTGAAGAGTAG		60
PR1F	CTACGCAGAACAACTAAGAGGCAAC		60
PR1R	TTGGCACATCCGAGTCTCACTG		60
RAB18F	TTCGGTCGTTGTATTGTGCTTT		60
RAB18R	CCAGATGCTCATTACACACTCATG		60
PDF1.2F	CCAAGTGGGACATGGTCAG		60
PDF1.2R	ACTTGTGTGCTGGGAAGACA		60
VSP2F	GTTAGGGACCGGAGCATCAA		60
VSP2R	AACGGTCACTGAGTATGATGGGT		62

Table 9: Primers for qPCR

2.1.5 Other materials

Table 10: Devices and Instruments

Instrument	Model Manufacturer			
Camera	Nikon DC 300	Minato, Japan		
Centrifuges	Heraeus 17	Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA		
Photometer	NanoPhotometer	Implen GmbH, Germany		
RT-qPCR cycler	Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (ABI 750 Fast)	Applied Biosystems, Freiburg, Germany		
Rotator	intelli-mixer rotator with vortexer	Neolab (Heidelberg, Germany)		

Table 11: Software and web applications used in this work.

Software		Version	Use
7500 System Software	Fast SDS	Version 1.3.1.21	qPCR programming and raw data analysis

Camera Control Pro 2	Version 2.0.0				Settings and image acquisition for Nikon DC 300			
GraphPad	GraphPad Windows	Prism	8	for	Statistica graph de	al data a sign	nalysis	and
ImageJ	Version 1.52k			Image analysis				
Microsoft Office	Excel, Powerpoint, Word,			Data analysis,	managem graph de	nent sign	and	
Primer Blast	<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.go</u> <u>v/tools/primer-blast/</u> (Ye et al. 2012)			qPCR pri	mer desig	jn		

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Plant growth conditions

Synchronised seeds and repeats from different batches were used where possible, to reduce batch effect. Plants were grown on potting soil (without fertilizer) (Floradur Anzuchtsubstrat B Seed, Floragard) mixed with silica sand in 5:1 ratio. Seeds were placed on pre-dampened soil, covered with clingfilm, and stratified for 2 days at 4°C to enhance the synchronicity of germination. For experimental procedures, plants were kept under short day conditions (10 hours (h) light with an intensity of 100 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ at 22°C and 14 h dark at 18°C, 70% relative humidity). For seed collection, plants were kept under long day conditions (18°C/22°C (night/day), 70% relative humidity, and 80-90 μ E m-2 s-1 of light for 14 h days).

2.2.2 Seed sterilisation

To sterilise *Arabidopsis* seeds, old spin columns (e.g. from plasmid purification) were sterilised using 75% EtOH. After columns were dried and labelled using pencil or alcohol-resistant markers, seeds were added to the top part of the column. 700 μ l 75% EtOH was added on top of the seeds, and columns were closed and rotated for 4 minutes. Columns were subsequently placed in a centrifuge and spun at 11,000 rpm for 1 minute. The excess EtOH was decanted, and 700 μ l 100% EtOH was pipetted to the top of the column. Columns were again rotated for 4 minutes, then centrifuged for 1 minute. After the excess EtOH was again decanted, seeds were finally dried by centrifuging for 5 minutes. Seeds were then sown onto sterile plant media, and stratified for 2 days at 4°C before being transferred to growth chambers.

2.2.3 Microbial culture conditions

Pseudomonas syringae pv tomato (henceforth referred to as *Pst* or DC3000) and the avirulent strains *Pst AvrRpm1* and *Pst AvrRpt2* were grown on NYGA medium containing rifampicin and kanamycin (Table 3, Table 6). For experimental purposes, plates were inoculated and grown overnight at 28°C.

Agrobacterium tumefaciens strain GV3101::pMP90 was cultured on solid LB medium plates containing rifampicin and gentamycin (*Table 3*, *Table 6*) and grown at 28°C.

2.2.4 Local bacterial growth assay

Pst AvrRpt2 was maintained on NYGA media supplemented with antibiotics (Table 3, Table 6, Aarts *et al.*, 1998). Fresh plates were inoculated the previous day, and the bacteria were allowed to grow over night before infection at 28°C. For local immunity assays, the first two true leaves per plant were syringe-infiltrated with 1x10⁵ colony forming units (CFU)/mL of *Pst AvrRpt2* suspended in 10 mM MgCl₂. To measure the bacterial concentration, leaf tissue were either harvested at 2 days post infection to analyse transcript accumulation or at 2, 4 and 7 days post infection to analyse bacterial titres as described (Section 2.2.6, Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014).

2.2.5 SAR assay

In order to assess the role of different proteins in SAR, the following assay was performed with wildtype (Columbia-0) and mutant or transgenic plants. Pst and Pst AvrRpm1 were maintained as described above (2.2.4). The evening before the initial infection, NYGA plates with antibiotics were freshly inoculated with the desired bacteria and incubated at 28°C overnight. On the day of the first infection, bacteria were removed from the plates and suspended in a 10 μ M MgCl₂ solution using a vortex until there were no clumps of bacteria remaining. The OD₆₀₀ of the solution was then measured using a spectrophotometer, and the stock solution was diluted to a concentration of 1x10⁶ CFU/ml. 4.5 week old Arabidopsis plants were syringe infiltrated in their first two true leaves (leaves 1 and 2 in Figure 8) with the Pst AvrRpm1 solution, or with a 10 µM MgCl₂ mock control. The plants were then returned to an infection chamber under the same conditions as the growth chamber. Three days later, bacteria were prepared in a similar manner and two systemic leaves (leaves 3 and 4 in Figure 8) were syringe infiltrated with 1x10⁵ CFU/mL of Pst, again suspended in MgCl₂ solution, in all the plants that had previously been treated, regardless of whether the initial treatment was with *Pst AvrRpm1* or MgCl₂. The plants were again returned to the infection chambers in order for the bacteria to grow. 4

days after the secondary infection, leaves 3 and 4 were harvested, and the resulting *in planta* bacterial titres were determined as described (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 8: An *Arabidopsis* plant with indication towards the leaves infiltrated in a SAR assay.

2.2.6 Bacterial quantification from leaf tissue

To estimate the bacterial growth after various experimental treatments, leaf tissue was harvested at the time points described above. Leaf discs were cut using a leaf punch, and three punches from different plants were included per sample, to reduce the effect of external factors acting on a single individual plant. Leaf discs were then submerged in 500 μ l of bacterial isolation solution in a 2 ml Eppendorf tube (Table 5) and shaken at 600 rpm at 26°C or ambient room temperature for 1 hour. The eppendorfs were then vortexed for 5 seconds to resuspend any clumps of bacteria that may have formed, and the solution was serially diluted by a factor of 10 five times in a MgCl₂ solution. 20 μ l of each dilution was plated onto half a fresh NYGA plate (Figure 9), and the plates were allowed to completely dry. Bacteria were allowed to grow at ambient room temperature for 48 hours, before colonies were counted under a light microscope. Using the number of colonies and the dilution factor, the bacterial titre in the original leaf tissue was calculated.



Figure 9: Quantification of bacterial titres in leaves. Leaf discs from three plants were shaken in bacterial isolation solution, before undergoing a serial dilution. 20 μ l of each dilution was plated on NYGA and the colonies were counted after 2 days incubation at room temperature. The number of colonies and the dilution factor could then be used to calculate the bacterial titres in the original leaf tissue per cm².

2.2.9 Phytohormone treatments

To analyse *LLP1-3* transcript accumulation in response to phytohormone treatment, green tissues of 2- to 3-week old plants were sprayed until drop-off with 1 mM SA (Sigma Aldrich), 100 μ M MeJA (Sigma Aldrich), or 100 μ M ABA (Sigma Aldrich) dissolved in 0.1% MgCl₂, 0.01% Tween[®] 20, and 0.025% MeOH. Plants of the same age were sprayed with 0.1% MgCl₂, 0.01% Tween[®] 20, 0.025% MeOH as the mock control treatment. Leaf samples were taken at 8 and 24 h after treatment and flash frozen in liquid N₂ for qPCR analysis.

2.2.10 Phytohormone content measurement

ABA in seedlings was measured as described in Avramova et al., (2018).

ABA, SA and JA in mature plants was measured by means of UHPLC-MS/MS. Thereby, the plant material (50-250 mg) was placed in 2 mL bead beater tubes (CKMix-2 mL, Bertin Technologies, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France), filled with ceramic balls (zirconium oxide; mix beads of 1.4 mm and 2.8 mm). An aliquot of the internal standard (20 μ L), containing (+)cis,trans-abscisic acid-d₆ (2.5 μ g/mL), salicylic acid-d₄ (2.5 μ g/mL) and (-)trans-jasmonic acid-d₅ (25 μ g/mL), in acetonitrile was added to the plants and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. After the addition of ethyl acetate (1 mL) and extractive grinding (3 × 20 s with 40 s breaks; 6000 rpm) while using a bead beater (Precellys Homogenizer, Bertin Technologies, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France) the supernatant was membrane filtered (0.45 μ m), evaporated to dryness, resolved in acetonitrile (70 μ L) and injected into the LC–MS/MS-system (2 μ L).

For LC-MS/MS analysis a QTRAP 6500⁺ mass spectrometer (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) was used to acquire electrospray ionization (ESI) mass spectra and product ion spectra. Negative ions were detected in the scheduled multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode at an ion spray voltage at -4500 V (ESI⁻) and the following ion source parameters: curtain gas (35 psi), temperature (550°C), gas 1 (55 psi), gas 2 (65 psi), collision activated dissociation (-3 V), and entrance potential (-10 V). Positive ions were detected in the scheduled multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode at an ion spray voltage at 4500 V (ESI⁺) and the following ion source

parameters: curtain gas (35 psi), temperature (550°C), gas 1 (55 psi), gas 2 (65 psi), collision activated dissociation (3 V) and entrance potential (10 V). The column oven temperature was adjusted to 40°C.

For analysis of ABA, SA and JA, the MS/MS parameters were tuned to achieve fragmentation of the $[M-H]^-$ and $[M+H]^+$ molecular ions into specific product ions: $[M-H]^-$: (+)cis,trans-abscisic acid-d₀ 263 \rightarrow 153 (quantifier) and 263 \rightarrow 219 (qualifier), (+)cis,trans-abscisic acid-d₆ 269 \rightarrow 159 (quantifier) and 269 \rightarrow 225 (qualifier), salicylic acid-d₀ 137 \rightarrow 93 (quantifier) and 137 \rightarrow 65 (qualifier), salicylic acid-d₄ 141 \rightarrow 97 (quantifier) and 141 \rightarrow 69 (qualifier); $[M+H]^+$: (-)trans-jasmonic acid-d₀ 211 \rightarrow 133 (quantifier) and 211 \rightarrow 151 (qualifier), (-)trans-jasmonic acid-d₅ 216 \rightarrow 155 (quantifier) and 216 \rightarrow 173 (qualifier). For tuning experiments, acetonitrile/water (1/1; v/v) solutions of each analyte and internal standard were introduced by means of flow injection using a syringe pump.

Chromatography was performed by means of an ExionLC UHPLC system (Shimadzu Europa GmbH, Duisburg, Germany) consisting of two LC pump systems ExionLC AD, an ExionLC degasser, an ExionLC AD autosampler, an ExionLC AC column oven – 240 V, equipped with a Kinetex F5 column ($100 \times 2.1 \text{ mm}$, 100 Å, $1.7 \mu \text{m}$, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany) and an ExionLC controller. Operated with a flow rate of 0.4 mL/min using 0.1% formic acid in water (v/v) as solvent A and 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile (v/v) as solvent B, chromatography was performed with the following gradient: 0% B held for 2 min, increased in 1 min to 30% B, in 12 min to 30% B, increased in 0.5 min to 100% B, held 2 min isocratically at 100% B, decreased in 0.5 min to 0% B, held 3 min at 0% B. Data acquisition and instrumental control were performed using Analyst 1.6.3 software (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany).

2.2.11 Root growth assay

For root growth inhibition measurements, seedlings were sterilised as described in 2.2.2, dried, and sown on 1x Murashige Skoog medium including vitamins (Duchefa) with 0.1% Cefotaxim (Acros Organics) and 0.25% Carbenicillin (Roth) (see *Table 3*, *Table 6*). Seedlings were transferred after 6 days to treatment plates containing either 10 μ M ABA, 100 mM NaCl (Sigma-Aldrich), 40 μ M MeJA, 20 or 40 μ M IAA, 25 μ M LiCl, or 180 mM mannitol (Sigma-Aldrich), or to control MS plates. All plates were placed

upright in the growth chamber under long day conditions, and the seedlings were photographed 6 and 12 days post-transfer. Root length was measured using ImageJ, and the length on the treatment plates was normalised to the mock control for each genotype. The seedlings were harvested, pooled per genotype and treatment, and flash frozen in N_2 for RNA extraction.

2.2.11 Salt pouring assay

Plants were watered with distilled water or 300 mM NaCl three times with four day intervals starting from 4 weeks after germination until they had been treated for a period of 12 days. Leaf tissue was harvested 4 days after the final salt treatment, weighed to assess the impact on biomass, and flash frozen in liquid N_2 .

2.2.12 Gene expression analysis

RNA extraction

Either leaf tissue or whole seedlings were collected and flash frozen in liquid N₂ following experimental procedures. Frozen samples were then ground to a fine powder to allow for more efficient RNA extraction. After grinding, samples were resuspended in 1 ml chilled extraction buffer (*Table 5*), and vortexed to ensure thorough dispersion. Samples were shaken at 8°C for 10 minutes at 1300 rpm. 400 μ l ice cold chloroform was added to the samples and incubated on ice for 3 minutes before being centrifuged for 20 minutes at 13000 rpm at 4°C. The upper phase was then pipetted off, and added to 500 μ l chloroform, and again incubated on ice for 3 minutes before being centrifuged for 20 minutes at 13000 rpm at 4°C. The upper phase was again collected and added to 250 μ l 2-Propanol, and incubated on ice for 15 minutes, before centrifugation for 20 minutes at 13000 rpm at 4°C. The 2-Propanol was decanted, and the RNA pellet washed twice with 70% EtOH before being resuspended in Licrosolv water, and the concentration determined by measuring the absorption at 260 nm and 280 nm using a nanodrop spectrophotometer (*Table 10*). RNA was stored at -80°C before analysis.

cDNA synthesis

cDNA was synthesised from RNA using SuperScript II reverse transcriptase following the manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). The amount of RNA used for cDNA preparation was dependent on the number of qPCR samples required.

qPCR

To analyse RNA transcript abundance, reverse transcription quantitative PCR (RTqPCR) was utilized. A fluorescent dye (in this case SYBR green from the SensiMix Low-Rox kit) binds to double stranded DNA as it is formed during the PCR reaction. The resulting complex emits light at 520 nm. As the PCR product increases, so does the resulting fluorescent signal, allowing the amount of DNA to be quantified in real time. cDNA was used as the target for the qPCR, to analyse only sequences that had been transcribed into RNA. This allowed quantification of accumulation of the transcripts of genes of interest (see *Table 9*). Ubiquitin was used as a standardised housekeeping gene against which other genes were quantified. qPCRs were performed using 7500 Real Time PCR System from Applied Biosystems (Darmstadt, Germany) and initial analysis was performed using 7500 Fast System SDS software (see *Table 10*, *Table 11*).

2.2.13 Complementation line generation

Agrobacterium tumefaciens containing transgenic constructs in which *LLP3* was expressed under its native promoter were generated during the doctoral thesis of Elisabeth Pabst. These were then used as the starting point for transgenic line generation.

Floral Dip

Arabidopsis plants to be used for floral dip were sown as described above (see section 2.2.1) and were maintained under long day conditions. The initial flowering stem was picked out, to produce multiple stems per plant. Plants were used for floral dip when

several buds were visible, and any buds with already visible petals were removed prior to dipping. At day 0, the required *Agrobacterium* glycerol stock was removed from the -80°C storage and a sample spread on an LB plate containing the appropriate antibiotics (see Table 3, Table 6). Bacteria were grown for 2 days at 28°C before being passaged to a new LB plate and grown for another 2 days. If bacterial growth was at a satisfactory level, the day prior to the floral dip 5 LB plates were inoculated per construct and allowed to grow overnight. The following day, bacteria were collected from the plates and suspended in 30 ml LB media until an OD₆₀₀ of between 1.0 and 2.0 was achieved. The *Arabidopsis* plants were then suspended in the *Agrobacterium floral dip* solution (*Table 5*), and gently swirled for 20 seconds to ensure a thorough coating. Plants were then immediately lain on their sides in a covered tray to ensure humidity, and allowed to dry for 14 to 24 hours. Once dry, plants were placed upright and grown under long day conditions in the greenhouse until they set seed. Seeds were collected and stored as described in 2.1.1 until needed.

Transgenic seed selection

To select seeds containing the transgenic construct, seeds were sown on soil as described in section 2.2.1. At 8, 15 and 22 days post germination, seedlings were sprayed with diluted Basta (200g/L Glufosinate ammonium) until drop off. After treatment, surviving seedlings were repotted and grown under long day conditions. At approximately 4-6 weeks post germination, leaf tissue was harvested and used for qPCR to assess the transcript abundance of the *LLP3* transgene. New primers were designed using Primer blast (*Table 11*), to specifically target the transgene (genotyping primers used previously for the *llp3* line were ineffective, as they targeted the 3'-UTR which was not present in the transgene). Plants with the highest transcript abundance were selected for continued breeding. To allow breeding to homozygosity, segregation analysis was utilised in the T2 plants. A set number of seeds were sown, and after BASTA treatment lines were selected that showed a survival ratio of 3:1. This indicated a single insertion point, and these lines were again assessed for transcript abundance and used for T3. Due to time constraints, some initial experiments were conducted using the T3 seeds.

The new complementation lines are henceforth referred to as *llp3-LLP3:LLP3*. The three main complementation lines selected for this work were *llp3-LLP3:LLP3-3.02*, *4.01* and *8.01*.

2.2.14 Statistics

Data was analysed in GraphPad Prism 8 for Windows. If necessary, outliers were removed using a Grubbs' test (α =0.05). Normal distribution of the data was checked using D'Agostino Pearson (α =0.01). Finally, data was tested using one-way ANOVA corrected for multiple comparisons. Data that showed normal distribution was tested for significance using an unpaired one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test, and data that was not normally distributed was tested using a Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn's multiple comparison test. Standard deviation is shown for results in which an example experiment is shown, standard error of the mean is shown for graphs with merged replicates.

3. Results

3.1 The role of EDS1 and LLP1-3 in SA-mediated immunity and local defence

SA is a key component for plant defence against biotrophic pathogens, in both local and systemic tissues, and is associated with the central signalling regulator *Enhanced* Disease Susceptibility1 (EDS1) (Vlot et al., 2009; Bhandari et al., 2019). To investigate the responsiveness of LLP1-3 to treatment with exogenous SA, and whether this response was EDS1-dependent, both Col-0 and eds1-2 knockout plants were spray-treated with 1 mM SA. Treated tissues were collected after 24 h, and the levels of LLP1, LLP2, and LLP3 transcripts were analysed by RT-qPCR. In concurrence with Armijo et al. (2013), SA induced significant upregulation of *LLP1* transcripts (Figure 10). As previously shown (Breitenbach et al., 2014), this effect was not dependent on *EDS1*, with a similar fold increase of *LLP1* transcripts after SA treatment of the eds1-2 knockout mutant. In contrast to Lyou et al (2009), who detected a slight reduction in LLP3 transcript abundance after treatment of plants with 50 µM SA, we did not observe a reproducible down regulation of LLP3. Similarly, LLP2 transcript levels did not significantly change in response to SA in either genotype at any time point. Thus, LLP1 transcript accumulation, and not that of its homologues *LLP2* and *LLP3*, is regulated by SA, and this regulation is independent of EDS1.



Figure 10: The transcriptional response of LLP1-3 to exogenous SA. 3-week-old plants of the genotypes Col-0 and *eds1-2* were spraytreated with 1 mM SA, and after 24 hours leaves were detached for RNA extraction and RT-qPCR. Data presented are the log₂(mean) transcript levels of the *LLP* genes indicated below the panels relative to *UBI* and normalised to the appropriate mock controls ±SEM of three biologically independent replicates (one-way ANOVA). LLP1-3 are not required for normal SA-induced local immunity and defence gene expression, as SA treatment can reduce pathogen growth in both *llp1-1* and RNAi:LLP1-3 (Breitenbach et al., 2014; Pabst, 2018). However, there are multiple pathways involved in local defence (such as the EDS1-mediated SA-independent pathway). It is therefore possible that although SA-signalling is functional, local responses to a pathogen may be altered. To test whether *LLP1-3* were still required for a complete response against hemibiotrophic pathogens, local growth patterns of the avirulent Pst strain AvrRpt2 were tested to assess ETI induction. Mutation of LLP1 was previously shown to impair SAR, but not local responses against virulent or avirulent Pst (Breitenbach et al., 2014). Here, the RNAi:LLP1-3 line C3 13-1 showed a similar response. Plants were inoculated with Pst AvrRpt2, and bacterial titres were monitored at 2, 4, and 7 days post-inoculation (dpi). The bacteria grew to comparable titres in Col-0 and RNAi:LLP1-3, and to slightly higher titres in the eds1-2 mutant, with levels increasing at day 2 and 4, and levelling off at around 10⁷ CFUs/cm² by day 7 (Figure 11). These results were similar to those seen in C3 13-1 in response to *Pst* and *Pst AvrRpm1* (Pabst, 2018). Thus, the data suggest that reduced transcript accumulation of LLP1, LLP2, and LLP3 does not compromise local immune responses against biotrophic pathogens.



Figure 11: LLP1-3 do not affect bacterial growth titres in infected leaves. Col-0 (wildtype), *eds1-2*, and *RNAi:LLP1-3* (line C3 13-1) leaves were infiltrated with the avirulent

Pst strain *Pst AvrRpt2*, and bacterial titres were measured at 2, 4, and 7 days post-infection. A representative experiment is shown (n=3). Experiment was repeated three times. Box plots represent the average bacterial titres ±min and max values. Differences were analysed using a one-way ANOVA.

3.2 Generation of *LLP3:LLP3* complementation lines in the *llp3* mutant background

Extensive work has previously been completed on the role of LLP1 in SAR and its associated signalling pathways (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014; Wenig *et al.*, 2019). LLP2 and LLP3 are thought to have similar or additive functions to LLP1 (Pabst, 2018). Because there are currently no T-DNA insertion lines available for *LLP2* and efforts to silence *LLP2* transcript accumulation have so far remained unsuccessful, this work focuses on *LLP3*.

In previous work a single T-DNA mutant, *llp3*, was identified (Breitenbach, 2012), but a second, independent mutant allele was not available. To ensure that results seen in the *llp3* plants were due to the disruption of the *LLP3* gene, and not to secondary, off-target effects, the *llp3* mutation was complemented by transformation of a full-length, functional copy of LLP3 under the LLP3 native promoter in the Ilp3 mutant background. After floral dip, multiple independently transformed lines were selected. Further glufosinate treatment and segregation analysis was used to select plants across different generations to identify lines that were homozygous for the LLP3:LLP3 transgene. To assess the levels of expression, RNA was extracted from individual plants and LLP3 transcript levels quantified using RT-gPCR. Four independent lines with the highest expression of LLP3 from three independent transformation events were selected for preliminary experiments. These lines were designated LLP3-3.01, LLP3-3.02, LLP3-4.01, and LLP3-8.01. LLP3-3.01 had the highest level of LLP3 expression in the T2 generation with approximately 45% transcript levels of wildtype (the *llp3* knockout mutant showed 0.9% and 1.1% as compared to wildtype levels in two repeats). *LLP3-3.02* showed approximately 30% of the level of LLP3 gene transcription that was seen in wildtype, LLP3-4.01 showed 29%, and *LLP3-8.01* showed ~10% (Figure 12 A). Other independent lines with lower levels of LLP3 expression were also tested and maintained in case of loss of the transgene expression in T3 in the four selected lines (Figure 12 B). Merged replicates

from different plants showed that while *LLP3* transcript accumulation levels in the complementation lines were lower than in wildtype plants, they were substantially higher than in the *llp3* mutant (Figure 12 C). Therefore, in the following these lines were used for experiments to elucidate the function of *LLP3* and support findings in *llp3* mutant plants.

A note: although the lines 3.01, 3.02, 4.01 and 8.01 consistently show higher expression of *LLP3* transcripts than the *llp3* knockout mutant, it appears that in later generations some of the lines, particularly 4.01, lost BASTA resistance. Nevertheless, the lines still show complementation of the *llp3* mutant phenotype. It may be the case that the qPCR primers are also able to amplify either *LLP1* or *LLP2* transcripts, and that these genes are upregulated to compensate for the loss of *LLP3*. However, it is not clear why this would occur in only the complementation lines and not the *llp3* mutant. Therefore, although the reason for the loss of herbicide resistance has not been fully resolved, I believe that these lines still provide us with valid experimental results due to the elevated *LLP3* expression, and thus enable conclusions on the function of LLP3.



Figure 12: *LLP3* **transcript accumulation in** *LLP3:LLP3* **complementation lines generated in the llp3 mutant background**. (A and B) Shown is the relative quantification of *LLP3* transcripts relative to UBI compared to a positive control (Col-0) and a negative control (*llp3*). A value of 1=wildtype transcript levels. Each sample represents an RNA extraction from an individual plant from 3 independently transformed lines (3, 4, and 8). Ten T2 plants were selected for analysis from each line (n=1). (A) shows the transcript levels of *LLP3* in T2 lines. Lines 3.01, 3.02, 4.01 and 8.01 were selected for experimental use. (B) shows the *LLP3* transcript level in the lines reserved for backup (5, 6 and 9). (C) *LLP3* transcript levels in *llp3* and *llp3-LLP3:LLP3* complementation lines 3.02 and 4.01. *LLP3* transcript accumulation was determined in 5-to-6-week-old plants and normalised to that of *UBI. l3-L3:L3* 3.02 and *l3-L3:L3* 4.01 are two biologically independent transgenic lines carrying the *LLP3:LLP3* transgene

driving ectopic *LLP3* expression from its native promoter in the *llp3* mutant background. Bars represent the average of the indicated results \pm SEM (one-way ANOVA, n=4 for Col-0 and *llp3*, n=3 for *l3-L3:L3* 3.02 and *l3-L3:L3* 4.01, F=51.41, DF=13).

3.3 The role of LLP1-3 in systemic immunity

A lack of change in defence in the local tissue does not preclude an altered defence response in systemic tissues, as there are several pathways involved only in SAR (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). It was previously shown that SAR is abolished in *llp1-1*, and there is enhanced systemic susceptibility in RNAi:LLP1-3 (Pabst, 2018). This indicates that not only is either LLP2 or LLP3 also required for SAR, but there is an additional interaction that negatively effects systemic defence. As mentioned above, there is no single mutant to investigate the function of LLP2. However, using the *llp3* and LLP3:LLP3 complementation lines, I was able to examine the role of LLP3 in SAR. To this end, the plants were initially infiltrated in two leaves with either Pst AvrRpm1 or a 10 mM MgCl₂ mock control solution. Three days later, two leaves distal to the initial infection were infiltrated with virulent Pst. After another four days, the resulting in planta Pst titres were determined. In wildtype plants, a local Pst AvrRpm1 infection reduced *Pst* growth in the systemic tissues compared to that in mock-treated plants, indicating the establishment of SAR (Figure 13). In the *llp3* plants there was no significant difference between plants pretreated with Pst compared to those pretreated with MgCl₂ (Figure 13). Therefore, *llp3* plants were unable to establish a SAR response. In *llp3* plants where *LLP3* was ectopically expressed under its own promoter (3.02 and 4.01), a reduction in bacterial titres was again observed at similar levels to those seen in wildtype (Figure 13). Thus, ectopic expression of LLP3 complements the SAR-deficient phenotype of the *llp3* mutant. This supports my hypothesis that *LLP3* is required for a normal SAR response.



Figure 13: Systemic defence responses are compromised in the absence of *LLP3***.** SAR assay. Plants from different Col-0 and various transgenic lines were infiltrated locally with either *Pst AvrRpm1* (SAR) or with 10mM MgCl2 mock control (Mock). Plant lines included *llp3* mutants and 2 independently transformed complementation lines carrying a transgene driving *LLP3* expression from its native promoter (3.02 and 4.01). Experiments were performed by Marion Wenig. Box plots represent average *Pst* titres in systemic leaves at 4 days post- inoculation (dpi) from 4 biologically independent experiments, including 3 replicates each ±min and max values. The letters above the box plots indicate statistically significant differences (Kruskal-Wallis test).

3.4 Involvement of LLP1-3 in the SA-independent SAR pathway

Multiple signalling pathways contribute towards systemic resistance pathways in *Arabidopsis*. As well as an SA-mediated component, a parallel pathway involving Pip is also required for the full distal response (Návarová *et al.*, 2012). Downstream in this pathway is the C₉ dicarboxylic acid AzA (Wittek *et al.*, 2014). In order to place the function of *LLP1-3* in the Pip pathway, local leaves were infiltrated with 1 mM AzA solution, and *Pst* growth was monitored after 4 days compared to a mock treated control. This showed that AzA is able to induce systemic resistance in both Col-0 and *llp1-1*. However, this resistance was lost in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines, indicating that while LLP1 is upstream, either or both of LLP2 and LLP3 are required downstream for a normal defence response (Figure 14). Further components of this pathway and their relative positions to LLP1 are discussed in (Wenig *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 14: AzA-induced systemic resistance is not dependent on *LLP1*. Local leaves from wildtype (Col-0), *llp1* mutants and *RNAi:LLP1-3* (C3 13-1) plants were infiltrated with either AzA or a MgCl₂ solution. After 3 days systemic leaves were challenged with a virulent *Pst* strain, and bacterial titres were measured after four days. Box plots represent average *Pst* titres in systemic leaves at 4 days post-inoculation (dpi) from a representative biological replicate \pm min and max values (n=3). The experiment was reproduced 3 times with similar results. Differences were analysed using a one-way ANOVA.

3.5 LLP1-3 influence responses to abiotic stress

3.5.1 Transcript response to ABA

Neither *LLP2* nor *LLP3* showed a significant response to SA treatment. However, a reduced level of the transcripts resulted in compromised systemic resistance against *Pst* as well as reduced *PR1* transcript accumulation in the systemic tissue during SAR. Importantly, the SA signalling pathway does not exist in isolation, which necessitates the consideration of interaction between biotic defence and other environmental stresses. Yasuda et al. (2008) showed that ABA, the key phytohormone controlling responses to abiotic stress, and ABA-dependent responses to salinity stress compromised SA signalling and potentially SAR. In order to investigate whether ABA also had an impact upon the transcript levels of *LLP1*, *LLP2*, and *LLP3*, plants were spray-treated with 100µM ABA and tissues were harvested 24 h later. In Col-0 plants, *LLP1* transcript levels were reduced in ABA- compared to mock-treated plants, while

the levels of *LLP3* transcripts were increased, albeit not significantly (Figure 15 A). This response was also seen after a longer treatment with ABA. Seedlings were germinated on MS plates, and then transferred after 6 days to MS plates supplemented with 10µM ABA. When seedlings were harvested after 12 days, they also showed a significant decrease in *LLP1* and *LLP2* transcripts on ABA compared to control plates, whereas *LLP3* transcripts were not significantly changed (Figure 15 B). In a similar way to the response of *LLP1* to SA, the ABA-induced changes in *LLP1* transcript accumulation was not dependent on *EDS1*, with transcripts also being significantly upregulated in *eds1-2* (Figure 15 A). *LLP3* transcript levels were not significantly upregulated or downregulated in either Col-0 or *eds1-2*. *LLP2* transcript levels were not significantly although not significantly, in response to ABA in both wildtype and *eds1-2* mutant plants (Figure 15 A).



Figure 15: LLP1-3 transcript accumulation after ABA treatment is EDS1-independent. (A) 3-week-old plants of the genotypes Col-0 and eds1-2 were spray-treated with 100 µM ABA, and after 24 hours leaves were detached for RNA extraction and RTaPCR. Data presented are the log₂(mean) transcript levels of the LLP genes indicated below the panel relative UBI and normalised to to the appropriate mock controls ±SEM of three biologically independent replicates (one-way ANOVA).

(B) *LLP1* and *LLP2* transcript levels decrease in response to salt and ABA. Col-0 seedlings were harvested 12 days after transfer to media supplemented with 100 mM NaCl or 10 μ M ABA for RNA extraction and RT-qPCR. Data presented are the log2(mean) transcript level relative to *UBI* normalised to mock control ±SEM of three biologically independent experiments (one-way ANOVA).

3.5.2 LLP1-3 response to salt stress

ABA is an important phytohormone in abiotic stress signalling. Therefore, it seemed possible that if *LLP1* and *LLP2* are transcriptionally regulated by ABA, the *RNAi:LLP1- 3* plants may show an altered phenotype under abiotic stress. To test for aberrant reactions to high salinity, seedlings were germinated and after 6 days transferred to treatment plates with 100mM NaCl. The length of the primary roots was measured at 6-and 12-days post transfer and normalised to those on control plates (to which
Results

seedlings had also undergone transfer). While *llp1* plants had marginally longer roots than wildtype on control plates (Figure 16 C), the plants of all genotypes showed a significant reduction in root length when grown on salt compared to control conditions. Notably, both *llp1-1* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants showed more pronounced salt-induced root growth inhibition as compared to wildtype plants, and *RNAi:llp1-3* was significantly more affected than *llp1-1* (Figure 16 A,B).





NaCl treatment plates was normalised to root length of the same genotype on control plates. Data presented is the normalised root length at day 6 and day 12 after transfer, \pm min and max values. Differences were analysed with one-way ANOVA, (Day 6 Col-0 n=48, *llp1-1* n=38, C3 13-1 n=40, Day 12 Col-0 n=48, *llp1-1* n=29, C3 13-1 n=31.). This experiment was repeated 7 times with similar results. (C) The primary root length of *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines (C3 13-1 and C3 12-1) on control plates 12 days after transfer \pm SEM (Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric, Col-0 n=447, *llp1-1* n=200, C3 13-1 n=239 from 9 biologically independent experiments, Col-0 n=56, C3 13-1 n=48, C3 12-2 n=60 from 3 biologically independent experiments).

3.5.3 LLP3 during abiotic stress

The loss of all three LLP proteins results in a more exaggerated response to abiotic stress compared to the mutation of the single *LLP1* gene. Therefore, it is plausible that either LLP2 or LLP3 have an additional role in abiotic stress tolerance. Because of this, the *llp3* mutant was tested to see whether it showed a similar inhibition of root growth to the *llp1-1* plants when placed under salt stress. *llp3* seedlings consistently showed a reduction in primary root growth when transferred to MS media containing 100 mM NaCl at both 6 and 12 days post transfer (Figure 17). To verify that this effect was caused by the lack of a functional LLP3 gene, the complementation lines LLP3-3.01, LLP3-3.02, LLP3-4.01 and LLP3-8.01 were also tested in these experiments. At both 6 and 12 days post transfer, both LLP3-3.01 and LLP3-.801 showed root lengths that were not significantly different to the wild type control. *LLP3-3.02* and *LLP3-4.01* showed root growth that was significantly shorter than Col-0, but significantly longer than the *llp3* mutant (Figure 17). Thus, the *LLP3* transgene is, at least partially, successfully complementing the exaggerated root shortening phenotype caused by the loss of the native LLP3 gene in Ilp3 mutant plants. This suggests that the mutation in *llp3* is responsible for the observed primary root growth inhibition in *Ilp3* mutant seedlings, although we must further clarify the issue on lack of herbicide resistance in the complementation lines before a definitive result can be provided.



Figure 17: *LLP3* **is required for normal root growth under salt stress.** Seedlings from wildtype (Col-0), *llp3* mutants and *LLP3::LLP3* complementation lines (3.01, 3.02, 4.01, and 8.01) were grown on MS plates and transferred to plates with 100 mM NaCl after 6 days. Primary root length was measured 6 and 12 days after transfer. Data shown are the average primary root length ±min and max values of four biologically independent experiments. For Day 6, Col-0 n=83, *llp3* n=86, 3.01 n=95, 3.02 n=96, 4.01 n=89, 8.01 n=94. Day 12 Col-0 n=81, *llp3* n=84, 3.01 n=90, 3.02 n=91, 4.01 n=84, 8.01 n=92. Kruskall-Wallis was used for Day 6, one-way ANOVA for Day 12.

3.5.4 Salt-associated growth inhibition was not due to either osmotic stress, ion toxicity, or auxin signalling

NaCl can affect plant growth via a number of different effects. To ensure that the reduced root growth in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines was indeed due to a hormonally-regulated response, seedlings were also transferred to plates containing either mannitol or Lithium Chloride (LiCl). The reduced root length phenotype was not observed under these conditions (Figure 18 A), excluding the premise that salt-associated phenotypes were due to either ion toxicity or osmotic stress, respectively. Changes in NaCl concentration have also been shown to affect meristematic structure

via redox regulation, and thereby change growth patterns in roots (Jiang *et al.*, 2016). This is partly due to a change in the distribution of auxin transporters. We therefore investigated whether the changes in root length after NaCl treatment may be due to misregulation of auxin signalling. 6 day old seedlings were transferred to plates containing either 20 μ M or 40 μ M indole-3 acetic acid (IAA), a naturally occurring class of auxin. Although for all genotypes there was a decrease in root length after treatment, there was no significant difference in length between wildtype and the transgenic lines (Figure 18 B).

This indicates that although exogenous auxin treatment does impact the remodelling of root growth, it does so via a mechanism that is separate from that induced by NaCl treatment, and is thus in a pathway not involving any of the LLP1, 2, or 3.



Figure 18: LLP1-3 do not affect root growth in response to exogenous **IAA, LiCl or mannitol**. A) Seedlings from wildtype (Col-0), *llp1* mutants and RNAi:LLP1-3 (C3 13-1) were grown on MS plates and transferred to plates with 25 mM LiCl or 180 mM mannitol after 6 days. Primary root length was measured at 12 days after transfer. Shown are the normalised primary root lengths at 12 days post transfer. Differences were analysed using a one-way ANOVA. (LiCl Col-0 n=43, *llp1-1* n=20, C3 13-1 n=8, Mannitol Col-0 n=44, *llp1-1* n=23, C3 13-1 n=10 from 1 biological replicate) B) Seedlings were grown as described in (A) (plus *llp3*

mutants) and transferred to plates containing 20 or 40 μ M IAA. Primary root length was measured at 6 and 12 days post transfer, and normalised to root length on control.(Day 6 20 μ M IAA Col-0 n=18, *llp1-1* n= 12, *llp3* n= 14, C3 13-1 n=6, 40 μ M IAA Col-0 n=19, *llp1-1* n=12, *llp3* n=14, C3 13-1 n=6, 40 μ M IAA Col-0 n=19, *llp1-1* n=12, *llp3* n=14, C3 13-1 n=6, Day 12 20 μ M IAA Col-0 n=18, *llp1-1* n=12, *llp3* n=15, C3 13-1 n=6, 40 μ M IAA Col-0 n=16, *llp1-1* n=11, *llp3* n=15, C3 13-1 n=5 from one biological experiment).

3.5.5 LLP1-3 under salt stress in mature plants

The described sensitivity of *LLP1-3* transgenic plants to salt was primarily observed in seedlings grown on sterile media. As phytohormone signalling interactions can change significantly during different developmental stages, a salt pouring assay was also performed (with Gerardo Perez). 5-week-old plants were harvested after being poured with 300 mM NaCl solution every 4 days for a 12 day period. After harvesting, plants were weighed, and tissue samples taken for gene expression analysis. Although the salt treatment resulted in a significant reduction in biomass, there was no significant difference between Col-0 and either *llp1-1*, *llp3* or C3 13-1 (Figure 19).



Figure 19: Mature *Arabidopsis* **biomass is reduced after salt pouring, but is not affected by** *LLP1-3.* **Data shown are the average biomasses of** *Arabidopsis* **plants of wildtype (Col-0),** *llp1* **and** *llp3* **mutants, and** *RNAi:LLP1-3* **(C3 13-1) after pouring for 12 days with 300 mM NaCl. For Col-0,** *llp3* **and** *RNAi:LLP1-3* **n=5, for** *llp1-1* **n=4. Bars show the average fresh weight of biological replicates normalised to the untreated control ± SEM.**

3.5.6 *LLP1-3* response to exogenous ABA treatment

We next tested if the exaggerated salt-induced root growth inhibition in *llp1-1* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* seedlings was associated with changes in ABA-mediated stress signalling, and whether the results seen on NaCl plates could be replicated by treatment of seedlings with exogenous ABA. First, sterile-grown seedlings were transferred to treatment plates supplemented with 10 μ M ABA. Primary root length was measured at 6 and 12 days after transfer, and normalised to the root length on

control plates. At both day 6 and day 12, *RNAi:LLP1-3* showed no change in root growth compared to wildtype. At day 6 *llp1-1* showed no change, and was slightly reduced at day 12, but this result was not consistent across replicates (Figure 20 A). On the other hand, the *llp3* mutant showed consistently reduced root growth on ABA plates, which could be reversed by ectopic expression of *LLP3*, with 3.02, 4.01 and 8.01 all showing no difference in root growth compared to wildtype (Figure 20 B). This indicates that LLP3 may be sensitive to ABA signalling in a function distinct from LLP1. However, this sensitivity is affected by either *LLP1* or *LLP2*, as the exaggerated shortening is not seen in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines. Transcript levels of *RAB18*, an ABA marker gene, were induced by both salt and ABA in all genotypes, and the level of induction was not different in *llp1-1* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* compared to wildtype seedlings after 12 days of treatment, nor in *llp3* or its complementation lines (Figure 20 C and D).

Taken together, the data suggest that LLP1 and possibly LLP2 compromise plant responses to salinity stress in an ABA-independent manner. We therefore posit that the increased sensitivity of the *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines to high salinity is most likely mechanistically independent of ABA. LLP3 does appear to influence root shortening in response to ABA, but as there was no change in the ABA marker gene tested, it is unlikely that this is directly due to the ABA pathway.



Figure 20: ABA-associated root shortening is only affected by LLP3, not LLP1 or 2, and does not affect ABA marker genes. (A) LLP1 does not affect normal root growth in response to exogenous ABA. Seedlings were grown on MS plates and transferred to plates with 10 µM ABA after 6 days. Primary root length was measured 6 and 12 days after transfer. Data shown are the average primary root length ±min and max values of four biologically independent experiments. Day 6 Col-0 n=321, *llp1-1* n=136, C3 13-1 (*RNAi:LLP1-3*) n=125. Day 12 Col-0 n=290, *llp1-1* n=105, C3 13-1 n=138. One-way ANOVA. (B) *LLP3* is required for normal root growth in response to exogenous ABA. Assays were performed as described in (A) with seedlings from wildtype (Col-0), *llp3* mutants and *LLP3::LLP3* complementation lines (3.01, 3.02, 4.01, and 8.01). Data shown are the average primary root length ±min and max values of four biologically independent experiments. For Day 6, Col-0 n=77, Ilp3=86, 3.01 n=89, 3.02 n=98, 4.01 n=94, 8.01 n=97. For Day 12, Col-0 n=85, *llp3* n=90, 3.01 n=96, 3.02 n=100, 4.01 n=97, 8.01 n=97. One-way ANOVA was used for day 6, Kruskal Wallis test was used for day 12. (C) LLP1-3 do not affect ABA downstream signalling components. Seedlings from 100 mM NaCl and 10 µM ABA treatment plates were used for RNA extraction and RT-qPCR after 12 days. Data presented is the log₂(mean) transcript level of RAB18 relative

to *UBI* and normalised to a mock treated control in four biological replicates, \pm SEM. (D) *LLP3* does not affect ABA downstream signalling components. Data presented is the log₂(mean) transcript level of *RAB18* relative to *UBI* and normalised to a mock treated control in four biological replicates, \pm SEM. Data were analysed with one-way ANOVA, but no significant differences were found.

3.6 LLP3 responds to MeJA, and may be involved in JA-mediated abiotic defence responses

Another candidate pathway that has been shown to be involved in both biotic defence and salt stress tolerance is the JA pathway (Ismail *et al.*, 2012; Valenzuela *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2017*c*), along with one of its key transcription factors, ERF1 (Cheng *et al.*, 2013). Lyou et al. (2009) showed that in *Arabidopsis* MeJA treatment is associated with an increase in *LLP3* transcript levels. Here, *Arabidopsis* plants were spray-treated with 100 μ M MeJA, and after 24 h transcript accumulation of *LLP1*-3 was assessed via RT-qPCR. The accumulation of *LLP1* and *LLP2* transcripts was not significantly changed by MeJA. In contrast, there was a significantly increased accumulation of *LLP3* transcripts in both Col-0 and *eds1-2* plants, suggesting that MeJA induces *LLP3* in an *EDS1*-independent manner (Figure 21).



Figure 21: LLP3 transcript accumulation is induced by MeJA. 3week-old plants of the genotypes Col-0 and eds1-2 were spray-treated with 100 μ M MeJA, and after 24 hours leaves were detached for RNA extraction and RT-qPCR. Data presented are the $loq_2(mean)$ transcript levels of the LLP genes indicated below the panel relative to UBI and normalised to the appropriate mock controls ±SEM of three biologically independent replicates (one-way ANOVA).



3.6.1 Root growth in response to exogenous JA

Figure 22: *LLP1-3* are involved in root shortening in response to MeJA. (A) Seedlings from wildtype (Col-0), *llp1* mutants and *RNAi:LLP1-3* (C3 13-1) were germinated on control MS media, and after 6 days transferred to either further control plates, or to MS plates supplemented with 40 μ M MeJA. Plotted are the root lengths for each line normalised to their mock controls ±min and max values for a representative experiment, which was repeated 5 times with similar results. (one-way ANOVA, n=28-30). (B) *LLP3* is required for normal root growth in response to exogenous MeJA. Seedlings from wildtype (Col-0), *llp3* mutants and *LLP3::LLP3* complementation lines (3.01, 3.02, 4.01, and 8.01) were grown on MS plates and transferred to plates with 40 μ M MeJA after 6 days. Data shown are the average primary root length after 6 and 12 days ±min and max values of four biologically independent experiments. For Day 6, Col-0 n=71, *llp3* n=85, 3.01 n=100, 3.02 n=94, 4.01 n=97, 8.01 n=95. For Day 12, Col-0 n=63, *llp3* n=73, 3.01 n=98, 3.02 n=94, 4.01 n=97, 8.01 n=95. One-way ANOVA was used for day 6, Kruskal Wallis was used for day 12.

I subsequently tested if compromised JA signalling could have been responsible for the root growth inhibition phenotype of the *RNAi:LLP1-3* seedlings on salt. To this end, I again used the root growth inhibition assay, but this time the treatment plates were supplemented with 40 μ M MeJA. This treatment induced similar results as treatment with NaCl. There was a shortening of roots of all plant genotypes when grown on plates supplemented with MeJA as compared to control. Both the *llp1-1* mutant and *RNAi:LLP1-3* seedlings showed significantly enhanced root growth inhibition compared to wildtype 12 days after transfer (Figure 22 A). Therefore, we can produce a phenocopy of the effect of high NaCl on root growth by treating the seedlings with exogenous MeJA. To see whether the presence of *LLP3* also contributed to this effect, we performed the root growth assay as described above with both the *llp3* knockout mutant and the *LLP3* complementation lines. At both 6 and 12 days post transfer to MS media containing 40 μ M MeJA, the *llp3* plants showed significantly reduced primary root growth when compared to Col-0, as was also seen in the *llp1-1* plants (Figure 22 A). After 6 days, all of the *LLP3*-complementation lines showed no significant difference in root growth compared to the Col-0 wildtype. After 12 days, although all the *LLP3*-complementation lines were significantly shorter than Col-0, they were significantly longer than the *llp3* mutant (Figure 22 B). This indicates that complementation of the *LLP3* gene can at least partially restore the normal root growth in response to exogenous MeJA treatment. I can therefore conclude that LLP3 as well as LLP1 has a role in MeJA signalling, which is associated with normal abiotic stress responses.

JA downstream signalling pathways in the seedlings after 12 days on MeJAsupplemented plates were also aberrant in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* seedlings. Transcript accumulation of the JA marker gene *PDF1.2* was increased 12 days after transfer of wildtype and *llp1-1* seedlings from control to MeJA plates. By contrast, the induction of *PDF1.2* transcript accumulation was compromised in both of the *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines C3 13-1 and C3 12-2 (Figure 23A), while the transcript accumulation of *VSP2* remained unchanged (Figure 23B).



Figure 23: JA-marker genes show different responses to exogenous MeJA in the absence of *LLP1-3*. (A) *PDF1.2* transcript accumulation is reduced in *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines in response to MeJA. Seedlings from (Figure 13 A) were harvested after 12 days on treatment media, and used for RNA extraction and RT-qPCR. Data presented are the log₂ mean transcript levels relative to *UBI* normalised to their own mock control \pm SEM. (one-way ANOVA, n=3 for Col-0 and C3 13-1, n=2 for *llp1-1*, n=1 C3 12-2). (B) *VSP2* transcript accumulation is not significantly changed in *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines in response to NaCl or MeJA, as described for (A). Data presented are the log₂ mean transcript levels relative to *UBI* normalised to their own mock control \pm SEM. (One-way ANOVA, n=4-5 for Col-0 and C3 13-1, n=3 for *llp1-1* and C3 12-2).

Results

3.6.2 Proteins associated with LLP1 in other pathways are not required for NaCl tolerance

As *LLP1* was recently shown to be involved in a positive feedback loop with pip and monoterpenes (Wenig *et al.*, 2019), mutant lines for other components of this pathway were also tested for their sensitivity to NaCl, in order to determine whether the observed susceptibility towards salt stress was associated with the role of *LLP1* in these pathways. Neither *ggpps12* (*geranyl geranyl diphosphate synthase12*), *tps24-1* or *tps24-2* (*terpene synthase24*) (monoterpene synthesis mutants), nor *ald1* (*agd2-like defence response protein 1*, a pipecolic acid synthesis mutant) showed a similar response to the *llp1-3* lines (Figure 24). These components in *LLP1*-associated signalling pathways also had no influence on root shortening mediated by exogenous



Figure 24: The interaction of the *LLPs* and root growth under salt stress or MeJA treatment is not associated with any other components of the *LLP1*-dependent monoterpene feedback loop. Seedlings carrying mutations in genes that are associated with monoterpene synthesis and signalling (*ggpps12, tps24 055, tps24 127*) and Pip biosynthesis (*ald1*) were transferred to treatment plates containing either 100 mM NaCl or 40 μ M MeJA and the primary root length measured after 12 days. Data shown are the average primary root length normalised to a mock-treated control ±min and max values. Data was analysed with Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric data), Col-0 n=87, n=103. *ggpps12 208* n=117, n=117. *tps12 055* n=80, n=117. *tps12 127* n=85, n=118. *ald1* n=110, n=116 from 2 experiments.

MeJA treatment (Figure 24). Together, the data suggest that LLP1 is involved in the tolerance of salt stress of sterile-grown seedlings, in a manner that is independent of its previously identified functions in monoterpene recognition and feedback signalling.

3.6.3 Phytohormone content of transgenic lines under abiotic stress

To determine whether the loss of *LLP1-3* was affecting gene expression through changes in hormone biosynthesis, or through downstream interactions, the net content of SA, JA and ABA was measure in the transgenic lines after pouring with 100 mM NaCl (see section 3.4.5). Although there was an increase in net JA and ABA content after salt pouring, there was not a significant difference between wildtype and the transgenic lines (Figure 25 A, B and C). The net content of ABA in seedlings grown on sterile media containing 100 mM NaCl was also quantified. Again, although there was an increase in the net content of ABA after the seedlings had been subjected to salt stress, there was no significant difference between Col-0 and *RNAi:LLP1-3* (Figure 25 D). This indicates that the signalling aberration in the JA network does not occur due to changes in the biosynthesis of either JA, SA, or ABA, and that any crosstalk occurs in the pathways downstream of phytohormone biosynthesis.

Thus, the three LLP protein appear to promote JA-associated salt tolerance in a process that is occurring downstream of JA accumulation.



Figure 25: Transgenic lines show no significant difference in key phytohormone content after treatment by salt pouring. (A-C) 3 week old plants form either wildtype(Col-0), *llp1* mutants or *RNAi:LLP1-3* (C3 13-1) were treated with 100 mM NaCl pouring for 12 days, and then tissues were harvested and flash frozen for LC-MS analysis. (A) SA content does not significantly change after salt treatment. (B) JA content increases in all lines after salt treatment. The transgenic lines show a trend that is not significant, towards lower JA levels. (C) Both wildtype and transgenic lines show a comparable increase in ABA content after salt treatment. For (A-C) LC-MS was performed by Richard Hammerl and Corinna Dawid. (D) ABA content does not change in seedlings grown on MS with 100 mM NaCl for 12 days. LC-MS was performed by Wilfried Rozhon and Brigitte Poppenberger. Shown is average \pm SEM, for Col-0 and C3 13-1 n=6, *llp1-1* n=3. Differences were analysed with Kruskal-Wallis test (for non-parametric data).

3.7 Crosstalk between JA and SA signalling pathways is misregulated in RNAi:LLP1-3 plants

From the above experiments, the *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants show a different level of JA marker gene transcript accumulation under abiotic stress, and different levels of SA marker transcripts under certain types of biotic stress. The SA and JA signalling pathways are known to have multiple points of interaction, normally resulting in antagonistic interactions (Glazebrook, 2005; Pieterse *et al.*, 2012). We therefore investigated whether *PR1* as a marker of SA signalling, shows a different pattern of behavior than normal under abiotic stress. To this end, sterile-grown seedlings were transferred to treatment plates containing 50 μ M MeJA, and *PR1* transcript accumulation was monitored 12 days after transfer. In this assay, *RNAi:LLP1-3* C3 13-1 seedlings supported a two-fold higher level of *PR1* transcript accumulation than did Col-0 or *llp1-1* (Figure 26 A). Consequently, the data shows that absence of the LLP proteins can lead to outcomes in phytohormone pathways not originally targeted, suggesting a new point of crosstalk between cascades.

PR1 misregulation was also seen after watering of mature plants with salt. Fourweek-old plants were subjected to salt stress by watering with 300 mM NaCl (experiment performed with Gerardo Perez). Four days after the final treatment, leaf tissue was harvested and analysed by RT-qPCR. *PR1* transcript levels were reduced in Col-0 after salt treatment when compared to a mock control, possibly due to the antagonistic relationship between SA and either ABA or MeJA. In the *llp1-1* plants, there was a slight, but insignificant increase in *PR1* transcripts when compared to Col-0, with very little difference between NaCl- and mock-treated *llp1-1* plants. Notably, *PR1* transcript levels were upregulated by ~80-fold in salt- compared to mock-treated *RNAi:LLP1-3* C3 13-1 plants (Figure 26 B). Hence, LLP1, LLP2, and/or LLP3 might co-operate in compromising JA-associated responses to salt or associated JA-SA crosstalk events resulting in enhanced SA-associated responses in *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants in response to salinity stress.



Figure 26: SA-signalling is misregulated in the absence of *LLP1-3.* A) *PR1* transcript levels are higher in *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines after MeJA treatment. Seedlings of wildtype (Col-0), *llp1* mutants or *RNAi:LLP1-3* (C3 13-1) were transferred to plates supplemented with 40 μ M MeJA and harvested after 12 days for RNA extraction and RT-qPCR. Data presented are the log₂ mean transcript levels relative to *UBI* normalised to mock control ±SEM (one-way ANOVA, n=4 for Col-0 and C3 13-1, n=3 for *llp1-1*). B) *PR1* transcript levels increase in plants after salt pouring. Tissues were sampled from 5-week-old plants that had been treated for 12 days with 300 mM NaCl poured directly to the soil. Data presented are the log₂ mean transcript levels relative to *UBI* normalised to mock control ±SEM of 4 biologically independent experiments (one-way ANOVA).

3.7.1 MeJA can induce systemic resistance in the absence of LLP1

As MeJA associated stress was able to induce SA-dependent gene expression in *llp*deficient plants, we investigated whether a local application of MeJA would be sufficient to reconstitute a systemic defence response in the same lines. Using a similar experimental setup to a classical SAR assay, two lower leaves were infiltrated with 100 μ M MeJA, and systemic leaves infiltrated with virulent *Pst* three days later. The bacterial titres in the systemic leaves after 4 days indicated that the MeJA, while not affecting bacterial titres in wildtype, was able to reconstitute a SAR response in *llp1-1* but not the *RNAi:LLP1-3 lines* (Figure 27). This result indicates a key role of JA in LLP1-associated systemic immunity, but which is limited by the presence of either LLP2 or LLP3.



Figure 27: Local MeJA infiltration can induce systemic resistance in *Ilp1-1*, but not *RNAi:LLP1-3* (C3 13-1). Local leaves were infiltrated with 100 μ M MeJA, and after 3 days systemic leaves on the same plant were infiltrated with *Pst*. Systemic leaves were harvested 4 days after infection, and bacterial titres quantified. Data presented are the *Pst* titres in systemic leaves ±SEM (n=11-

19, four experiments for Col-0, *llp1-1*, and C3 13-1, three experiments for C3 12-2. Kruskal-Wallis test for non-parametric data).

In summary, *LLP 1, 2* and *3* appear to have non-redundant functions during both biotic and abiotic stress. Loss of *LLP3* abolishes SAR in a similar manner to the loss of *LLP1*. Both *LLP1* and *LLP3* are required for normal root growth inhibition in response to NaCl and MeJA, while *LLP3* is additionally required for normal root growth inhibition in response to exogenous ABA. This is reflected in the misregulation of downstream marker genes, including *PR1* and *PDF1.2*, but not *VSP2* or *RAB18*. There is also no change in the net content of either SA, MeJA or ABA, indicating that the interaction between the pathways occurs downstream of biosynthesis. However, MeJA appears to induce systemic resistance in the absence of *LLP1*, indicating a new possible role for JA signalling in SAR, which is mediated through the LLPs.

Discussion

4. Discussion

One of the main issues facing modern society is crop security. With changes in climate comes growing demand for farmers to maximise food production under both the direct pressures of abiotic stresses such as drought and high soil salinity, as well as from previously unencountered pathogens that have expanded their ranges (Velásquez *et al.*, 2018; Simler *et al.*, 2019). This reduction in resources brings the threat of starvation, as well as civil unrest and outbreaks of violence in some of the most underprivileged countries in the world (Holleman *et al.*, 2017). To begin to mitigate these risks, better strategies must be employed to preserve crop yields in the face of multiple perils (Atkinson *et al.*, 2004; Juroszek and von Tiedemann, 2011; Storkey *et al.*, 2018). It is therefore of the utmost importance to be able to understand how plants respond to stress from multiple sources. The key to this understanding is in how the phytohormone pathways that control these stress responses interact (Wang and Irving, 2011; Altmann *et al.*, 2020).

Inducible systemic resistance responses such as SAR may present new possibilities for plant protection against both biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens (Vlot *et al.*, 2020). However, the nature of the signalling pathways, such as the identity of the mobile SAR signal and its potential receptor, and the involvement of JA in both these pathways is still under discussion. It is also still unknown about how to maximise the strength of these defences when the plant also comes under abiotic stress. The aim of this work was to explore the involvement of three legume lectin-like proteins, LLP1, 2, and 3, in the context of systemic acquired resistance. Although LLP1 has been previously investigated to a greater extent than the other, the roles of LLP2 and LLP3, as well as the combined activity of these proteins, has yet to be fully elucidated.

In this work I show that the presence of two or more of the LLP1-3 proteins, while not needed for local immunity, is essential for the SAR response in *Arabidopsis*. These proteins are also necessary for the regulation of JA-mediated responses to salinity stress, on both a physiological and molecular level, as well as for the normal function of crosstalk between the SA and JA signalling cascades within these processes.

4.1 The role of *LLP1-3* in biotrophic defence

After the induction of ETI by avirulent *Pst*, LLP1 accumulates in an *EDS1*-dependent manner in both local and systemic tissues, although it is not required for SA-dependent defence (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014). However, there is a marked transcript accumulation of *LLP1* induced by treatment with exogenous SA (Figure 10) or its functional analogue 1,2,3-benzothiadiazole-7-carbothioic acid *S*-methyl ester (BTH) (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014; Pabst, 2018). EDS1 is a key regulatory protein in the SA pathway, and functions upstream of SA accumulation and signalling. However, it is also involved in SA-independent pathways, including for example *FMO1* and *NUDT7* (Bartsch *et al.*, 2006). It may therefore be the case that although *LLP1* transcript accumulation is induced by SA, it is functional in a different, SA-independent pathway. A probable candidate for this is the Pip pathway (see section 1.2.2).

The expression of *LLP2* and *LLP3* remains unaffected by exogenous SA treatment, in both a wildtype and *eds1-2* background (Figure 10). It would also seem that they are not involved in any SA-independent pathways in regard to local defence, in either an individual or compensatory capacity, as both *llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants sustain normal growth of both avirulent (Figure 11) and virulent (Pabst, 2018) strains of *Pst.*

It was previously shown that the absence of *LLP1* is sufficient to abolish the SAR response (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014). In this work I show that reduced transcript accumulation of *LLP3* also eradicates the SAR response, which can be reinstated by the expression of a transgene driving *LLP3* expression from its native promoter (Figure 12). Therefore, *LLP3* plays a critical role in SAR signalling, most likely via a role in the local tissue during SAR signal generation (Wenig and Vlot, personal communication). While the absence of functional *LLP1* or *LLP3* abolishes SAR, a SAR-inducing infection causes systemic susceptibility rather than resistance in *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants (Figure 13 A), suggesting additive effects of the three LLP proteins on SAR. This enhanced systemic susceptibility has not been observed in any other SAR pathway mutants, and therefore cannot be explained only by disruption of the SAR pathway. Instead, some combined function of LLP1-3 must actively inhibit defence responses in the systemic tissue while leaving local defence intact. Because only *LLP1* transcript accumulation is sensitive to SA-treatment, it is likely that *LLP2* and *LLP3*

contribute to the enhanced susceptibility because of their roles in other signalling cascades. The prime candidate for this is the jasmonate pathway, as *LLP3* displayed a transcriptional response to MeJA application in wildtype plants (Figure 21). Also, as *llp1, llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* all demonstrated abnormal root phenotypes when exposed to MeJA, it may be that JA signalling interacts with SAR at multiple junctures. The *llp3* phenotype could be reverted at least partially back to wildtype-like root growth by expression of the *LLP3::LLP3* construct in the *llp3* mutant background, which confirms the role of *LLP3* in this interaction. *RNAi:LLP1-3*, but not *llp1*, also showed misregulation of gene expression in SA- and JA-responsive genes after treatment of seedlings with MeJA (Figure 23 A)(See section...). This indicates that the LLPs are involved in downstream signalling from more than one phytohormone pathway. It also indicates that at least *LLP1* and *LLP3*, as well as possibly *LLP2*, are required not only for SAR signalling, but also to prevent antagonism upon SAR signalling from other pathways.

The role of *LLP2* in this process remains undetermined. There was no increase in the transcript accumulation of this gene for any of the phytohormones tested, suggesting that if *LLP2* does have a role in SAR, or is responsible for the systemic susceptibility, it is not downstream in any of these cascades. Neither does it feedback into the regulation of their biosynthesis or activation. LLP3 was previously shown by microarray analysis to be a strong, early-responsive gene after chitin treatment (Zhang et al., 2002). In the same study it was shown that this chitin-mediated induction of LLP2 was not dependent on either JA or SA signalling, with jar1, npr1, pad4 and eds5 mutants showing similar levels of expression as compared to wildtype plants. These results were verified with RT-qPCR by Ramonell et al. (2005). Chitin is in fact such a strong defence inducer that lobster shell extract, which contains high levels of both chitin and its deacetylated derivative chitosan, is used as a soil treatment to reduce incidence of plant disease (Ilangumaran et al., 2017). This chitosan treatment had such a potent priming effect that it increased *PR1* expression by around 500-fold after Pst infection and PDF1.2 by around 40-fold after B. cinerea infection. MPK3 has also been highlighted as a chitin-responsive gene whose expression was not affected by the loss of JA or SA (Zhang et al., 2002; Ramonell et al., 2005). It may be the case that LLP2 is required for initiating forms of resistance

that are triggered by fungal pathogens which are able to repress JA or SA signalling, and that this processes is aided by MPK3, which is also known to be involved as an upstream regulatory node in many other defence responses (Pitzschke *et al.*, 2009). As chitosan is able to behave as a PAMP and induce systemic resistance (Iriti and Faoro, 2009), the function of LLP2 may be in this specific pathway, having diverged from the role of LLP3 in mediating SA/JA/Pip-dependent responses.

SAR is mediated via two key signalling pathways: SA and Pip. For a time it was thought that the functions of these pathways were in parallel, and had minimal influence upon each other (Wendehenne *et al.*, 2014). Above, I show that *LLP1* transcript accumulation is increased in response to SA (Figure 10), despite having no role in local SA defence pathways (Breitenbach *et al.*, 2014; Pabst, 2018). However, the presence of LLP1 is crucial for SAR, and Wenig *et al.* (2019) showed that it is required specifically in systemic tissues for signal recognition, and not at the local site of infection. LLP1 is also involved in the Pip signalling pathway and in monoterpene production and sensing (Wenig *et al.*, 2019). Armijo *et al.* (2013) found that the LLP1 peptide has a glycosylation site at N129. Because glycosylation occurs on the luminal side of the ER, when the protein is translocated to the cell membrane it will be facing the apoplast. This apoplastic localisation, along with the protein only being required in systemic tissues, puts LLP1 in a prime location to act as a SAR signal receptor.

Ideally, we would further characterise the LLPs by finding their spatial and temporal expression and subcellular localisation patterns. Some work towards this has already been carried out, for example with Lyou *et al.* (2009) using GUS staining to find the tissues in which *LLP3* is expressed. They showed that while there were high expression levels of *LLP3* in the rosette leaves, primary inflorescences, and mature plant roots, but not in the cauline leaves, siliques, or secondary inflorescences. However, more detailed subcellular localisation has not been characterised so far. Although work towards this has been started (also in the frame of this thesis), it appears that overexpression of *LLPs* tagged with GFP proves lethal for the plants if the proteins are expressed from constitutive (35S) or even from estradiol-inducible (but leaky) promoters (Breitenbach, 2012). In Pabst (2018) and during this thesis

work, attempts were initiated to express *LLP1*, *LLP2*, and *LLP3* under their native promoters. Whereas successful in some instances (for example the *LLP3* complementation lines expressing untagged *LLP3* from its own promoter, *LLP3::LLP3*, including lines 3.01, 3.02, 4.01 and 8.01), expression levels under the native promoter appear very low (Figure 12). Transient expression of constructs containing, for example, *LLP1:LLP1-GFP* have been successfully expressed in *Nicotiana benthamiana* (Pabst, 2018), but a more detailed approach with *Arabidopsis* is still needed. Knowledge of the subcellular localisation of the LLPs, and how this changes during different stress responses, may shed further light on their function.

The potential role of LLP1 as a receptor is unlikely to involve the potential signalling molecule AzA, as treatment with exogenous AzA in local tissue can still induce systemic resistance in the *llp1-1* mutant (Figure 14). LLP1 and AzA both function downstream of Pip in SAR signalling, with Pip pouring being able to induce SAR in wildtype plants but not in the *llp1* mutant (Wenig *et al.*, 2019). Application of Pip is able to induce a SAR response in the *sid2* SA mutant, indicating that the Pip pathway is not completely dependent upon SA (Bernsdorff *et al.*, 2016). However, systemic defence induced in *sid2* is not as robust as wildtype. It is therefore conceivable that the SA pathway has an effect of bolstering the Pip pathway through the upregulation of *LLP1* in systemic tissue, leading to a stronger SAR response.

4.2 LLPs and abiotic stress

Understanding the crosstalk between multiple environmental stresses is key in moving towards the creation of crop lines that are able to show increased tolerance to abiotic stress as well as pathogen resistance. Because of the antagonism seen between ABA and SA or JA pathways, it has so far often been the case that if a plant shows increased resistance to a pathogen, then it is more susceptible to abiotic stressors such as high salinity (Anderson *et al.*, 2004; Yasuda *et al.*, 2008; Berens *et al.*, 2019). The LLPs therefore present somewhat of a rarity in that they are required for the normal growth of plants under salt stress (i.e. the phytohormone-mediated changes in metabolism and physiology that are incurred after osmotic and ionic stress from excess NaCl), as well as for necrotrophic and systemic biotrophic defence. When treated with 100 mM NaCl, *llp1-1*, *llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* all showed a significantly

exaggerated root shortening phenotype compared to Col-0, indicating that at least two of the LLPs, probably *LLP1* and possibly to a greater extent *LLP3*, are required for normal salt tolerance (Figure 16). Salt stress also affected mature *Arabidopsis* plants, with changes in key regulatory genes being noted in both SA and JA signalling pathways, although there was no effect on biomass (Figure 26).

As mentioned previously, the key phytohormone associated with abiotic stress is ABA (Vishwakarma *et al.*, 2017). Exogenous treatment with ABA also induced a significant down regulation in the transcript levels of *LLP1*, although it did not affect transcript accumulation of *LLP2* or *LLP3* (Figure 15). It is therefore possible that the increased sensitivity of *RNAi:LLP1-3* seedlings to high NaCl is due to misregulation of the ABA signalling (Julkowska *et al.*, 2014; Waskiewicz *et al.*, 2014).

However, when seedlings were grown on plates containing ABA, only *llp3* plants and not *llp1-1* or *RNAi:LLP1-3* showed a significant reduction in primary root length compared to wildtype. This increased shortening was not observed in the *llp3-LLP3::LLP3* lines. This suggests that ABA may be able to target the signalling cascade LLP3 is involved in, but this effect is negated when LLP1 is also lost. In none of the lines was there a significant change in the accumulation of the ABA marker gene *RAB18* (Figure 20 C) (Jeannette *et al.*, 1999), suggesting that the effect of ABA on LLP3 may be routed via its interaction with a different phytohormone signalling pathway, rather than through the main ABA cascade (Valenzuela *et al.*, 2016).

The other key phytohormone that has been associated with salt stress in dicotyledonous plants is JA. JA accumulation was associated with increased salt tolerance in tomato and sweet potato (Pedranzani *et al.*, 2003; Zhang *et al.*, 2017*c*). However, it is also associated with exaggerated shortening of roots in response to salinity stress, both in *Arabidopsis* and other plant species (Staswick *et al.*, 1992; Brodersen *et al.*, 2006; Wu *et al.*, 2015; Valenzuela *et al.*, 2016). The role of JA regarding salt tolerance in monocotyledonous species is not so clear, with it apparently protecting wheat, while increasing the susceptibility of rice to exposure to increased salt levels (Qiu *et al.*, 2014; Peethambaran *et al.*, 2018). To explore whether the root shortening phenotype that was displayed in *llp1*, *llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* when grown on high salt media was due to misregulation of JA signalling

rather than of ABA signalling, seedlings were also grown on media containing MeJA. On these plates the transgenic lines exhibited exactly the same phenotypic response as on salt, with *llp1*, *llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* all exhibiting significantly enhanced primary root shortening as compared to that observed in wildtype plants. This effect was mitigated by *LLP3* expression in the *llp3* mutant (Figure 22). As it appears that a signal between LLP1 and LLP3 may be required for systemic defence (Wenig and Vlot, personal communication), the enhanced root shortening under high salinity may also be dependent on both the presence and the interaction of *LLP1* and *LLP3*, and possibly *LLP2* with JA-mediated signalling.

JA activates two separate signalling pathways, depending upon which other signals/factors are detected at the same time (Figure 28:). This allows the plant to use JA to fine-tune responses to multiple stresses (Kazan and Manners, 2012). One of the key transcription factors is MYC2 (Figure 28:), which orchestrates a wide variety of downstream responses, including the action of other transcription factors (Kazan and Manners, 2013). Aside from its role in the JA pathway, MYC2 acts as a functional activator for ABA signalling (Abe *et al.*, 2003), and is closely associated with abiotic stress responses (Zhu, 2002; Christmann *et al.*, 2006), and herbivore defence (Dombrecht *et al.*, 2007). It is therefore possible that the increased sensitivity of *RNAi:LLP1-3* seedlings to high NaCl was due to misregulation of the ABA signalling pathways by MYC2 in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* genetic background. However, this explanation can be excluded, as the MYC2 marker gene, *VSP2*, in a similar manner to *RAB18*, showed no significant difference in *RNAi:LLP1-3* after salt pouring (Figure 20 C). It therefore is unlikely that the jasmonate responses seen are due to MYC2 regulation.

The alternative JA pathway is regulated by ERF1. In salt signalling, the particular pathways involved in stress tolerance are dependent upon the action of MED25 in complex with PHYTOCHROME AND FLOWERING TIME 1 (PFT1) (Çevik *et al.*, 2012). This complex can bind to both ERF1 and MYC2, as well as transcription factors involved in ABA signalling. Downstream, ERF1 targets DRE motifs, found in the promoters of salt-tolerance genes and thereby activates them (Cheng *et al.*, 2013).

It can also feedback into the MED25/PFT1 complex, further enhancing salinitytolerance mechanisms (Figure 28:) (Kazan, 2015). *PDF1.2* is a downstream marker gene for ERF1 signalling, and is thought to have a role in salinity tolerance as it is constitutively upregulated in salt-adapted species such as salt cress (Taji *et al.*, 2004). I therefore tested its transcript accumulation in seedlings after MeJA treatment. Although *llp1-1* showed a similar response to wildtype, *RNAi:LLP1-3* showed significant decreases in the accumulation of *PDF1.2* transcripts in response to MeJA treatment, indicating that either one or more of the LLPs is involved in the ERF1 signalling cascade.

There is also a possibility that this pathway could involve ethylene (ET) signalling, which was not investigated in this work. Ethylene is known to have an important role in salinity tolerance (Cao *et al.*, 2007). Loss of the EIN2 receptor, which functions



Figure 28: JA signalling is mediated through two key transcription factors, MYC2 and ERF1. These pathways are mutually antagonistic, but both can positively regulate tolerance to high salinity. After COI1 recognises a JA signal and lifts repression by JAZ proteins, MYC2 and ERF1 can both complex with the mediator protein MED25, and recognise specific motifs, such GCC or DRE boxes, in the promoters of genes associated with salt tolerance. ABA is also able to feed into these pathways via MYC2. Adapted from Kazan (2015).

Discussion

upstream of EIN3 and ERF1 in ET signalling, induces severe salt sensitivity in *Arabidopsis* (Cao *et al.*, 2007). This could theoretically be responsible for salt-induced changes in *PDF1.2* transcript accumulation, as this is a marker gene for the ERF1 pathway. The JA pathway converges with that of ET in EIN3 and ERF1 (Figure 29, Lorenzo *et al.*, 2003; Takaoka *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, we cannot definitively say whether JA or ET is the causal signal for the change in *PDF1.2* transcript levels (Figure 23). ET-mediated signalling has a strong negative regulatory effect on the function of MYC2 (Song *et al.*, 2014). Ergo if ET was involved in the change in stress responses observed in *Ilp1-1*, *Ilp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3*, then it should also have had an effect on the levels of MYC2-dependent *VSP2* transcript accumulation. The fact that we did not see this suggests that the impact of ET signalling on LLP function is minimal.

LLP1 is known to have an important role in the pathway leading to monoterpene synthesis and propagation of VOC emission during PTP SAR, as well as in the Pipassociated systemic SAR pathway. To identify whether one or both of these roles are associated with the role of LLP1 in salt tolerance, I performed root assays using media supplemented with both NaCl and MeJA for two different monoterpene synthesis mutants and a Pip biosynthesis mutant. These mutants have all been shown to be



Figure 29: JA signalling can occur via two pathways mediated by different transcription factors. After repression by JAZ9 is lifted from EIN3, there is signal transduction via ERF1 that results in the upregulation of genes including PDF1.2. This pathway antagonises that mediated by MYC2, and thus inhibits the upregulation of marker genes such as *VSP2*. Adapted from Takaoka et al 2018. unable to perform PTP signalling (Wenig et al., 2019). The exaggerated root shortening phenotype seen in *llp1* was either lacking or reduced in the Pip-synthesis mutant ald1 and in the monoterpene synthesis mutants tps24-1 and tps24-2(Figure 24). This indicates that the pathways controlling Pip signalling and monoterpene transmission, and therefore *LLP1*'s role within them, is not involved in salt tolerance. However, it also suggests that LLP1, along with either LLP2 or LLP3, acts in a separate pathway that can be induced by jasmonates and is involved in salt stress tolerance. *LLP1* therefore has distinct and separate roles in multiple stress response pathways (Sales et al. in preparation; Breitenbach et al., 2014; Wenig et al., 2019). A role of *LLP1* in multiple stress responses brings into question the current model that SAR is induced via two separate and distinct pathways, as well as the dogma that SA- and JA-pathways always are mutually antagonistic. An issue with past work into the elucidation of phytohormone function has been to consider them as separate pathways. More recently, their interaction has begun to be considered more as a signalling network, where multiple pathways are interconnected (Altmann et al., 2020). This allows a more subtle view of interactions, albeit while requiring a more bioinformatics-based approach.

My experiments indicate that in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants, when under salt stress, root growth is inhibited to a greater extent than in wildtype, a result that can be phenocopied by treatment of the same plants with exogenous MeJA (Figure 22). In addition, *llp1, llp3* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants have an increased susceptibility to the necrotrophic pathogen *A. brassicicola* (Pabst, 2018). This would indicate that there is a misregulation in signalling at a point upstream of one of JA's two key pathway regulators, MYC2 and ERF1. A key function of ERF1 is defence against necrotrophic pathogens (Van Wees *et al.*, 2003). As *VSP2* transcript levels, which is a marker of the MYC2 pathway, remain unchanged, while *PDF1.2* levels, which is a marker of the ERF1 pathway, are reduced, it leads to the conclusion that *LLP1-3* have a role in ERF1-mediated JA signalling. *LLP3* is the only gene out of the *LLPs* studied here that shows increased transcript accumulation in response to MeJA treatment (Figure 21), while the *llp3* mutant displayed increased root shortening on media containing MeJA (Figure 22) and increased susceptibility to the necrotroph *A. brassicicola* (Pabst,

2018). Therefore, it would seem that *LLP3* is primarily responsible for interacting with JA signalling, thus presenting a previously unidentified role for LLP3 in integrating JA pathways with systemic defence and abiotic stress tolerance. However, although its transcript levels are unresponsive to exogenous MeJA, *llp1* mutants also displayed enhanced MeJA-induced root shortening and susceptibility to necrotrophs (Figure 22, Pabst, 2018). It is therefore possible that *LLP3* is involved in signalling with *LLP1* during salt stress, in a similar manner to the dynamic that is seen during systemic defence, and thus *LLP1* is affected by JA via *LLP3*. Additionally, *llp3* is the only line to show exaggerated ABA-induced root shortening (Figure 20). As function of ERF1 is likely to be ABA-independent (Cheng *et al.*, 2013), any effect of ABA on *LLP3* could be acting to fortify the original signal from jasmonate signalling to mediate salinity tolerance.

4.3 Jasmonates in SAR

If the LLPs are needed for JA-mediated signalling in salt stress, then could they also be responding to JA signals during systemic defence signalling? The role of JA in regards to SA-mediated defence and SAR is rather convoluted. There is much evidence to suggest that this interaction is mainly antagonistic in nature, most likely through the influence of JA on MPK4 (Figure 0) (Petersen *et al.*, 2000; Thatcher *et al.*, 2005; Glazebrook, 2005; Brodersen *et al.*, 2006; Spoel *et al.*, 2007; Van Der Does *et al.*, 2013).

However, it has more recently been shown that the response is highly dependent on concentration, spatial distribution, and circadian rhythms (Mur *et al.*, 2005; Betsuyaku *et al.*, 2018; Karapetyan and Dong, 2018). Additionally, during RPS2-mediated ETI the accumulation of SA and downstream signalling through the NPR3 and NPR4 receptors initiates *de novo* JA synthesis (Liu *et al.*, 2016), and the SA sector in *Arabidopsis* immune networks activated in PTI is dependent upon the JA sector (Hillmer *et al.*, 2017). Given that PTI and ETI have some convergent signalling pathways, including through SA accumulation (Sun *et al.*, 2015; Peng *et al.*, 2018), it is likely that JA may have a more important role in biotrophic immunity than has



Figure 30: An overview of previously identified points of interaction between SA and JA pathways after induction of systemic defences by microbes. SA can signalling repress JA both directly and via NPR1, while JA can also supress SA directly and via COI1 signalling. (ETR = Ethylene Receptor, LSD1 = Lesion Simulating Disease1). Adapted from Thatcher et al. 2005.

been traditionally recognised. If we also take into account the possible and debated contribution of JA to SAR (Truman et al., 2007; Attaran et al., 2009), and the induction of SAR by SA application in llp1-1 plants (Pabst, 2018), then it seems that the LLPs may be responding to a JA signal rather than a SA signal (Figure). The multiple branches of the JA pathway mean that it not only must be activated correctly, but if there is incorrect activation then it may further antagonise itself (i.e. by the action of MYC2 on ERF1). Therefore, an interruption in JA rather than SA signalling may be responsible for the observed inverted SAR phenotype in RNAi:LLP1-3 plants (Fig. 2A, Figure 1). This is further supported by the induction of LLP3 transcript accumulation after exogenous MeJA treatment (Figure 21). Additionally, when RNAi:LLP1-3 seedlings were exposed to MeJA, there was an increase in the expression of *PR1*, a key SA marker gene. This increase was further compounded in mature plants that were treated by salt pouring for 12 days, and subsequently showed a pronounced upregulation of *PR1* compared to both wildtype and *llp1-1* (Figure 26). Therefore, JA and abiotic stress regulate these proteins in a way that can potentially directly affect biotrophic defence pathways.

Discussion

In a recent paper, Betsuyaku *et al.* (2018) showed that during ETI, in the area directly affected by programmed cell death and HR there is active SA-signalling. However, a small circumference of cells surrounding the HR lesion shows active JA signalling, highlighting a strong spatial component to the phytohormones involved in local immunity. The role of LLP3 in SAR has been shown to be limited to the local tissues, with functional LLP3 being required for SAR signal generation but not recognition (Wenig and Vlot, personal communication; Sales *et al., in preparation*). As *LLP3* expression is also inducible by JA, it may be that LLP3 has some function in sensing the JA signal from the HR response, and then initiating signalling towards generation of a mobile SAR signal (Figure 1).

In this work, I show that while a local MeJA treatment did not induce changes, either negative or positive, in systemic responses to Pst infection in Col-0, Ilp3 or RNAi:LLP1-3, it was able to reinstate a systemic defence response in *llp1-1* (Figure 27). The reason for this systemic induction is not immediately clear. It has been shown that MeJA is phloem-mobile (Thorpe et al., 2007), so it is possible that the exogenous MeJA provided in the experiment is moving directly to the distal tissues. JA signalling has been associated with the biosynthesis of some monoterpene molecules (Filella et al., 2006; Taniguchi et al., 2014). Although it has never been directly associated with pinenes, perhaps the MeJA signal is able to induce VOC production downstream of LLP1, and thus kickstart the systemic response. However, if LLP3 is involved in the sensing or transport of a jasmonate signal in the local tissues, then locally applied MeJA cannot be mobilised in plants were the LLP3 protein is compromised (IIp3 or RNAi:LLP1-3). Additionally, LLP1 cannot act to recognise a potential signal resulting from LLP3 function in local tissues, and we do not see the induction of systemic resistance in the *llp3* or *RNAi:LLP1-3* lines where both LLP1 and LLP3 are compromised (Figure 27). This indicates that a potential role of LLP1 in the systemic tissues is able to recognise a JA-dependently produced signal from the local tissues, which would therefore confirm the necessity of JA in SAR responses.



Figure 31: An overview of the function of LLPs within systemic signalling and salinity tolerance. LLP3 is required in local tissues to generate a SAR signal. It may function in a pathway with WRKY33 and Pip that is sensitive to JA produced in the perimeter of HR lesions. LLP1 is required for recognition of the SAR signal in systemic tissues. Both LLP1 and LLP3 are required for necrotrophic defence and salinity tolerance. It is possible that the role of LLP3 in these processes is again in combination with WRKY33, as both proteins are known to be required for all responses.

4.4 The possible involvement of LLP3 and WRKY33

LLP3 is only required for local signal generation and not for systemic signal recognition during SAR (Wenig and Vlot, personal communication; Sales et al., in preparation). In *llp3* plants SAR is lost, but we do not see the systemic susceptibility observed in the RNAi:LLP1-3 lines (Figure 13). The Ilp3 mutant also shows exaggerated root growth inhibition under both high salinity and JA treatment (Figure 17, Figure 22), and this phenotype is lost by ectopic expression of LLP3 from its native promoter. Although some work has previously been conducted with the *llp3* mutant, until now only a single mutant line had been available, and thus it had not been possible to prove that any results were due to loss of LLP3 function and not because of a secondary T-DNA insertion at a different genomic site. The results shown in this work using LLP3::LLP3 complementation lines in the *llp3* mutant background allow first conclusions about biological functions of LLP3. As discussed above, my data suggest that LLP3 significantly contributes to the regulation of cross talk between SAR and JA signalling, because of the *llp3* mutants' compromised systemic resistance and salt sensitivity, and the misregulation therein of both *PDF1.2* and *PR1*. Notably, LLP3 is also the only gene studied here that affected root shortening in response to ABA. This indicates that not only does LLP3 have a different function to *LLP1*, but it may also be a point of interaction between SAR and ABA signalling (Figure 1). It is therefore unlikely that it is functioning in SA-MeSA homeostasis, and not directly in the Pip-AzA-G3P cascade, as these are required in both local and systemic tissues (Vlot et al., 2020).

One of only a few known SAR pathways that are required solely for SAR signal generation is the feedback loop between Pip, MPK3/6 and WRKY33 (Figure 3) (Wang *et al.*, 2018*b*). This is an interesting coincidence, because, similarly to LLP3, WRKY33 also plays key roles in necrotrophic defence and tolerance to high salinity.

WRKY33 is a transcription factor with a wide range of predicted targets (Petersen *et al.*, 2008). It therefore has the potential to be involved in the regulation of a range of biological processes. After a *B. cinerea* infection, around 2600 genes were differentially regulated in *wrky33* compared to Col-0 (Liu *et al.*, 2015). This only accounted for around 30% of predicted WRKY33 targets. Also, although WRKY33

binding motifs were enriched in the promoters of various *PRR* genes, the *wrky33* mutant did not show an altered local defence response against *Pst* (Zheng *et al.*, 2006). This may indicate that for transcriptional control of some WRKY33 targets cofactors are required. Concomitantly, necrotrophic defence is severely compromised in *wrky33*, with the mutant plants showing increased susceptibility to *B. cinerea* and *A. brassicicola* (Zheng *et al.*, 2006; Birkenbihl *et al.*, 2012). In a resting state, WRKY33 forms a complex with other proteins and MPK4. After activation of defence mechanisms, MPK4 releases WRKY33, and it can then be directly phosphorylated by MPK3 and MPK6 (Andreasson *et al.*, 2005; Qiu *et al.*, 2008; Mao *et al.*, 2011). WRKY33 has a negative regulatory effect on most of its downstream targets, with the exceptions of a set of genes required for camalexin biosynthesis. Although camalexin is not immediately accumulated in systemic leaves during SAR, there is a priming effect, and biosynthesis increases more rapidly upon a secondary infection (Návarová *et al.*, 2012; Gruner *et al.*, 2013).

In a similar manner to ERF1, LLP1, and LLP3, while WRKY33 positively regulates necrotrophic defence, it negatively regulates responses against herbivory and wounding (Dombrecht *et al.*, 2007). It thus has the opposite role to MYC2. In fact, MYC2 can have a repressive effect on WRKY33 in a similar way to ERF1. However, the role of WRKY33 in supporting necrotrophic defence does not rely on the antagonism between JA and SA-signalling, as is seen in some other stress responses, because the *wrky33* mutant does not show any changes in susceptibility to *B. cinerea* infection compared to *wrky33sid2* double mutant (Birkenbihl *et al.*, 2012). As *LLP3* also appears not to reply to SA-regulation, nor in turn affects SA-signalling, it also shares this commonality with WRKY33.

WRKY33-mediated pathways are also associated with enhanced salt-stress tolerance. For example, WRKY33 was shown to be induced shortly after salt treatment, and acts upstream of the Cytochrome P450 gene *AtCYP94B1*, which enhances suberin deposition which acts as an apoplastic diffusion barrier in seedlings to improve salinity tolerance (Krishnamurthy *et al.*, 2020). The *wrky33* mutant exhibits enhanced sensitivity to salt stress, suggesting a possible redundancy with other transcription factors (Jiang and Deyholos, 2009). The different phenotypes associated with misregulation of WRKY33 signalling are very similar to those seen in the IIp3 mutant. IIp3 shows compromised systemic but not local defence against biotrophic pathogens, susceptibility to necrotrophic pathogens, sensitivity to ABA and salt stress, and misregulation of ERF1-mediated JA signalling (Figure 11, Figure 13, 17, 20) (Pabst, 2018). It is also sensitive to JA treatment, possibly to repress the antagonism by ABA that is needed for a successful necrotrophic response. However, the NaCl-induced transcription of WRKY33 is partially ABA-dependent (Jiang and Deyholos, 2009). I would therefore suggest that LLP3 is involved in a regulatory feedback loop with WRKY33, that also involves Pip and MPK3/6, and is responsible for the generation of the systemic SAR signal. Only downstream signalling targets of this loop are dependent on NPR1 and EDS1 (Kim et al., 2020). This would explain why there is no difference in LLP3 expression upon treatment with exogenous SA, JA and ABA in the eds1-2 mutant as compared to wildtype plants, as the induction of LLP3 is likely acting upstream of EDS1 (Figure 10, Figure 15, Figure 21). However, the recognition of this signal in the systemic tissue requires LLP1. Although LLP1 is primarily dependent on Pip signalling, during local defence it also requires input from the SA pathway via EDS1 (Breitenbach et al., 2014). Therefore, there is a distinct possibility that the systemic role of LLP1 is also dependent on EDS1, which is supported by the SA-induced upregulation of LLP1 transcripts in an EDS1-dependent manner (Figure 10). The increased susceptibility seen in systemic tissues when both LLP1 and LLP3 are lost might be due not only to the loss of the signal which induces enhanced defence, but also because of misregulation through WRKY33 which stops the repression of antagonism between the SA and JA phytohormone pathways. An interaction of LLP3 with WRKY33 would also explain why the *llp3*, but not the *llp1* mutant, showed increased sensitivity in root growth to exogenous ABA treatment, as well as to NaCl and MeJA. It is possible that in this context, the LLP3-WRKY33 interaction is regulated upstream by MPK4 rather than MPK3 and MPK6, allowing finetuning of defence responses against either abiotic or pathogen stress.

It has also been shown with other genes that WRKY33 is able to recruit duplicated genes into its regulon through recognition of transposable elements in the enhancers of the respective genes. This, for example, includes the retrotransposon *EPCOT3* in

the enhancer region of *CYP82C2* (Barco *et al.*, 2019). The high sequence homology between *LLP2* and *LLP3* suggests that they may have diverged as a result of a sequence duplication event, and thus WRKY33 may mediate signalling through both these proteins, although LLP2 needs further characterisation.

4.5 Conclusion

The complexity and extent of crosstalk between hormone cascades, different patterns of induction between biotic and abiotic stress, and the gaps in knowledge regarding the exact intricacies of these interactions provide an important area for further research. The involvement of LLPs in multiple pathways demonstrates a potential target for crop improvement against not only pathogen attack, but also increasing salt stress faced in agriculture. Their feature of being positively involved in biotrophic, necrotrophic and salt stress defences provides an opportunity to tackle multiple stresses, which is a unique feature amongst systemic immunity mutants.

Because of the differences in phytohormone-induced transcriptional responses and their additive role in systemic defence, it appears that LLP1, 2, and 3 may have different functions in SAR (Figure 1).

- I hypothesise that *LLP1-3* respond to a jasmonate signal produced by salt stress and in leaf tissue surrounding areas of infection after HR. This signal is then relayed through the *ERF1* pathway, and affects salt tolerance, systemic immunity and necrotrophic defence. *LLP3* plays an important part in this pathway, as I have now shown that it has a role separate from that of *LLP1* in systemic resistance and abiotic stress tolerance, which can be reverted back to wildtype by expression of an *LLP3:LLP3* transgene in the *llp3* mutant background.
- It is possible that this role is JA-dependent, SA-independent, and supported by ABA signals, and functions in concert with WRKY33 to control systemic signalling responses in different tissues.
- The role of *LLP1* in systemic resistance has been confirmed and is also shown to be necessary individually for salinity tolerance in an ABA-independent manner.
• The loss of *LLP1* and *LLP3* has a direct negative effect on SAR through the loss of signal generation and perception. However, the interaction with other phytohormone pathways, such as LLP3 with ABA, imparts an extra layer of negative regulation, and thus results in enhanced systemic susceptibility.

This work highlights the differences in the functions of *LLP1* and *LLP3*, despite their high sequence homology. Although *LLP2* may also be involved in these responses, the lack of a single mutant or transgenic line precludes us from making definite conclusions surrounding its function. The potential multiple roles of *LLP1* and *LLP3* in phytohormone signalling may also allow them to act as signalling nodes within SAR to integrate both the SA- and Pip-dependent systemic defence signals, thus creating an interwoven network necessary for SAR, as well as between biotic and abiotic stress response pathways.

Outlook

5. Outlook

This work suggests that the Legume Lectin-like Proteins 1, 2, and 3 are key nodes in SAR and abiotic stress signalling. They could therefore be promising candidates for therapeutic targets against crop stresses. However, before this could be a possibility, more research is required into the function of these proteins.

For some of the assays I performed, data from the complementation lines is missing. For example, we do not yet know whether there is an effect individually of *LLP3* on the change in net phytohormone content. We saw no change in SA, JA or ABA content in the *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants after salt treatment, so the loss of *LLP3* in conjunction with the other *LLPs* does not have an effect, but this experiment should be repeated with the *llp3* single mutant and the complementation lines.

The exact position of the LLPs in the different signalling cascades remains to be defined. Many membrane-bound lectins, such as RLPs, can act as receptors, but do not individually have any enzymatic activity. For this they require the interaction with other accessory transmembrane proteins, which they are able to activate and thus propagate a signal to the interior of the cell (Wang et al., 2008; Jamieson et al., 2018). Given the apoplastic localisation of LLP1 (Armijo et al., 2013), but the lack of predicted domains other than the predicted carbohydrate binding site, it is highly likely that LLP1 acts in concert with other, as yet unidentified proteins. Therefore, identifying these proteins would be the next logical step in understanding the role of LLP1, and potentially also LLP2 and 3, in phytohormone signalling. In this thesis work, an initial attempt was made to find protein-protein interaction partners of LLP1 by using a yeast-2-hybrid (Y2H) screen (together with Melina Altmann and Pascal Falter-Braun, Helmholtz Zentrum München). Unfortunately, this did not provide any reproduceable interaction partners. Ergo, it may be necessary to utilise another protein-protein interaction screen, such as by co-immunoprecipitation and then verify any potential interactions with a split-ubiquitin system (Müller and Johnsson, 2008; Avila et al., 2015; Xing et al., 2016). These pipelines would also utilise mass spectrometry approaches, and could be used to put any LLP interactions in the context of microdomains or the cell membrane interactome (Chen and Weckwerth, 2020).

It may also be interesting to use a yeast-1-hybrid screen to identify which transcription factors interact with the *LLP* promoters. Specifically, WRKY33 and the main transcription factors in JA signalling, such as ERF1 and EIN3 (Solano *et al.*, 1998), would be of interest for *LLP3*, and NPR1 with TGAs for *LLP1* (Fan and Dong, 2002). This may help to understand at which point in phytohormone cascades the *LLPs* act. As the LLPs are thought to have cell membrane localisation, it is unlikely they themselves directly control transcription, and thus it would not be necessary to perform a Y1H in the other direction. In sum, these approaches may help to understand at which point in *LLPs* act.

Further characterisation of the LLPs could involve investigating whether any of the proteins undergo posttranslational modifications, such as phosphorylation or glycosylation (Arsova *et al.*, 2018). To look for phosphorylation sites, a targeted proteomics with chromatography and mass spectrometry could be utilised. Tandem mass spectrometry and fragmentation techniques could be used for identification of *N*-glycosylated residues (Ford *et al.*, 2015).

Although experiments using *RNAi:LLP1-3* plants start to give us some idea, the exact function of *LLP2* remains unknown. There are no T-DNA insertion lines available for this gene, and RNAi-mediated silencing of the gene without at the same time affecting *LLP3* has not proved possible so far. A different approach could be to use CRISPR/CAS₉ gene editing to create a *llp2* single mutant, and thus better elucidate the function of *LLP2* in both SAR and potentially other stress responses. However, as efforts to mutate or silence *LLP2* have been unsuccessful so far (Pabst and Vlot, personal communication), there is the possibility that LLP2 plays a core function in *Arabidopsis*, for example in development, and so any disruption of the gene may be lethal in plant embryos. The high sequence homology of *LLP2 and LLP3* could indicate similar functions/interactions. As ABA is critical in the regulation of seed germination (Schopfer *et al.*, 1979). It may be that LLP2 is playing a role in ABA interactions during development, while LLP3 is recognising a similar signal, albeit it during defence induction. This may explain why *LLP2* but not *LLP3* mutation appears to be embryo lethal.

Ideally, we would further characterise the LLPs by finding their spatial and temporal expression and subcellular localisation patterns. Transient expression of constructs containing, for example, *LLP1:LLP1-GFP* have been successful in *Nicotiana benthamiana* (Pabst, 2018), but a more detailed approach with *Arabidopsis* is still needed. Knowledge of the subcellular localisation of the LLPs, and how this changes during different stress responses, may shed further light on their function.

The final and most important stage in characterising the functions of the LLPs would be the discovery of the ligands for their binding sites. Identification of the LLP1 ligand would be greatly helpful in understanding whether LLP1 is directly acting as a receptor for a mobile SAR signal, or if it is sensing signals in a local capacity, possibly from cell-to-cell communication, or feedback into the Pip pathway. Once a potential ligand is identified, further parameters such as binding affinity, kinetics, and ligand specificity could be investigated. There are a range of techniques, such as MicroScale Thermophoresis, which could be used in this endeavour (Sandoval and Santiago, 2020). It would also be important to characterise the physiological function and longdistance mobility of the potential ligand, for example through petiole exudate experiments.

It would be of interest to investigate the involvement of *LLP1-3* with other phytohormone pathways, such as ET. As discussed above, ET can also interact with jasmonate signalling. One could specifically investigate a possible role of ET by treatment of seedlings with aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC), an ethylene precursor, and by observing *LLP1-3* transcript accumulation after ACC treatment in mature plants.

The role of *LLP3* in abiotic stresses other than that imposed by high salinity may also be of interest. A protein that is involved in supporting not only biotic defence and salt stress tolerance, but also protection against drought, extreme temperatures or water logging, would be an important agrochemical target. *llp1* and *RNAi:LLP1-3* were already included in progressive drought assays testing parameters such as water consumption and water use efficiency, with neither line showing a difference from wildtype (Liu and Grill, personal communication). However, *llp3* was the only mutant line to show sensitivity to exogenous ABA in seedlings, and it may therefore be worthwhile to see if this mutant responds differently in responses which are primarily influenced by ABA, such as drought stress tolerance (Takahashi *et al.*, 2020). This could clarify the extent of the importance of *LLP3* in ABA pathways.

While knowledge of signalling pathways in SAR in *Arabidopsis* can often have potential applications for other economically useful dicotyledonous species, such as members of the *Brassicaceae* and *Solanaceae*, many of today's important crops are monocotyledonous. Therefore, before potential therapeutic applications can be developed for crops such as wheat and barley, SAR must be better understood in monocots. The *LLPs* have no direct homologous in, for example barley. However, many of the components of the signalling pathways they are known to interact with do. Pip and NO, which regulate systemic signalling dependently upon LLP1, are involved in systemic resistance in barley (Lenk *et al.*, 2019). Additionally, SA and NPR1 signalling and homologues of WRKY33 have been found in monocots (Zhou *et al.*, 2015*b*), highlighting potential further involvement of *LLP*-associated pathways. If identification of LLP paralogues in monocots was possible after further characterisation of the proteins, then this may be able to better inform strategies on crop protection.

Overall, further characterisation of the subcellular interactions of the LLPs is required. Particular attention should be paid to LLP2, as very little is currently known about its function. Additionally, the identification of the LLP1 ligand could be a key step in fully elucidating SAR pathways. Nevertheless, the identification of the LLPs as key nodes in multiple phytohormones signalling pathways represents an important shift in our understanding of the interaction of SAR with abiotic stress. It may also provide a route by which both biotrophic and abiotic defences could be simultaneously activated, without compromising either, thereby solving one of the main problems in developing plants suitable for changing environments.

References

Aarts N, Metz M, Holub E, Staskawicz BJ, Daniels MJ, Parker JE. 1998. Different requirements for EDS1 and NDR1 by disease resistance genes define at least two R genemediated signaling pathways in Arabidopsis. Plant Biology **95**, 10306–10311.

Abe H, Urao T, Ito T, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2003. Arabidopsis AtMYC2 (bHLH) and AtMYB2 (MYB) function as transcriptional activators in abscisic acid signaling. Plant Cell **15**, 63–78.

Alfano JR, Collmer A. 2004. Type III secretion system effector proteins: Double agents in bacterial disease and plant defense. Annual Review of Phytopathology **42**, 385–414.

Altmann M, Altmann S, Rodriguez PA, Weller B, Elorduy Vergara L, Palme J, Marínde la Rosa N, Sauer M, Wenig M, Villaécija-Aguilar JA, Sales JH, Lin CW, Pandiarajan R, Young V, Strobel A, Gross L, Carbonnel S, Kugler KG, Garcia-Molina A, Falter C, Mayer KFX, Gutjahr C, Vlot AC, Grill E, Falter-Braun P. 2020. Extensive signal integration by the phytohormone protein network. Nature **583**, 271–276.

Anderson JP, Badruzsaufari E, Schenk PM, Manners JM, Desmond OJ, Ehlert C, Maclean DJ, Ebert PR, Kazan K. 2004. Antagonistic interaction between abscisic acid and jasmonate-ethylene signaling pathways modulates defense gene expression and disease resistance in arabidopsis. Plant Cell **16**, 3460–3479.

Andreasson E, Jenkins T, Brodersen P, Thorgrimsen S, Petersen NHT, Zhu S, Qiu JL, Micheelsen P, Rocher A, Petersen M, Newman MA, Nielsen HB, Hirt H, Somssich I, Mattsson O, Mundy J. 2005. The MAP kinase substrate MKS1 is a regulator of plant defense responses. EMBO Journal **24**, 2579–2589.

Antico CJ, Colon C, Banks T, Ramonell KM. 2012. Insights into the role of jasmonic acidmediated defenses against necrotrophic and biotrophic fungal pathogens. Frontiers in Biology 7, 48–56.

Armijo G, Salinas P, Monteoliva MI, Seguel A, García C, Villarroel-Candia E, Song W, van der Krol AR, Álvarez ME, Holuigue L. 2013. A salicylic acid-induced lectin-like protein plays a positive role in the effector-triggered immunity response of Arabidopsis thaliana to Pseudomonas syringae Avr-Rpm1. Molecular plant-microbe interactions: MPMI **26**, 1395–406.

Arsova B, Watt M, Usadel B. 2018. Monitoring of plant protein post-translational modifications using targeted proteomics. Frontiers in Plant Science **9**, 1168.

Atkinson NJ, Lilley CJ, Urwin PE. 2013. Identification of genes involved in the response of Arabidopsis thaliana to simultaneous biotic and abiotic stresses. Plant Physiology **175**.

Atkinson D, Litterick AM, Walker KC, Walker R, Watson CA. 2004. Crop protection-what will shape the future picture? Pest Management Science **60**, 105–112.

Attaran E, Zeier TE, Griebel T, Zeier J. 2009. Methyl Salicylate Production and Jasmonate Signaling Are Not Essential for Systemic Acquired Resistance in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell **21**, 954–971.

Avila JR, Lee JS, Toriia KU. 2015. Co-Immunoprecipitation of Membrane-Bound Receptors. The Arabidopsis Book **13**, e0180.

Avramova V, Meziane A, Bauer E, Blankenagel S, Eggels S, Gresset S, Grill E, Niculaes C, Ouzunova M, Poppenberger B, Presterl T, Rozhon W, Welcker C, Yang Z, Tardieu

F, Schön CC. 2018. Carbon isotope composition, water use efficiency, and drought sensitivity are controlled by a common genomic segment in maize. Theoretical and Applied Genetics **132**, 53–63.

Balagué C, Gouget A, Bouchez O, Souriac C, Haget N, Boutet-Mercey S, Govers F, Roby D, Canut H. 2017. The Arabidopsis thaliana lectin receptor kinase LecRK-I.9 is required for full resistance to Pseudomonas syringae and affects jasmonate signalling. Molecular Plant Pathology **18**, 937–948.

Bao W, Wang X, Chen M, Chai T, Wang H. 2018. A WRKY transcription factor, PcWRKY33, from Polygonum cuspidatum reduces salt tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Reports **37**, 1033–1048.

Barco B, Kim Y, Clay NK. 2019. Expansion of a core regulon by transposable elements promotes Arabidopsis chemical diversity and pathogen defense. Nature Communications **10**, 1–12.

Bartsch M, Gobbato E, Bednarek P, Debey S, Schultze JL, Bautor J, Parker JE. 2006. Salicylic acid-independent ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1 signaling in Arabidopsis immunity and cell death is regulated by the monooxygenase FMO1 and the Nudix hydrolase NUDT7. Plant Cell **18**, 1038–1051.

Berens ML, Wolinska KW, Spaepen S, Ziegler J, Nobori T, Nair A, Krüler V, Winkelmüller TM, Wang Y, Mine A, Becker D, Garrido-Oter R, Schulze-Lefert P, Tsuda K. 2019. Balancing trade-offs between biotic and abiotic stress responses through leaf agedependent variation in stress hormone cross-talk. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **116**, 2364–2373.

Bernsdorff F, Döring AC, Gruner K, Schuck S, Bräutigam A, Zeier J. 2016. Pipecolic acid orchestrates plant systemic acquired resistance and defense priming via salicylic acid-dependent and -independent pathways. Plant Cell **28**, 102–129.

Berrocal-Lobo M, Molina A, Solano R. 2002. Constitutive expression of ETHYLENE-RESPONSE-FACTOR1 in Arabidopsis confers resistance to several necrotrophic fungi. The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology **29**, 23–32.

Betsuyaku S, Katou S, Takebayashi Y, Sakakibara H, Nomura N, Fukuda H. 2018. Salicylic Acid and Jasmonic Acid Pathways are Activated in Spatially Different Domains Around the Infection Site During Effector-Triggered Immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant & Cell Physiology **59**, 8–16.

Bhandari DD, Lapin D, Kracher B, von Born P, Bautor J, Niefind K, Parker JE. 2019. An EDS1 heterodimer signalling surface enforces timely reprogramming of immunity genes in Arabidopsis. Nature Communications **10**, 1–13.

Birkenbihl RP, Diezel C, Somssich IE. 2012. Arabidopsis WRKY33 is a key transcriptional regulator of hormonal and metabolic responses toward Botrytis cinerea infection. Plant Physiology **159**, 266–285.

Boller T, Felix G. 2009. A Renaissance of Elicitors: Perception of Microbe-Associated Molecular Patterns and Danger Signals by Pattern-Recognition Receptors. Annual Review of Plant Biology **60**, 379–406.

Boutrot F, Zipfel C. 2017. Function, Discovery, and Exploitation of Plant Pattern Recognition Receptors for Broad-Spectrum Disease Resistance. Annual review of phytopathology **55**, 257–286.

Breitenbach HH. 2012. Identification of new regulators for systemic acquired resistance (SAR) in plants by an integrated proteomics approach.

Breitenbach HH, Wenig M, Wittek F, Jorda L, Maldonado-Alconada AM, Sarioglu H, Colby T, Knappe C, Bichlmeier M, Pabst E, Mackey D, Parker JE, Vlot AC. 2014. Contrasting Roles of the Apoplastic Aspartyl Protease APOPLASTIC, ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1-DEPENDENT1 and LEGUME LECTIN-LIKE PROTEIN1 in Arabidopsis Systemic Acquired Resistance,. Plant Physiology **165**, 791–809.

Brilli F, Loreto F, Baccelli I. 2019. Exploiting plant volatile organic compounds (VOCS) in agriculture to improve sustainable defense strategies and productivity of crops. Frontiers in Plant Science **10**, 1–8.

Brodersen P, Petersen M, Nielsen HB, Zhu S, Newman MA, Shokat KM, Rietz S, Parker J, Mundy J. 2006. Arabidopsis MAP kinase 4 regulates salicylic acid- and jasmonic acid/ethylene-dependent responses via EDS1 and PAD4. Plant Journal **47**, 532–546.

Buell CR, Joardar V, Lindeberg M, Selengut J, Paulsen IT, Gwinn ML, Dodson RJ, Deboy RT, Durkin AS, Kolonay JF, Madupu R, Daugherty S, Brinkac L, Beanan MJ, Haft DH, Nelson WC, Davidsen T, Zafar N, Zhou L, Liu J, Yuan Q, Khouri H, Fedorova N, Tran B, Russell D, Berry K, Utterback T, Van Aken SE, Feldblyum TV, D'Ascenzo M, Deng WL, Ramos AR, Alfano JR, Cartinhour S, Chatterjee AK, Delaney TP, Lazarowitz SG, Martin GB, Schneider DJ, Tang X, Bender CL, White O, Fraser CM, Collmer A. 2003. The complete genome sequence of the Arabidopsis and tomato pathogen Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **100**, 10181–10186.

Busk PK, Pagès M. 1998. Regulation of abscisic acid-induced transcription. Plant Molecular Biology **37**, 425–435.

Buts L, Loris R, Wyns L. 2007. X-Ray Crystallography of Lectins. Comprehensive Glycoscience: From Chemistry to Systems Biology. Elsevier, 221–249.

Cao H, Glazebrook J, Clarke JD, Volko S, Dong X. 1997. The Arabidopsis NPR1 gene that controls systemic acquired resistance encodes a novel protein containing ankyrin repeats. Cell **88**, 57–63.

Cao WH, Liu J, He XJ, Mu RL, Zhou HL, Chen SY, Zhang JS. 2007. Modulation of ethylene responses affects plant salt-stress responses. Plant Physiology **143**, 707–719.

Cardan L, Shafik H, Belouin S, Broch R, Grimont F, Grimont PAD. 1999. DNA relatedness among the pathovars of Pseudomonas syringae and description of Pseudomonas tremae sp. nov. and Pseudomonas cannabina sp. nov. (ex Sutic and Dowson 1959). International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 49, 469–478.

Carella P, Isaacs M, Cameron RK. 2015. Plasmodesmata-located protein overexpression negatively impacts the manifestation of systemic acquired resistance and the long-distance movement of Defective in Induced Resistance1 in Arabidopsis. Plant Biology **17**, 395–401.

Carvalho LC, Vidigal P, Amâncio S. 2015. Oxidative stress homeostasis in grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.). Frontiers in Environmental Science **3**.

Cecchini NM, Steffes K, Schlappi MR, Gifford AN, Greenberg JT. 2015. Arabidopsis AZI1 family proteins mediate signal mobilization for systemic defence priming. Nature Communications **6**.

Çevik V, Kidd BN, Zhang P, Hill C, Kiddle S, Denby KJ, Holub EB, Cahill DM, Manners JM, Schenk PM, Beynon J, Kazan K. 2012. MEDIATOR25 acts as an integrative hub for the regulation of jasmonate-responsive gene expression in Arabidopsis1[C][W]. Plant Physiology 160, 541–555.

Chanda B, Xia Y, Mandal MK, et al. 2011. Glycerol-3-phosphate is a critical mobile inducer of systemic immunity in plants. Nature genetics **43**, 421–7.

Chen Q, Fan D, Wang G. 2015. Heteromeric geranyl(geranyl) diphosphate synthase is involved in monoterpene biosynthesis in arabidopsis flowers. Molecular Plant **8**, 1434–1437.

Chen Y-C, Holmes EC, Rajniak J, Kim J-G, Tang S, Fischer CR, Mudgett MB, Sattely ES. 2018. N-hydroxy-pipecolic acid is a mobile metabolite that induces systemic disease resistance in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **115**, E4920–E4929.

Chen R, Jiang H, Li L, Zhai Q, Qi L, Zhou W, Liu X, Li H, Zheng W, Sun J, Li C. 2012. The arabidopsis Mediator subunit MED25 differentially regulates jasmonate and abscisic acid signaling through interacting with the MYC2 and ABI5 transcription factors. Plant Cell **24**, 2898–2916.

Chen J, Lin B, Huang Q, Hu L, Zhuo K, Liao J. 2017. A novel Meloidogyne graminicola effector, MgGPP, is secreted into host cells and undergoes glycosylation in concert with proteolysis to suppress plant defenses and promote parasitism. PLoS Pathogens **13**.

Chen XL, Shi T, Yang J, Shi W, Gao X, Chen D, Xu X, Xu JR, Talbot NJ, Peng YL. 2014. N-Glycosylation of effector proteins by an a-1,3-Mannosyltransferase is required for the rice blast fungus to evade host innate immunity. Plant Cell **26**, 1360–1376.

Chen F, Tholl D, D'Auria JC, Farooq A, Pichersky E, Gershenzon J. 2003. Biosynthesis and emission of terpenoid volatiles from Arabidopsis flowers. Plant Cell **15**, 481–494.

Chen Y, Weckwerth W. 2020. Mass Spectrometry Untangles Plant Membrane Protein Signaling Networks. Trends in Plant Science **25**, 930–944.

Cheng M-C, Liao P-M, Kuo W-W, Lin T-P. 2013. The Arabidopsis ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR1 regulates abiotic stress-responsive gene expression by binding to different cisacting elements in response to different stress signals. Plant Physiology **162**, 1566–82.

Chini A, Fonseca S, Fernández G, Adie B, Chico JM, Lorenzo O, García-Casado G, López-Vidriero, I, Lozano FM, Ponce MR, Micol JL, Solano R. 2007. The JAZ family of repressors is the missing link in jasmonate signalling. Nature **448**, 666–671.

Chini A, Monte I, Zamarreño AM, Hamberg M, Lassueur S, Reymond P, Weiss S, Stintzi A, Schaller A, Porzel A, García-Mina JM, Solano R. 2018. An OPR3-independent pathway uses 4,5-didehydrojasmonate for jasmonate synthesis. Nature Chemical Biology 14, 171–178.

Choi HI, Hong JH, Ha JO, Kang JY, Kim SY. 2000. ABFs, a family of ABA-responsive element binding factors. Journal of Biological Chemistry **275**, 1723–1730.

Choi HW, Klessig DF. 2016. DAMPs, MAMPs, and NAMPs in plant innate immunity. BMC Plant Biology **16**.

Choi J, Tanaka K, Cao Y, Qi Y, Qiu J, Liang Y, Lee SY, Stacey G. 2014. Identification of a plant receptor for extracellular ATP. Science **343**, 290–294.

Christmann A, Moes D, Himmelbach A, Yang Y, Tang Y, Grill E. 2006. Integration of Abscisic Acid Signalling into Plant Responses. Plant Biology **8**, 314–325.

Clarke JD, Aarts N, Feys BJ, Dong X, Parker JE. 2001. Constitutive disease resistance requires EDS1 in the Arabidopsis mutants cpr1 and cpr6 and is partially EDS1-dependent in cpr5. The Plant Journal **26**, 409–420.

Conrath U, Beckers GJM, Langenbach CJG, Jaskiewicz MR. 2015. Priming for enhanced defense. Annual review of phytopathology **53**, 97–119.

Creelman RA, Mullet JE. 1995. Jasmonic acid distribution and action in plants: Regulation during development and response to biotic and abiotic stress. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **92**, 4114–4119.

Cui H, Gobbato E, Kracher B, Qiu J, Bautor J, Parker JE. 2017. A core function of EDS1 with PAD4 is to protect the salicylic acid defense sector in Arabidopsis immunity. New Phytologist **213**, 1802–1817.

Cui H, Qiu J, Zhou Y, Bhandari DD, Zhao C, Bautor J, Parker JE. 2018. Antagonism of Transcription Factor MYC2 by EDS1/PAD4 Complexes Bolsters Salicylic Acid Defense in Arabidopsis Effector-Triggered Immunity. Molecular Plant **11**, 1053–1066.

Cuppels DA. 1986. Generation and characterization of Tn5 insertion mutations in Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **51**, 323–327.

Van Damme E. 2007. Carbohydrate-protein interactions : Plant lectins. Elsevier.

Delaney TP, Friedrich L, Ryals JA. 1995. Arabidopsis signal transduction mutant defective in chemically and biologically induced disease resistance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **92**, 6602–6606.

Després C, Chubak C, Rochon A, Clark R, Bethune T, Desveaux D, Fobert PR. 2003. The Arabidopsis NPR1 disease resistance protein is a novel cofactor that confers redox regulation of DNA binding activity to the basic domain/Leucine Zipper transcription factor TGA1. Plant Cell **15**, 2181–2191.

Ding P, Ding Y. 2020. Stories of Salicylic Acid: A Plant Defense Hormone. Trends in Plant Science **25**, 549–565.

Ding Y, Dommel M, Mou Z. 2016*a*. Abscisic acid promotes proteasome-mediated degradation of the transcription coactivator NPR1 in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The Plant Journal **86**, 20–34.

Ding P, Rekhter D, Ding Y, et al. 2016b. Characterization of a pipecolic acid biosynthesis pathway required for systemic acquired resistance. The Plant Cell **1**, tpc.00486.2016.

Ding Y, Sun T, Ao K, Peng Y, Zhang Y, Li X, Zhang Y. 2018. Opposite Roles of Salicylic Acid Receptors NPR1 and NPR3/NPR4 in Transcriptional Regulation of Plant Immunity. Cell **173**, 1454–1467.e15.

Van Der Does D, Leon-Reyes A, Koornneef A, et al. 2013. Salicylic Acid Suppresses Jasmonic Acid Signaling Downstream of SCF COI1-JAZ by Targeting GCC Promoter Motifs via Transcription Factor ORA59 C W OA. The Plant Cell **25**, 744–761.

Dombrecht B, Xue GP, Sprague SJ, Kirkegaard JA, Ross JJ, Reid JB, Fitt GP, Sewelam N, Schenk PM, Manners JM, Kazan K. 2007. MYC2 differentially modulates diverse jasmonate-dependent functions in Arabidopsis. The Plant cell **19**, 2225–45.

Dong X. 2004. NPR1, all things considered. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **7**, 547–552.

Eggermont L, Verstraeten B, Van Damme EJM. 2017. Genome-Wide Screening for Lectin Motifs in Arabidopsis thaliana . The Plant Genome **10**, plantgenome2017.02.0010.

El-Oirdi M, El-Rahman TA, Rigano L, El-Hadrami A, Rodriguez MC, Daayf F, Vojnov A, Bouarab K. 2011. Botrytis cinerea manipulates the antagonistic effects between immune pathways to promote disease development in Tomato. Plant Cell **23**, 2405–2421.

Fan W, Dong X. 2002. In Vivo interaction between NPR1 and transcription factor TGA2 leads to salicylic acid-mediated gene activation in arabidopsis. Plant Cell **14**, 1377–1389.

Fernando VCD, Schroeder DF. 2016. Role of ABA in Arabidopsis Salt, Drought, and Desiccation Tolerance. Abiotic and Biotic Stress in Plants - Recent Advances and Future Perspectives. InTech, .

Feys BJ, Moisan LJ, Newman MA, Parker JE. 2001. Direct interaction between the Arabidopsis disease resistance signaling proteins, EDS1 and PAD4. EMBO Journal **20**, 5400–5411.

Feys BJ, Wiermer M, Bhat RA, Moisan LJ, Medina-Escobar N, Neu C, Cabral A, Parker JE. 2005. Arabidopsis SENESCENCE-ASSOCIATED GENE101 stabilizes and signals within an ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1 complex in plant innate immunity. Plant Cell **17**, 2601–2613.

Filella I, Peñuelas J, Llusià J. 2006. Dynamics of the enhanced emissions of monoterpenes and methyl salicylate, and decreased uptake of formaldehyde, by Quercus ilex leaves after application of jasmonic acid. New Phytologist **169**, 135–144.

Ford KL, Zeng W, Heazlewood JL, Bacic A. 2015. Characterization of protein N-glycosylation by tandem mass spectrometry using complementary fragmentation techniques. Frontiers in Plant Science **6**, 674.

Frías M, Brito N, González C. 2013. The Botrytis cinerea cerato-Platanin BcSpl1 is a potent inducer of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) in tobacco and generates a wave of salicylic acid expanding from the site of application. Molecular Plant Pathology **14**, 191–196.

Fu ZQ, Dong X. 2013. Systemic acquired resistance: Turning local infection into global defense. Annual Review of Plant Biology **64**, 839–863.

Fu ZQ, Yan S, Saleh A, Wang W, Ruble J, Oka N, Mohan R, Spoel SH, Tada Y, Zheng N, Dong X. 2012. NPR3 and NPR4 are receptors for the immune signal salicylic acid in plants. Nature **486**, 228–232.

Galán JE, Lara-Tejero M, Marlovits TC, Wagner S. 2014. Bacterial Type III Secretion Systems: Specialized Nanomachines for Protein Delivery into Target Cells. Annual Review of Microbiology **68**, 415–438.

Gao QM, Yu K, Xia Y, Shine MB, Wang C, Navarre DR, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2014. Mono- and Digalactosyldiacylglycerol Lipids Function Nonredundantly to Regulate Systemic Acquired Resistance in Plants. Cell Reports **9**, 1681–1691.

García A V., Blanvillain-Baufumé S, Huibers RP, Wiermer M, Li G, Gobbato E, Rietz S, Parker JE. 2010. Balanced Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Activities of EDS1 Are Required for a Complete Plant Innate Immune Response (JL Dangl, Ed.). PLoS Pathogens 6, e1000970.

Gimenez-Ibanez S, Boter M, Fernández-Barbero G, Chini A, Rathjen JP, Solano R. 2014. The Bacterial Effector HopX1 Targets JAZ Transcriptional Repressors to Activate

Jasmonate Signaling and Promote Infection in Arabidopsis (JL Dangl, Ed.). PLoS Biology **12**, e1001792.

Glazebrook J. 2005. Contrasting Mechanisms of Defense Against Biotrophic and Necrotrophic Pathogens. Annual Review of Phytopathology **43**, 205–227.

Glazebrook J, Rogers EE, Ausubel FM. 1996. Isolation of Arabidopsis mutants with enhanced disease susceptibility by direct screening. Genetics **143**, 973–982.

Golldack D, Li C, Mohan H, Probst N. 2014. Tolerance to drought and salt stress in plants: Unraveling the signaling networks. Frontiers in Plant Science **5**, 151.

Goodman RN, American Phytopathological Society SPM (USA) eng, Novacky AJ. 1994. The hypersensitive reaction in plants to pathogens: a resistance phenomenon.

Grant MR, Godiard L, Straube E, Ashfield T, Lewald J, Sattler A, Innes RW, Dangl JL. 1995. Structure of the Arabidopsis RPM1 gene enabling dual specificity disease resistance. Science **269**, 843–846.

Griebel T, Zeier J. 2008. Light regulation and daytime dependency of inducible plant defenses in arabidopsis: Phytochrome signaling controls systemic acquired resistance rather than local defense. Plant Physiology **147**, 790–801.

Gruner K, Griebel T, Návarová H, Attaran E, Zeier J. 2013. Reprogramming of plants during systemic acquired resistance. Frontiers in plant science **4**, 252.

Guerra T, Schilling S, Hake K, Gorzolka K, Sylvester F, Conrads B, Westermann B, Romeis T. 2020. Calcium-dependent protein kinase 5 links calcium signaling with N-hydroxy-I-pipecolic acid- and SARD 1 -dependent immune memory in systemic acquired resistance. New Phytologist **225**, 310–325.

Hane JK, Paxman J, Jones DAB, Oliver RP, de Wit P. 2020. "CATAStrophy," a Genome-Informed Trophic Classification of Filamentous Plant Pathogens – How Many Different Types of Filamentous Plant Pathogens Are There? Frontiers in Microbiology **10**.

Hartmann M, Kim D, Bernsdorff F, Ajami-Rashidi Z, Scholten N, Schreiber S, Zeier T, Schuck S, Reichel-Deland V, Zeier J. 2017. Biochemical principles and functional aspects of pipecolic acid biosynthesis in plant immunity. Plant Physiology **174**, 124–153.

Hartmann M, Zeier J. 2019. N-hydroxypipecolic acid and salicylic acid: a metabolic duo for systemic acquired resistance. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **50**, 44–57.

Hartmann M, Zeier T, Bernsdorff F, Reichel-Deland V, Kim D, Hohmann M, Scholten N, Schuck S, Bräutigam A, Hölzel T, Ganter C, Zeier J. 2018. Flavin Monooxygenase-Generated N-Hydroxypipecolic Acid Is a Critical Element of Plant Systemic Immunity. Cell **173**, 456–469.e16.

Hauser F, Li Z, Waadt R, Schroeder JI. 2017. SnapShot: Abscisic Acid Signaling. Cell 171, 1708–1708.e0.

He X, Jiang J, Wang CQ, Dehesh K. 2017. ORA59 and EIN3 interaction couples jasmonateethylene synergistic action to antagonistic salicylic acid regulation of PDF expression. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology **59**, 275–287.

Heidrich K, Wirthmueller L, Tasset C, Pouzet C, Deslandes L, Parker JE. 2011. Arabidopsis EDS1 connects pathogen effector recognition to cell compartment-specific immune responses. Science **334**, 1401–1404. **Hewage KAH, Yang JF, Wang D, Hao GF, Yang GF, Zhu JK**. 2020. Chemical Manipulation of Abscisic Acid Signaling: A New Approach to Abiotic and Biotic Stress Management in Agriculture. Advanced Science **7**.

Hillmer RA, Tsuda K, Rallapalli G, Asai S, Truman W, Papke MD, Sakakibara H, Jones JDG, Myers CL, Katagiri F. 2017. The highly buffered Arabidopsis immune signaling network conceals the functions of its components. PLoS Genetics **13**.

Van Holle S, Van Damme JM. 2018. Signaling through plant lectins: modulation of plant immunity and beyond. Biochemical Society Transactions **46**, 217–233.

Van Holle S, De Schutter K, Eggermont L, Tsaneva M, Dang L, Van Damme EJM. 2017. Comparative study of lectin domains in model species: New insights into evolutionary dynamics. International Journal of Molecular Sciences **18**.

Holleman C, Jackson J, Sánchez M V, Vos R. 2017. Sowing the seeds of peace for food security: Disentangling the nexus between conflict, food security and peace.

Howe GA, Major IT, Koo AJ. 2018. Modularity in Jasmonate Signaling for Multistress Resilience. Annual Review of Plant Biology **69**, 387–415.

Huot B, Yao J, Montgomery BL, He SY. 2014. Growth-defense tradeoffs in plants: A balancing act to optimize fitness. Molecular Plant **7**, 1267–1287.

Ilangumaran G, Stratton G, Ravichandran S, Shukla PS, Potin P, Asiedu S, Prithiviraj B. 2017. Microbial Degradation of Lobster Shells to Extract Chitin Derivatives for Plant Disease Management. Frontiers in Microbiology **8**, 781.

Iriti M, Faoro F. 2009. Chitosan as a MAMP, searching for a PRR. Plant Signaling and Behavior **4**, 66–68.

Ismail A, Riemann M, Nick P. 2012. The jasmonate pathway mediates salt tolerance in grapevines. Journal of Experimental Botany **63**, 2127–2139.

Jamieson PA, Shan L, He P. 2018. Plant cell surface molecular cypher: Receptor-like proteins and their roles in immunity and development. Plant Science **274**, 242–251.

Jannat R, Uraji M, Morofuji M, Islam MM, Bloom RE, Nakamura Y, McClung CR, Schroeder JI, Mori IC, Murata Y. 2011. Roles of intracellular hydrogen peroxide accumulation in abscisic acid signaling in Arabidopsis guard cells. Journal of Plant Physiology **168**, 1919–1926.

Jeannette E, Rona JP, Bardat F, Cornel D, Sotta B, Miginiac E. 1999. Induction of RAB18 gene expression and activation of K+ outward rectifying channels depend on an extracellular perception of ABA in Arabidopsis thaliana suspension cells. Plant Journal **18**, 13–22.

Jiang Y, Deyholos MK. 2006. Comprehensive transcriptional profiling of NaCl-stressed Arabidopsis roots reveals novel classes of responsive genes. BMC Plant Biology **6**.

Jiang Y, Deyholos MK. 2009. Functional characterization of Arabidopsis NaCl-inducible WRKY25 and WRKY33 transcription factors in abiotic stresses. Plant Molecular Biology **69**, 91–105.

Jiang K, Moe-Lange J, Hennet L, Feldman LJ. 2016. Salt stress affects the redox status of arabidopsis root meristems. Frontiers in Plant Science **7**.

Jones JDG, Dangl L. 2006. The plant immune system. Nature 444, 323–329.

Julkowska MM, Hoefsloot HCJ, Mol S, Feron R, De Boer GJ, Haring MA, Testerink C.

2014. Capturing arabidopsis root architecture dynamics with root-fit reveals diversity in responses to salinity. Plant Physiology **166**, 1387–1402.

Jung HW, Tschaplinski TJ, Wang L, Glazebrook J, Greenberg JT. 2009. Priming in systemic plant immunity. Science **324**, 89–91.

Juroszek P, von Tiedemann A. 2011. Potential strategies and future requirements for plant disease management under a changing climate. Plant Pathology **60**, 100–112.

Kadota Y, Liebrand TWH, Goto Y, et al. 2019. Quantitative phosphoproteomic analysis reveals common regulatory mechanisms between effector- and PAMP-triggered immunity in plants. New Phytologist **221**, 2160–2175.

Karapetyan S, Dong X. 2018. Redox and the circadian clock in plant immunity: A balancing act. Free Radical Biology and Medicine **119**, 56–61.

Katsir L, Schilmiller AL, Staswick PE, He SY, Howe GA. 2008. COI1 is a critical component of a receptor for jasmonate and the bacterial virulence factor coronatine. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **105**, 7100–5.

Kazan K. 2015. Diverse roles of jasmonates and ethylene in abiotic stress tolerance. Trends in Plant Science **20**, 219–229.

Kazan K, Manners JM. 2012. JAZ repressors and the orchestration of phytohormone crosstalk. Trends in Plant Science **17**, 22–31.

Kazan K, Manners JM. 2013. MYC2: The Master in Action. Molecular Plant 6, 686–703.

Kim Y, Gilmour SJ, Chao L, Park S, Thomashow MF. 2020. Arabidopsis CAMTA Transcription Factors Regulate Pipecolic Acid Biosynthesis and Priming of Immunity Genes. Molecular Plant **13**.

Kinkema M, Fan W, Dong X. 2000. Nuclear localization of NPR1 is required for activation of PR gene expression. Plant Cell **12**, 2339–2350.

Komath SS, Kavitha M, Swamy MJ. 2006. Beyond carbohydrate binding: New directions in plant lectin research. Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry **4**, 973–988.

Koornneef A, Pieterse CMJ. 2008. Cross talk in defense signaling. Plant Physiology **146**, 839–844.

Krishnamurthy P, Vishal B, Ho WJ, Lok FCJ, Lee FSM, Kumar PP. 2020. Regulation of a cytochrome P450 gene CYP94B1 by WRKY33 transcription factor controls apoplastic barrier formation in roots to confer salt tolerance. Plant Physiology, pp.01054.2020.

Kuai X, MacLeod BJ, Després C. 2015. Integrating data on the Arabidopsis NPR1/NPR3/NPR4 salicylic acid receptors; a differentiating argument. Frontiers in Plant Science **6**, 1–5.

Kumar D, Klessig DF. 2003. High-affinity salicylic acid-binding protein 2 is required for plant innate immunity and has salicylic acid-stimulated lipase activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **100**, 16101–16106.

Kusajima M, Okumura Y, Fujita M, Nakashita H. 2017. Abscisic acid modulates salicylic acid biosynthesis for systemic acquired resistance in tomato. Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry **81**, 1850–1853.

Landgraf P, Feussner I, Hunger A, Scheel D, Rosahl S. 2002. Systemic accumulation of

12-oxo-phytodienoic acid in SAR-induced potato plants. European Journal of Plant Pathology **108**, 279–283.

Lemarié S, Robert-Seilaniantz A, Lariagon C, Lemoine J, Marnet N, Jubault M, Manzanares-Dauleux MJ, Gravot A. 2015. Both the Jasmonic Acid and the Salicylic Acid Pathways Contribute to Resistance to the Biotrophic Clubroot Agent Plasmodiophora brassicae in Arabidopsis. Plant and Cell Physiology **56**, 2158–2168.

Lenk M, Wenig M, Bauer K, Hug F, Knappe C, Lange B, Timsy, Häußler F, Mengel F, Dey S, Schäffner A, Vlot AC. 2019. Pipecolic acid is induced in barley upon infection and triggers immune responses associated with elevated nitric oxide accumulation. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions **32**, 1303–1313.

Leon-Reyes A, Spoel SH, De Lange ES, Abe H, Kobayashi M, Tsuda S, Millenaar FF, Welschen RAM, Ritsema T, Pieterse CMJ. 2009. Ethylene Modulates the Role of NONEXPRESSOR OF PATHOGENESIS-RELATED GENES1 in Cross Talk between Salicylate and Jasmonate Signaling. Plant Physiology **149**, 1797–1809.

Lewis DH. 1973. Concepts in fungal nutrition and the origin of biotrophy. Biological Reviews **48**, 261–277.

Li X, Clarke JD, Zhang Y, Dong X. 2001. Activation of an EDS1-mediated R-gene pathway in the snc1 mutant leads to constitutive, NPR1-independent pathogen resistance. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions **14**, 1131–1139.

Lim GH, Liu H, Yu K, Liu R, Shine MB, Fernandez J, Burch-Smith T, Mobley JK, McLetchie N, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2020. The plant cuticle regulates apoplastic transport of salicylic acid during systemic acquired resistance. Science Advances **6**.

Lim GH, Shine MB, De Lorenzo L, Yu K, Cui W, Navarre D, Hunt AG, Lee JY, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2016. Plasmodesmata Localizing Proteins Regulate Transport and Signaling during Systemic Acquired Immunity in Plants. Cell Host and Microbe **19**, 541–549.

Liu PP, von Dahl CC, Klessig DF. 2011. The extent to which methyl salicylate is required for signaling systemic acquired resistance is dependent on exposure to light after infection. Plant Physiology **157**, 2216–2226.

Liu Y, Du M, Deng L, Shen J, Fang M, Chen Q, Lu Y, Wang Q, Li C, Zhai Q. 2019. Myc2 regulates the termination of jasmonate signaling via an autoregulatory negative feedback loop[open]. Plant Cell **31**, 106–127.

Liu S, Kracher B, Ziegler J, Birkenbihl RP, Somssich IE. 2015. Negative regulation of ABA Signaling By WRKY33 is critical for Arabidopsis immunity towards Botrytis cinerea 2100. eLife **4**.

Liu L, Sonbol FM, Huot B, Gu Y, Withers J, Mwimba M, Yao J, He SY, Dong X. 2016. Salicylic acid receptors activate jasmonic acid signalling through a non-canonical pathway to promote effector-triggered immunity. Nature Communications **7**.

Van Loon LC. 1997. Induced resistance in plants and the role of pathogenesis-related proteins. European Journal of Plant Pathology **103**, 753–765.

Lorenzo O, Chico JM, Sánchez-Serrano JJ, Solano R. 2004. JASMONATE-INSENSITIVE1 encodes a MYC transcription factor essential to discriminate between different jasmonate-regulated defense responses in arabidopsis. Plant Cell **16**, 1938–1950.

Lorenzo O, Piqueras R, Sánchez-Serrano JJ, Solano R. 2003. ETHYLENE RESPONSE

FACTOR1 integrates signals from ethylene and jasmonate pathways in plant defense. Plant Cell **15**, 165–178.

Luna E, Bruce TJA, Roberts MR, Flors V, Ton J. 2012. Next-Generation Systemic Acquired Resistance. Plant Physiology **158**, 844–853.

Lyou SH, Park HJ, Jung C, Sohn HB, Lee G, Kim CH, Kim M, Choi Y Do, Cheong J-J. 2009. The Arabidopsis AtLEC gene encoding a lectin-like protein is up-regulated by multiple stimuli including developmental signal, wounding, jasmonate, ethylene, and chitin elicitor. Molecules and Cells **27**, 75–81.

Ma Y, Szostkiewicz I, Korte A, Moes D, Yang Y, Christmann A, Grill E. 2009. Regulators of PP2C phosphatase activity function as abscisic acid sensors. Science **324**, 1064–1068.

Maier F, Zwicker S, Hückelhoven A, Meissner M, Funk J, Pfitzner AJP, Pfitzner UM. 2011. Nonexpressor Of Pathogenesis-Related Proteins1 (NPR1) and some NPR1-related proteins are sensitive to salicylic acid. Molecular Plant Pathology **12**, 73–91.

Malamy J, Carr JP, Klessig DF, Raskin I. 1990. Salicylic acid: A likely endogenous signal in the resistance response of tobacco to viral infection. Science **250**, 1002–1004.

Maldonado AM, Doerner P, Dixon RA, Lamb CJ, Cameron RK. 2002. A putative lipid transfer protein involved in systemic resistance signalling in Arabidopsis. Nature **419**, 399–403.

Manohar M, Tian M, Moreau M, Park S-W, Choi HW, Fei Z, Friso G, Asif M, Manosalva P, von Dahl CC, Shi K, Ma S, Dinesh-Kumar SP, O'Doherty I, Schroeder FC, van Wijk KJ, Klessig DF. 2015. Identification of multiple salicylic acid-binding proteins using two high throughput screens. Frontiers in Plant Science **5**, 777.

Mao G, Meng X, Liu Y, Zheng Z, Chen Z, Zhang S. 2011. Phosphorylation of a WRKY transcription factor by two pathogen-responsive MAPKs drives phytoalexin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **23**, 1639–1653.

Martin F, Kohler A, Murat C, Veneault-Fourrey C, Hibbett DS. 2016. Unearthing the roots of ectomycorrhizal symbioses. Nature Reviews Microbiology **14**, 760–773.

Melotto M, Underwood W, Koczan J, Nomura K, He SY. 2006. Plant Stomata Function in Innate Immunity against Bacterial Invasion. Cell **126**, 969–980.

Mengiste T. 2012. Plant Immunity to Necrotrophs. Annual Review of Phytopathology **50**, 267–294.

Mesterházy Á, Oláh J, Popp J. 2020. Losses in the Grain Supply Chain: Causes and Solutions. Sustainability **12**, 2342.

Métraux JP, Signer H, Ryals J, Ward E, Wyss-Benz M, Gaudin J, Raschdorf K, Schmid E, Blum W, Inverardi B. 1990. Increase in salicylic acid at the onset of systemic acquired resistance in cucumber. Science **250**, 1004–1006.

Miller G, Suzuki N, Ciftci-Yilmaz S, Mittler R. 2010. Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signalling during drought and salinity stresses. Plant, Cell and Environment **33**, 453–467.

Mishina TE, Zeier J. 2006. The Arabidopsis Flavin-Dependent Monooxygenase FMO1 Is an Essential Component of Biologically Induced Systemic Acquired Resistance. PLANT PHYSIOLOGY **141**, 1666–1675.

Mishra A, Behura A, Mawatwal S, Kumar A, Naik L, Mohanty SS, Manna D, Dokania P, Mishra A, Patra SK, Dhiman R. 2019. Structure-function and application of plant lectins in disease biology and immunity. Food and Chemical Toxicology **134**, 110827.

Miya A, Albert P, Shinya T, Desaki Y, Ichimura K, Shirasu K, Narusaka Y, Kawakami N, Kaku H, Shibuya N. 2007. CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **104**, 19613–19618.

Moeder W, Ung H, Mosher S, Yoshioka K. 2010. SA-ABA antagonism in defense responses. Plant signaling and behavior **5**, 1231–1233.

Moore D, Robson GD, Trinci APJ. 2020. 14.10 Necrotrophic and biotrophic pathogens of plants. 21st Century Guidebook to Fungi.

Mou Z, Fan W, Dong X. 2003. Inducers of plant systemic acquired resistance Regulate NPR1 function through redox changes. Cell **113**, 935–944.

Müller J, Johnsson N. 2008. Split-Ubiquitin and the Split-Protein Sensors: Chessman for the Endgame. ChemBioChem **9**, 2029–2038.

Munemasa S, Oda K, Watanabe-Sugimoto M, Nakamura Y, Shimoishi Y, Murata Y. 2007. The coronatine-insensitive 1 mutation reveals the hormonal signaling interaction between abscisic acid and methyl jasmonate in Arabidopsis guard cells. Specific impairment of ion channel activation and second messenger production. Plant Physiology **143**, 1398–1407.

Mur LAJ, Kenton P, Atzorn R, Miersch O, Wasternack C. 2005. The Outcomes of Concentration-Specific Interactions between Salicylate and Jasmonate Signaling Include Synergy, Antagonism, and Oxidative Stress Leading to Cell Death. PLANT PHYSIOLOGY **140**, 249–262.

Návarová H, Bernsdorff F, Döring A-C, Zeier J. 2012. Pipecolic acid, an endogenous mediator of defense amplification and priming, is a critical regulator of inducible plant immunity. The Plant cell **24**, 5123–41.

Nawrath C, Heck S, Parinthawong N, Métraux JP. 2002. EDS5, an essential component of salicylic acid-dependent signaling for disease resistance in arabidopsis, is a member of the MATE transporter family. Plant Cell **14**, 275–286.

Nishimura N, Sarkeshik A, Nito K, Park S-Y, Wang A, Carvalho PC, Lee S, Caddell DF, Cutler SR, Chory J, Yates JR, Schroeder JI. 2009. PYR/PYL/RCAR family members are major in-vivo ABI1 protein phosphatase 2C-interacting proteins in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal **61**, 290–299.

Pabst E. 2018. Arabidopsis thaliana legume lectin-like lectins at the interface between systemic acquired resistance and abiotic stress responses.

Pandey GK, Grant JJ, Cheong YH, Kim BG, Li L, Luan S. 2005. ABR1, an APETALA2domain transcription factor that functions as a repressor of ABA response in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology **139**, 1185–1193.

Park S-W, Kaimoyo E, Kumar D, Mosher S, Klessig DF. 2007. Methyl salicylate is a critical mobile signal for plant systemic acquired resistance. Science (New York, N.Y.) **318**, 113–6.

Parker JE, Holub EB, Frost LN, Falk A, Gunn ND, Daniels MJ. 1996. Characterization of eds1, a mutation in Arabidopsis suppressing resistance to Peronospora parasitica specified by

several different RPP genes. Plant Cell 8, 2033–2046.

Pauwels L, Goossens A. 2011. The JAZ proteins: A crucial interface in the jasmonate signaling cascade. Plant Cell **23**, 3089–3100.

Pedranzani H, Racagni G, Alemano S, Miersch O, Ramírez I, Peña-Cortés H, Taleisnik E, Machado-Domenech E, Abdala G. 2003. Salt tolerant tomato plants show increased levels of jasmonic acid. Plant Growth Regulation **41**, 149–158.

Peethambaran PK, Glenz R, Höninger S, Shahinul Islam SM, Hummel S, Harter K, Kolukisaoglu U, Meynard D, Guiderdoni E, Nick P, Riemann M. 2018. Salt-inducible expression of OsJAZ8 improves resilience against salt-stress. BMC Plant Biology **18**, 1–15.

Peng Y, Van Wersch R, Zhang Y. 2018. Convergent and Divergent Signaling in PAMP-Triggered Immunity and Effector-Triggered Immunity. **31**, 403–409.

Petersen M, Brodersen P, Naested H, Andreasson E, Lindhart U, Johansen B, Nielsen HB, Lacy M, Austin MJ, Parker JE, Sharma SB, Klessig DF, Martienssen R, Mattsson O, Jensen AB, Mundy J. 2000. Arabidopsis MAP Kinase 4 Negatively Regulates Systemic Acquired Resistance. Cell **103**, 1111–1120.

Petersen K, Fiil BK, Mundy J, Petersen M. 2008. Downstream targets of WRKY33. Plant Signaling and Behavior **3**, 1033–1034.

Pieterse CMJ, Van der Does D, Zamioudis C, Leon-Reyes A, Van Wees SCM. 2012. Hormonal Modulation of Plant Immunity. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology **28**, 489–521.

Pieterse CMJ, Van Wees SCM, Van Pelt JA, Knoester M, Laan R, Gerrits H, Weisbeek PJ, Van Loon LC. 1998. A novel signaling pathway controlling induced systemic resistance in arabidopsis. Plant Cell **10**, 1571–1580.

Pitzschke A, Datta S, Persak H. 2014. Salt Stress in arabidopsis: Lipid transfer protein AZI1 and its control by mitogen-activated protein Kinase MPK3. Molecular Plant **7**, 722–738.

Pitzschke A, Schikora A, Hirt H. 2009. MAPK cascade signalling networks in plant defence. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **12**, 421–426.

Pozo MJ, Van Der Ent S, Van Loon LC, Pieterse CMJ. 2008. Transcription factor MYC2 is involved in priming for enhanced defense during rhizobacteria-induced systemic resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana. New Phytologist **180**, 511–523.

Pye MF, Dye SM, Resende RS, MacDonald JD, Bostock RM. 2018. Abscisic Acid as a Dominant Signal in Tomato During Salt Stress Predisposition to Phytophthora Root and Crown Rot. Frontiers in Plant Science **9**, 525.

Pye MF, Hakuno F, MacDonald JD, Bostock RM. 2013. Induced resistance in tomato by SAR activators during predisposing salinity stress. Frontiers in Plant Science **4**.

Qiu JL, Fiil BK, Petersen K, Nielsen HB, Botanga CJ, Thorgrimsen S, Palma K, Suarez-Rodriguez MC, Sandbech-Clausen S, Lichota J, Brodersen P, Grasser KD, Mattsson O, Glazebrook J, Mundy J, Petersen M. 2008. Arabidopsis MAP kinase 4 regulates gene expression through transcription factor release in the nucleus. EMBO Journal **27**, 2214–2221.

Qiu ZB, Guo JL, Zhu AJ, Zhang L, Zhang MM. 2014. Exogenous jasmonic acid can enhance tolerance of wheat seedlings to salt stress. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety **104**, 202–208.

Radojičić A, Li X, Zhang Y. 2018. Salicylic acid: A double-edged sword for programed cell death in plants. Frontiers in Plant Science **9**.

Ramonell K, Berrocal-Lobo M, Koh S, Wan J, Edwards H, Stacey G, Somerville S. 2005. Loss-of-function mutations in chitin responsive genes show increased susceptibility to the powdery mildew pathogen Erysiphe cichoracearum. Plant physiology **138**, 1027–36.

Ranf S, Gisch N, Schäffer M, Illig T, Westphal L, Knirel YA, Sánchez-Carballo PM, Zähringer U, Hückelhoven R, Lee J, Scheel D. 2015. A lectin S-domain receptor kinase mediates lipopolysaccharide sensing in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature Immunology **16**, 426–433.

Rate DN, Greenberg JT. 2001. The Arabidopsis aberrant growth and death2 mutant shows resistance to Pseudomonas syringae and reveals a role for NPR1 in suppressing hypersensitive cell death. Plant Journal **27**, 203–211.

RiedImeier M, Ghirardo A, Wenig M, Knappe C, Koch K, Georgii E, Dey S, Parker JE, Schnitzler J-P, Vlot AC. 2017. Monoterpenes Support Systemic Acquired Resistance Within and Between Plants. Plant Cell Advance Publication. Published on.

Riemann M, Dhakarey R, Hazman M, Miro B, Kohli A, Nick P. 2015. Exploring Jasmonates in the Hormonal Network of Drought and Salinity Responses. Frontiers in Plant Science **6**, 1077.

Rietz S, Stamm A, Malonek S, Wagner S, Becker D, Medina-Escobar N, Corina Vlot A, Feys BJ, Niefind K, Parker JE. 2011. Different roles of Enhanced Disease Susceptibility1 (EDS1) bound to and dissociated from Phytoalexin Deficient4 (PAD4) in Arabidopsis immunity. New Phytologist **191**, 107–119.

Robert-Seilaniantz A, Grant M, Jones JDG. 2011. Hormone Crosstalk in Plant Disease and Defense: More Than Just JASMONATE-SALICYLATE Antagonism. **16**, 22.

Ruan J, Zhou Y, Zhou M, Yan J, Khurshid M, Weng W, Cheng J, Zhang K. 2019. Jasmonic acid signaling pathway in plants. International Journal of Molecular Sciences **20**.

Sales JH, Pabst E, Wenig M, Breitenbach HH, Perez G, Knappe C, Hammerl R, Liu J, Rozhon W, Poppenberger B, Grill E, Dawid C, Vlot AC. Local jasmonic acid cues drive systemic acquired resistance signal generation.

Sánchez-Romera B, Ruiz-Lozano JM, Li G, Luu DT, Martínez-Ballesta MDC, Carvajal M, Zamarreño AM, García-Mina JM, Maurel C, Aroca R. 2014. Enhancement of root hydraulic conductivity by methyl jasmonate and the role of calcium and abscisic acid in this process. Plant, Cell and Environment **37**, 995–1008.

Sánchez-Vallet A, López G, Ramos B, Delgado-Cerezo M, Riviere MP, Llorente F, Fernández PV, Miedes E, Estevez JM, Grant M, Molina A. 2012. Disruption of abscisic acid signaling constitutively activates Arabidopsis resistance to the necrotrophic fungus Plectosphaerella cucumerina. Plant Physiology **160**, 2109–2124.

Sandoval PJ, Santiago J. 2020. In vitro analytical approaches to study plant ligand-receptor Interactions1. Plant Physiology **182**, 1697–1712.

Scala A, Allmann S, Mirabella R, Haring MA, Schuurink RC. 2013. Green leaf volatiles: A plant's multifunctional weapon against herbivores and pathogens. International Journal of Molecular Sciences **14**, 17781–17811.

Schmid C, Steinbrecher R, Ziegler H. 1992. Partition coefficients of plant cuticles for

monoterpenes. Trees 6, 32-36.

Schopfer P, Bajracharya D, Plachy C. 1979. Control of Seed Germination by Abscisic Acid. Plant Physiology **64**, 822–827.

Sheard LB, Tan X, Mao H, Withers J, Ben-Nissan G, Hinds TR, Kobayashi Y, Hsu FF, Sharon M, Browse J, He SY, Rizo J, Howe GA, Zheng N. 2010. Jasmonate perception by inositol-phosphate-potentiated COI1-JAZ co-receptor. Nature **468**, 400–407.

Shi Z, Maximova S, Liu Y, Verica J, Guiltinan MJ. 2013. The salicylic acid receptor NPR3 is a negative regulator of the transcriptional defense response during early flower development in Arabidopsis. Molecular Plant **6**, 802–816.

Simler AB, Williamson MA, Schwartz MW, Rizzo DM. 2019. Amplifying plant disease risk through assisted migration. Conservation Letters **12**, e12605.

Singh P, Chien C-C, Mishra S, Tsai C-H, Zimmerli L. 2013. The Arabidopsis LECTIN RECEPTOR KINASE-VI.2 is a functional protein kinase and is dispensable for basal resistance to *Botrytis cinerea*. Plant Signaling & Behavior **8**, e22611.

Singh P, Zimmerli L. 2013. Lectin receptor kinases in plant innate immunity. Frontiers in Plant Science **4**.

Solano R, Stepanova A, Chao Q, Ecker JR. 1998. Nuclear events in ethylene signaling: A transcriptional cascade mediated by ETHYLENE-INSENSITIVE3 and ETHYLENE-RESPONSE-FACTOR1. Genes and Development **12**, 3703–3714.

Song S, Huang H, Gao H, Wang J, Wu D, Liu X, Yang S, Zhai Q, Li C, Qi T, Xie D. 2014. Interaction between MYC2 and ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE3 modulates antagonism between jasmonate and ethylene signaling in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **26**, 263–279.

de Souza EM, Granada CE, Sperotto RA. 2016. Plant Pathogens Affecting the Establishment of Plant-Symbiont Interaction. Frontiers in Plant Science **7**, 15.

Spanu PD, Panstruga R. 2017. Editorial: Biotrophic Plant-Microbe Interactions. Frontiers in Plant Science **8**, 192.

Spoel SH, Dong X. 2008. Making Sense of Hormone Crosstalk during Plant Immune Responses. Cell Host and Microbe **3**, 348–351.

Spoel SH, Dong X. 2012. How do plants achieve immunity? Defence without specialized immune cells. Nature Reviews Immunology **12**, 89–100.

Spoel SH, Johnson JS, Dong X. 2007. Regulation of tradeoffs between plant defenses against pathogens with different lifestyles. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **104**, 18842–7.

Spoel SH, Koornneef A, Claessens SMC, Korzelius JP, Van Pelt JA, Mueller MJ, Buchala AJ, Métraux JP, Brown R, Kazan K, Van Loon LC, Dong X, Pieterse CMJ. 2003. NPR1 modulates cross-talk between salicylate- and jasmonate-dependent defense pathways through a novel function in the cytosol. Plant Cell **15**, 760–770.

Staswick PE, Su W, Howell SH. 1992. Methyl jasmonate inhibition of root growth and induction of a leaf protein are decreased in an Arabidopsis thaliana mutant. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **89**, 6837–40.

Storkey J, Bruce TJA, McMillan VE, Neve P. 2018. The future of sustainable crop protection

relies on increased diversity of cropping systems and landscapes. Agroecosystem Diversity: Reconciling Contemporary Agriculture and Environmental Quality. Elsevier, 199–209.

Straus MR, Rietz S, Ver Loren van Themaat E, Bartsch M, Parker JE. 2010. Salicylic acid antagonism of EDS1-driven cell death is important for immune and oxidative stress responses in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal **62**, 628–640.

Strompen G, Grüner R, Pfitzner UM. 1998. An as-1-like motif controls the level of expression of the gene for the pathogenesis-related protein 1a from tobacco. Plant Molecular Biology **37**, 871–883.

Sun T, Huang J, Xu Y, Verma V, Jing , Sun Y, Ruiz Orduna A, Tian H, Huang X, Xia S, Schafer L, Jetter R, Zhang Y, Li X. 2020. Redundant CAMTA Transcription Factors Negatively Regulate the Biosynthesis of Salicylic Acid and N-Hydroxypipecolic Acid by Modulating the Expression of SARD1 and CBP60g. Molecular Plant **13**.

Sun T, Li Y, Zhang Q, Ding Y, Zhang Y, Zhang Y. 2015. ChIP-seq reveals broad roles of SARD1 and CBP60g in regulating plant immunity. Nature Communications **6**.

Taji T, Seki M, Satou M, Sakurai T, Kobayashi M, Ishiyama K, Narusaka Y, Narusaka M, Zhu JK, Shinozaki K. 2004. Comparative genomics in salt tolerance between arabidopsis and arabidopsis-related halophyte salt cress using arabidopsis microarray. Plant Physiology **135**, 1697–1709.

Takahashi F, Kuromori T, Urano K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 2020. Drought Stress Responses and Resistance in Plants: From Cellular Responses to Long-Distance Intercellular Communication. Frontiers in Plant Science **11**, 1407.

Takaoka Y, Iwahashi M, Chini A, Saito H, Ishimaru Y, Egoshi S, Kato N, Tanaka M, Bashir K, Seki M, Solano R, Ueda M. 2018. A rationally designed JAZ subtype-selective agonist of jasmonate perception. Nature Communications **9**, 1–13.

Tan L, Liu Q, Song Y, Zhou G, Luan L, Weng Q, He C. 2019. Differential function of endogenous and exogenous abscisic acid during bacterial pattern-induced production of reactive oxygen species in arabidopsis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences **20**.

Taniguchi S, Hosokawa-Shinonaga Y, Tamaoki D, Yamada S, Akimitsu K, Gomi K. 2014. Jasmonate induction of the monoterpene linalool confers resistance to rice bacterial blight and its biosynthesis is regulated by JAZ protein in rice. Plant, Cell and Environment **37**, 451–461.

Thatcher LF, Anderson JP, Singh KB. 2005. Plant defence responses: What have we learnt from Arabidopsis? Functional Plant Biology **32**, 1–19.

Thines B, Katsir L, Melotto M, Niu Y, Mandaokar A, Liu G, Nomura K, He SY, Howe GA, Browse J. 2007. JAZ repressor proteins are targets of the SCFCOI1 complex during jasmonate signalling. Nature **448**, 661–665.

Thorpe MR, Ferrieri AP, Herth MM, Ferrieri RA. 2007. 11C-imaging: methyl jasmonate moves in both phloem and xylem, promotes transport of jasmonate, and of photoassimilate even after proton transport is decoupled. Planta **226**, 541–551.

Thrower LB. 1966. Terminology for Plant Parasites. Journal of Phytopathology 56, 258–259.

de Torres-Zabala M, Truman W, Bennett MH, Lafforgue G, Mansfield JW, Rodriguez Egea P, Bögre L, Grant M. 2007. Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato hijacks the Arabidopsis abscisic acid signalling pathway to cause disease. The EMBO Journal **26**, 1434–1443. **de Torres Zabala M, Bennett MH, Truman WH, Grant MR**. 2009. Antagonism between salicylic and abscisic acid reflects early host-pathogen conflict and moulds plant defence responses. The Plant Journal **59**, 375–386.

Toum L, Torres PS, Gallego SM, Benavídes MP, Vojnov AA, Gudesblat GE. 2016. Coronatine inhibits stomatal closure through guard cell-specific inhibition of NADPH oxidasedependent ROS production. Frontiers in Plant Science **7**.

Truman W, Bennett MH, Kubigsteltig I, Turnbull C, Grant M. 2007. Arabidopsis systemic immunity uses conserved defense signaling pathways and is mediated by jasmonates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **104**, 1075–1080.

Tsuda K, Mine A, Bethke G, Igarashi D, Botanga CJ, Tsuda Y, Glazebrook J, Sato M, Katagiri F. 2013. Dual Regulation of Gene Expression Mediated by Extended MAPK Activation and Salicylic Acid Contributes to Robust Innate Immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS Genetics **9**.

Uppalapati SR, Ishiga Y, Wangdi T, Kunkel BN, Anand A, Mysore KS, Bender CL. 2007. The Phytotoxin Coronatine Contributes to Pathogen Fitness and Is Required for Suppression of Salicylic Acid Accumulation in Tomato Inoculated with *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions **20**, 955–965.

Valenzuela CE, Acevedo-Acevedo O, Miranda GS, Vergara-Barros P, Holuigue L, Figueroa CR, Figueroa PM. 2016. Salt stress response triggers activation of the jasmonate signaling pathway leading to inhibition of cell elongation in Arabidopsis primary root. Journal of Experimental Botany **67**, 4209–4220.

Velásquez AC, Castroverde CDM, He SY. 2018. Plant–Pathogen Warfare under Changing Climate Conditions. Current Biology **28**, R619–R634.

Venugopal SC, Jeong R-D, Mandal MK, Zhu S, Chandra-Shekara AC, Xia, Y, Hersh M, Stromberg AJ, Navarre D, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2009. Enhanced Disease Susceptibility 1 and Salicylic Acid Act Redundantly to Regulate Resistance Gene-Mediated Signaling (GP Copenhaver, Ed.). PLoS Genetics 5, e1000545.

Verma D, Jalmi SK, Bhagat PK, Verma N, Sinha AK. 2020. A bHLH transcription factor, MYC2, imparts salt intolerance by regulating proline biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. The FEBS Journal **287**, 2560–2576.

Vernooij B, Friedrich L, Morse A, Reist R, Kolditz-Jawhar R, Ward E, Uknes S, Kessmann H, Ryals J. 1994. Salicylic acid is not the translocated signal responsible for inducing systemic acquired resistance but is required in signal transduction. Plant Cell **6**, 959–965.

Vishwakarma K, Upadhyay N, Kumar N, Yadav G, Singh J, Mishra RK, Kumar V, Verma R, Upadhyay RG, Pandey M, Sharma S. 2017. Abscisic acid signaling and abiotic stress tolerance in plants: A review on current knowledge and future prospects. Frontiers in Plant Science 8, 1–12.

Vlot AC, Dempsey DA, Klessig DF. 2009. Salicylic Acid, a Multifaceted Hormone to Combat Disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology **47**, 177–206.

Vlot AC, Klessig DF, Park SW. 2008. Systemic acquired resistance: the elusive signal(s). Current Opinion in Plant Biology **11**, 436–442.

Vlot AC, Pabst E, Riedlmeier M. 2017. Systemic Signalling in Plant Defence. eLS, 1–9.

Vlot AC, Sales JH, Lenk M, Bauer K, Brambilla A, Sommer A, Chen Y, Wenig M, Nayem S. 2020. Systemic propagation of immunity in plants. New Phytologist, nph.16953.

Wagner S, Stuttmann J, Rietz S, Guerois R, Brunstein E, Bautor J, Niefind K, Parker JE. 2013. Structural basis for signaling by exclusive EDS1 heteromeric complexes with SAG101 or PAD4 in plant innate immunity. Cell Host and Microbe **14**, 619–630.

Wang C, El-Shetehy M, Shine MB, Yu K, Navarre D, Wendehenne D, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2014. Free Radicals Mediate Systemic Acquired Resistance. CellReports **7**, 348–355.

Wang G, Ellendorff U, Kemp B, Mansfield JW, Forsyth A, Mitchell K, Bastas K, Liu CM, Woods-Tör A, Zipfel C, De Wit PJGM, Jones JDG, Tör M, Thomma BPHJ. 2008. A genome-wide functional investigation into the roles of receptor-like proteins in arabidopsis. Plant Physiology **147**, 503–517.

Wang YH, Irving HR. 2011. Developing a model of plant hormone interactions. Plant Signaling & Behavior **6**, 494–500.

Wang C, Liu R, Lim G-H, de Lorenzo L, Yu K, Zhang K, Hunt AG, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2018*a*. Pipecolic acid confers systemic immunity by regulating free radicals. Science Advances **4**, eaar4509.

Wang Y, Schuck S, Wu J, Yang P, Doering A-C, Zeier J, Tsuda K. 2018*b*. A MPK3/6-WRKY33-ALD1-Pipecolic acid Regulatory Loop Contributes to Systemic Acquired Resistance. The Plant Cell, tpc.00547.2018.

Waskiewicz A, Beszterda M, Golinski P. 2014. ABA: Role in Plant Signaling Under Salt Stress. Salt Stress in Plants: Signalling, Omics and Adaptations.175–196.

Van Wees SCM, Chang HS, Zhu T, Glazebrook J. 2003. Characterization of the early response of Arabidopsis to Alternaria brassicicola infection using expression profiling. Plant Physiology **132**, 606–617.

Van Wees SCM, Glazebrook J. 2003. Loss of non-host resistance of Arabidopsis NahG to Pseudomonas syringae pv. phaseolicola is due to degradation products of salicylic acid. Plant Journal **33**, 733–742.

Wendehenne D, Gao Q ming, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2014. Free radical-mediated systemic immunity in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **20**, 127–134.

Wenig M, Ghirardo A, Sales JH, Pabst E, Breitenbach HH, Antritter F, Weber B, Lange B, Lenk M, Cameron RK, Schnitzler JP, Vlot AC. 2019. Systemic acquired resistance networks amplify airborne defense cues. Nature Communications **10**.

Whalen MC, Innes RW, Bent AF, Staskawicz BJ. 1991. Identification of Pseudomonas syringae pathogens of Arabidopsis and a bacterial locus determining avirulence on both Arabidopsis and soybean. Plant Cell **3**, 49–59.

Wiermer M, Feys BJ, Parker JE. 2005. Plant immunity: the EDS1 regulatory node. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **8**, 383–389.

Wildermuth MC, Dewdney J, Wu G, Ausubel FM. 2001. Isochorismate synthase is required to synthesize salicylic acid for plant defence. Nature **414**, 562–565.

Wirthmueller L, Maqbool A, Banfield MJ. 2013. On the front line: Structural insights into plant-pathogen interactions. Nature Reviews Microbiology **11**, 761–776.

Wittek F, Hoffmann T, Kanawati B, Bichlmeier M, Knappe C, Wenig M, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Parker JE, Schwab W, Vlot AC. 2014. Arabidopsis ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1 promotes systemic acquired resistance via azelaic acid and its precursor 9-oxo nonanoic acid. Journal of Experimental Botany **65**, 5919–5931.

Wu H, Ye H, Yao R, Zhang T, Xiong L. 2015. OsJAZ9 acts as a transcriptional regulator in jasmonate signaling and modulates salt stress tolerance in rice. Plant Science **232**, 1–12.

Wu Y, Zhang D, Chu JY, Boyle P, Wang Y, Brindle ID, De Luca V, Després C. 2012. The Arabidopsis NPR1 Protein Is a Receptor for the Plant Defense Hormone Salicylic Acid. Cell Reports **1**, 639–647.

Xia Y, Gao QM, Yu K, Lapchyk L, Navarre DR, Hildebrand D, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2009. An Intact Cuticle in Distal Tissues Is Essential for the Induction of Systemic Acquired Resistance in Plants. Cell Host and Microbe **5**, 151–165.

Xin X-F, He SY. 2013. Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000: A Model Pathogen for Probing Disease Susceptibility and Hormone Signaling in Plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology **51**, 473–498.

Xing S, Wallmeroth N, Berendzen KW, Grefen C. 2016. Techniques for the analysis of protein-protein interactions in vivo. Plant Physiology **171**, 727–758.

Xiong L, Zhu JK. 2003. Regulation of abscisic acid biosynthesis. Plant Physiology **133**, 29–36.

Xu ZY, Zhang X, Schläppi M, Xu ZQ. 2011. Cold-inducible expression of AZI1 and its function in improvement of freezing tolerance of Arabidopsis thaliana and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Plant Physiology **168**, 1576–1587.

Yan Y, Stolz S, Chételat A, Reymond P, Pagni M, Dubugnon L, Farmer EE. 2007. A downstream mediator in the growth repression limb of the jasmonate pathway. Plant Cell **19**, 2470–2483.

Yasuda M, Ishikawa A, Jikumaru Y, Seki M, Umezawa T, Asami T, Maruyama-Nakashita A, Kudo T, Shinozaki K, Yoshida S, Nakashita H. 2008. Antagonistic Interaction between Systemic Acquired Resistance and the Abscisic Acid-Mediated Abiotic Stress Response in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell **20**, 1678–1692.

Yu X, Feng B, He P, Shan L. 2017. From Chaos to Harmony: Responses and Signaling upon Microbial Pattern Recognition. Annual Review of Phytopathology **55**, 109–137.

Yu GL, Katagiri F, Ausubel FM. 1993. Arabidopsis mutations at the RPS2 locus result in loss of resistance to Pseudomonas syringae strains expressing the avirulence gene avrRpt2. Molecular plant-microbe interactions : MPMI **6**, 434–443.

Yu K, Soares JM, Mandal MK, Wang C, Chanda B, Gifford AN, Fowler JS, Navarre D, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. 2013. A Feedback Regulatory Loop between G3P and Lipid Transfer Proteins DIR1 and AZI1 Mediates Azelaic-Acid-Induced Systemic Immunity. Cell Reports **3**, 1266–1278.

Zander M, Thurow C, Gatz C. 2014. TGA transcription factors activate the salicylic acidsuppressible branch of the ethylene-induced defense program by regulating ORA59 expression. Plant Physiology **165**, 1671–1683.

Zarei A, Körbes AP, Younessi P, Montiel G, Champion A, Memelink J. 2011. Two GCC boxes and AP2/ERF-domain transcription factor ORA59 in jasmonate/ethylene-mediated

activation of the PDF1.2 promoter in Arabidopsis. Plant Molecular Biology **75**, 321–331.

Zhai Q, Yan L, Tan D, Chen R, Sun J, Gao L, Dong M-Q, Wang Y, Li C. 2013. Phosphorylation-Coupled Proteolysis of the Transcription Factor MYC2 Is Important for Jasmonate-Signaled Plant Immunity (H Yu, Ed.). PLoS Genetics **9**, e1003422.

Zhang X, Chen S, Mou Z. 2010. Nuclear localization of NPR1 is required for regulation of salicylate tolerance, isochorismate synthase 1 expression and salicylate accumulation in Arabidopsis. Journal of Plant Physiology **167**, 144–148.

Zhang Y, Cheng YT, Qu N, Zhao Q, Bi D, Li X. 2006. Negative regulation of defense responses in Arabidopsis by two NPR1 paralogs. The Plant Journal **48**, 647–656.

Zhang X, Dodds PN, Bernoux M. 2017*a*. What Do We Know about NOD-Like Receptors in Plant Immunity? Annual Review of Phytopathology **55**, 205–229.

Zhang C, Li J, Guo X, Zhu B, Xiao W, Wang P, Jiang M, Hu S, Lu X, He Z, Chen P. 2017b. LecRK-VII.1, a Lectin Receptor-Like Kinase, Mediates the Regulation of Salt Stress and Jasmonic Acid Response in Arabidopsis. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation **36**, 385–401.

Zhang B, Ramonell K, Somerville S, Stacey G. 2002. Characterization of early, chitininduced gene expression in Arabidopsis. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions **15**, 963–970.

Zhang H, Zhang Q, Zhai H, Li Y, Wang X, Liu Q, He S. 2017*c*. Transcript profile analysis reveals important roles of jasmonic acid signalling pathway in the response of sweet potato to salt stress. Scientific Reports **7**.

Zhao Y, Thilmony R, Bender CL, Schaller A, He SY, Howe GA. 2003. Virulence systems of Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato promote bacterial speck disease in tomato by targeting the jasmonate signaling pathway. Plant Journal **36**, 485–499.

Zheng Z, Qamar SA, Chen Z, Mengiste T. 2006. Arabidopsis WRKY33 transcription factor is required for resistance to necrotrophic fungal pathogens. Plant Journal **48**, 592–605.

Zhou N, Tootle TL, Tsui F, Klessig DF, Glazebrook J. 1998. PAD4 Functions Upstream from Salicylic Acid to Control Defense Responses in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell **10**, 1021.

Zhou JM, Trifa Y, Silva H, Pontier D, Lam E, Shah J, Klessig DF. 2000. NPR1 differentially interacts with members of the TGA/OBF family of transcription factors that bind an element of the PR-1 gene required for induction by salicylic acid. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions **13**, 191–202.

Zhou M, Wang W, Karapetyan S, Mwimba M, Marqués J, Buchler NE, Dong X. 2015*a*. Redox rhythm reinforces the circadian clock to gate immune response. Nature **523**, 472–476.

Zhou J, Wang J, Zheng Z, Fan B, Yu JQ, Chen Z. 2015*b*. Characterization of the promoter and extended C-terminal domain of Arabidopsis WRKY33 and functional analysis of tomato WRKY33 homologues in plant stress responses. Journal of Experimental Botany **66**, 4567–4583.

Zhu J-K. 2002. Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology **53**, 247–273.

Zhu F, Xi D-H, Yuan S, Xu F, Zhang D-W, Lin H-H. 2014. Salicylic Acid and Jasmonic Acid Are Essential for Systemic Resistance Against Tobacco mosaic virus in Nicotiana benthamiana. / 567 MPMI **27**, 567–577.

Zipfel C. 2009. Early molecular events in PAMP-triggered immunity. Current Opinion in Plant

Biology 12, 414-420.

Zipfel C, Robatzek S. 2010. Pathogen-associated molecular pattern-triggered immunity: Veni, vidi...? Plant Physiology **154**, 551–554.

Acknowledgements

The person I would like to thank first and foremost is to my supervisor Dr. Corina Vlot. It goes without saying, that none of this would have been possible without her. I will be forever grateful that she took the risk in hiring someone from a different field and gave me the opportunity to work on such a fascinating subject, which she pioneered. Not only has she created a group with wonderful projects and working atmosphere, but also one that allows the students to push their scientific boundaries. She has helped me to develop academically and intellectually, as well as having always shown patience, wisdom and supportiveness that allowed me growth of character. I cannot imagine having undergone this journey with a different supervisor. On a personal level, I am also very grateful to have such a strong female scientist as a role model, and hope that many more PhD students will have the same fortune as I did, to be able to work in her lab.

I would also like to thank Professor Jörg Durner for his advice and mentorship, and for the chance to work in the institute he has help consolidate throughout many years. I have always felt lucky to belong somewhere with an atmosphere so pleasant and conducive to scientific progress. His guidance as my Doktorvater has been invaluable whilst progressing with my research.

For such advice I would also like to extend my gratitude to Professor Pascal Falter-Braun. His insightful comments and questions during my thesis committee meetings were definitely key in keeping me on the straight and narrow.

Additionally, I would like to thank Professor Corinna Dawid for acting as the chair of my defence, and for the help provided by her group, especially Dr. Richard Hammerl, who assisted me with the phytohormone measurements in salt stress plants with LC-MS.

Last but not least, I would like to thank Professor Brigitte Poppenberger for acting as my second examiner, and for the help given to me by her group, especially Dr. Wilfried Rozhon, for their help with phytohormone measurements in seedlings.

To Marion Wenig and Claudia Knappe, I would like to show my most sincere appreciation. Marion, your ability as a scientist and general, green-thumbed ingenuity

continue to amaze me alongside everyone else. Thank you so much for your help with the SAR experiments, as well as everything else in the lab. Claudia, your knowledge of qPCRs helped me enormously. Without you both showing me such patience and generosity of spirit I don't know where I should be.

Thank you to my former masters student, Gerardo Perez, and his work on the salt tolerance experiments. I think it was as much of a learning experience for me as it was for him.

The duration of my PhD was improved infinitely by my wonderful colleagues. Dr. Miriam Lenk, thank you so much for your help with not just lab work, but also the proofreading and translating, and your excellent eye for details. Kornelia Bauer, thank you for being my conference-travelling buddy, and for the long discussions about LLP1. Dr. Inonge Gross, thank you for both your academic knowledge, and for helping me stay grounded. Yuanyuan Chen, Alessandro Brambilla, and Anna Sommer, thank you all for your camaraderie and for the lunchtime company.

Outside of the lab, I am of course greatly indebted to my family and friends. Ejona Rusha and Polyxeni Nteli, you have both had to put up with a lot from me, and I don't think I can fully express how much your friendship has meant. Thank you for putting up with the (seemingly) bi-weekly meltdowns, letting me practice presentations with you, reading my work, listening to my rants when experiments didn't work or for a host of other reasons, and always being ready to keep me company. I'd also like to thank Stefan Spirkl for helping me with translations and letting me expound on all my new theories.

Catherine, Jerry and Claire, you guys have been not just my family but my support system in Germany. Catherine, I can definitely say that without you I would never have reached this point in my life. Your sheer determination in the face of all obstacles is a huge inspiration to me.

To my parents, I know when you said you wanted a doctor in the family, this wasn't exactly what you had in mind. But it's better this way. People would have died. In all seriousness, there is no one else who could have fully instilled in me such a deep appreciation of learning and love of nature. If it had not been for you calling me every hour to help me keep on track while writing, I would never have finished. Also, to my sisters, for always making me laugh. The only way all this could have been better would have been if I could have spent more time with you. I could not have done it without you.